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ORIGIN AND SCOPE OF THE COMMISSION 

Despite the range and impact of the Commission's 
achieve'ments, inq-uiries continue to be made about 
its jurisdiction, the way it lunctions and its impor­
tance to a better New Jersey. The Commission 
believes this important information sho71ld be con­
veniently available. Accordingly, the pertinent facts 

are summarized below. 

The New Jersey State Commission of Investigation (S.C,I.) was 
an outgrowth of extensive research and public hearings conducted 
in 1968 by the Joint Legislative Committee to Study Crime and 
the System of Criminal Justice in New Jersey. That Committee 
was under direction from the Legislature to find ways to correct 
what was a serious and intensifying crime problem in New Jersey. 

Inde-ed, by the late 1960s New Jersey had the unattractive image 
of being a corrupt haven for flourishing organized crime opera­
tions. William F. Hyland, who was Attorney General from 1974-
1978 for the State of New Jersey, vividly recalled that unfortunate 
era in testimony before the Governor's Committee to Evaluate 
the S.C.I. He said in part: 

" ... our state quickly developed a national reputa­
tion as a governmental cesspool, a bedroom for hired 
killers and a dumping ground for their victims. 
Whether this was a deserved reputation was not 
necessarily material. The significant thing was that 
this became an accepted fact that seriously under­
mine-d confidence in state law enfo-rcement." 

--The ,Toint I:;egislativeCommitteeinits report issued in the 
Spring of 1968 found that a crisis in crime control did exist in 
New Jersey. The Committee attributed the expanding activities 
of organized crime to "failure to some considerable degree in the 
system itself, official corruption, or both" and offered a series of 
sweeping recommendations for improving various areas of the 
criminal justice system in the state. 

The two highest priority recommendations were for a new State 
Criminal Justice unit in the executive branch of state government 
and an independent State Commission of Investigation, patterned 

1 



after the New York State Oommission of Investigation, now in its 
21st year of probing crime, official corrmption and other govern­
mental abuses. 

The Oommittee envisioned the proposed Oriminal Justice unit 
and the proposed Oommission of Investigation as complementary 
agencies in the fight against crime and corruption. The Oriminal 
Justice unit was to be a large organization with' extensive man­
power and authority to coordinate and press forward criminal 
investigations and prosecutions throughout the state. The Oom­
mission of Investigation was to be a relatively small but expert 
body which wouldeondl1ct fact-finding investigations, bring the 
facts to the public's attention, and make recommendations to the 
Governor and the Legislature for improvements in laws and the 
.operations of government. ' 

The Joint Legislative Oommittee's recommendations prompted 
immediate supportive legislative and executive action. New Jersey 
now has a Oriminal Justice Division in the State Department of 
Law and Public Safety and an independent State Oommission of 
Investigation* which is structured as a commission of the L'egis­
lature. The new laws were designed to prevent any conflict between 
the functions of this purely investigative, fact-finding Oommission, 
and the prosecutorial authorities of the state. The latter have the 
responsibility of pressing indictments and other charges-of viola­
tions of law and bringing the wrongdoers to puuishment. The 
Oommission has the responsibilities of publicly exposing evil by 
fact-finding investigations and of recommending new laws and 
other remedies to protect the integrity of the political process. 

The complementary role of the S.O.I. was emphasized anew by 
the G.overnor's Oommittee to Evaluate the S.O.I.**, which con­
ducted in 1975 a comprehensive and impartial arralysis .of the Oom­
mission's record and function. The Oommittee's members consisted 
of the late Ohief Justice Joseph Weintraub of the New Jersey 

* The bill creating the New Jersey State Commission of Investigation was introduced 
April 29, 1968, in the Senate. Legislative approval of that measure was completed· 
September 4, 1968. The bill created the Commission for an initial term beginning 
January I, 1969 and ending December 31, 1974. It is cited as Public Law, 1968, 
Chapter 266, N. J. S. A. 52:9M-l et seq. The Legislature on November 12, 1973, com­
pleted enactment of a bill, cited as Public Law, 1973, Chapter 238, which renewed the 
Commission for another term ending December 31, 1979. A bill granting _the S.c.I. 
an extension of its tenure for another five years is awaiting final approval by the­
Governor and the Legislature. 

** The Governor's Committee to Evaluate rthe S.c.I. was created in April, 1975, by execu­
tive order of the Governor after the introduction in the Senate of a bill to terminate 
the S.c.!. touched off a backlash of public criticism. The measure was subsequently 
withdrawn~ 
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Supreme Co.urt, fo.rmer Asso.ciate Justice Nathan L. Jaco.bs o.f that 
same Co.urt, and fo.rmer Judge Edward F. Bro.derick o.f the New 
Jersey Superio.r Co.urt. 

That Co.mmittee in its Octo.ber 6, 1975, public repo.rt rejected 
summarily any suggestio.n that the S.O.I. duplicates wo.rk o.f o.ther 
agencies. Indeed, the Oo.mmittee said the reco.rd demo.nstrated 
convincingly that the Oo.mmissio.n perfo.rms a valuable functio.n 
and that there is co.ntinuing need fo.r the S.O.I.'s co.,ntributio.ns to. 
bo.th the legislative pro.cess and the executive branch. 

The Oo.mmittee co.ncluded that it saw no. likeliho.o.d that the need 
fo.r the S.O.I. will abate, and reco.mmended amendment o.f the 
S.O.I. 's statute to. make the Oo.mmissio.n a permanent rather than 
a tempo.rary agency. In SUPPo.rt o.f this statement, the Oo.mmittee 
declared: 

"Our evaluatio.n o.f the wo.rk o.f the S.O.I. co.nvinces 
us that the agency has perfo.rmed a very valuable 
functio.n ... The current public skepticism o.f go.vern­
ment perfo.rmance emphasizes the cDntinuing need fo.r 
a credible' agency to. delve into. the prDblems that 
plague~o.ur institutio.ns, an agency which can pro.vide 
truthful infDrmatio.n and sDund reco.mmendatiDns. 
There must be CDnstant public awareness if weare to. 
retain a healthy and vibrant system Df gDvernment. 
Indeed we see no. likeliho.o.d that the need fo.r the 
S.O.I. will abate . . ." 

To. insure the integrity and impartiality o.f the Co.mmissio.n, no. 
mDre than two. o.f the fo.ur Oo.mmissiDners may be o.f the same 
pDlitical party. Two. ODmmissiDners are appDinted by the Go.verno.r 
and Dne each by the President Df the Senate and the Speaker o.f 
the Assembly. It thus' may be said the ODmmissio.n by law is 
bipartisan and by co.ncern and actio.nisno.npartisan. 

The paramo.unt statuto.ry resPo.nsibilities vested in the, Co.m­
missiDn are set fo.rth in Sectio.n 2 o.f its statute.' This sectio.n 
pro.vides: 

2. The Oo.mmissiDn shall have the duty and Po.wer 
to. co.nduct investigatio.ns in co.nnectio.n with: 

(a) The faithful executio.n and effective enfo.rc!,­
ment o.f the laws o.f the state, with particular 

* The full text -of the Commission's statute is included in the Appendices Section of this 
report. 
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reference but not limited to organized crime 
and racketeering. 

(b) The conduct of public officers and public 
employees, and of officers and employees of 
public corporations and authorities. 

(c) Any matter concerning the public peace, pub­
lic safety and public justice. 

The statute .provides further that the Commission shall conduct 
investigations' by direction of the Governor and by concurrent 
resolution of the Legislature. The Commission also shall conduct 
investigations of the affairs of any state department or agency at 
the request of the head of a department or agency. 

Thus, the enabling statute assigned to the Commission, as an 
investigative, fact-finding body,' a wide range of responsibilities. 
It is highly mobile, may compel testimony and production of other 
evidence by subpmna, and has authority to grant immunity to 
witnesses. Although the Commission does not have and cannot 
exercise any prosecutorial functions, the statute does provide for 
the Commission to refer information to prosecutorial authorities. 

One of the Commission's prime responsibilities when it uncovers 
irregularities, improprieties, misconduct, or corruption, is to bring 
the facts to the attention of the public. The objective is to insure 
corrective action. The importance of public exposure was put most 
succinctly by a New York Times analysis of the nature of such a 
Commission: 

Some people would put the whole business in the 
lap of a District Attorney (prosecutor), arguing that 
if he does not bring indictments, there is not much 
the people can do. 

But this misses the primary purpose of the State 
Investigation Commission. It is not to probe outright 
criminal acts by those in public employment. That is 
the job of the regular investigation arms of the law. 

Instead, the Commission has been charged by the 
Legislature to check on, and to expose, lapses in the 
faithful and effective performance of duty by public 
employees. 

* As a legislative, investigative agency, the S.c.I. is not unique, since investigative 
agencies of the legislative branch of government are as old ~s the Republic. The first 
full-fledged Congressional investigating committee was established in 1792 to "inquire 
into the causes of the failure of the last expedition of Major General S1. Clair." 
(3 Anml of Congress 493-1792). 
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Is sheer non-criminality to be the only standard of 
behavior to which a public official is to be held V 
Or does the public have a right to know of laxity, 
inefficiency, incompetence, waste and other failures in 
the work for which it pays 1 

The exact format for public action by the S.C.I. is subject in 
each instance to a formal determination by the Commission which 
takes into consideration factors of complexity of subject matter 
and of consciseness, accuracy and thoroughness in presentation of 
the facts. The Commission may proceed by way of a public hearing 
or a public report, or both. 

In the course of its conduct, the Commission adheres to and is 
guided by the New Jersey Code of Fair Procedure." 

'The Code sets forth those protections whi0h the Legislature by 
statute and the Judiciary by interpretation have provided for 
witnesses called at private and public hearings and for individuals 
mentioned in the Commission's public proceedings. Section Six of 
the Code states that any individual who feels adversely affected 
by the testimony or other evidence presented in a public action by 
the Co=ission shall be afforded an opportunity to make a state­
ment under oath relevant to the testimony or other evidence com­
plained of. The statements, subject to determination of relevancy, 
are incorporated in the records of the Co=ission's public pro­
ceedings. Before resolving to proceed to a public action, the Com­
mis-sion analyzes and evaluates investigative data in private in 
keeping with its solemn obligation to avoid unnecessary stigma 
and embarrassment to individuals but, at the same time, to fulfill 
its statutory oblig'ation to keep the public informed with specifics 
neces'sary to give credibility to the S.C.I.'s findings and recom­
mendations. 

The Commission contends that indictments which may result 
from referral of matters to other agencies are not the only test of 
the efficacy of the agency's public actions. Even more important 
are the corrective legislative and regulatory actions sparked by 
arousing the public interest. The Commission takes particular 
pride in all such actions which have resulted in improved govern­
mental operations and laws. It will continue to work for more 
effective protection for the taxpaying public from abuses in the 
expenditure of public funds and other subversions of the public 
trust. 

* The New ]ers'ey Code of Fair Procedure (Chapter 376, Laws of New Jersey, 1968. 
N.J.S.A. 52:13E-l to 52:13E-1O) is printed in full in the Appendices section of this 
report. 
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RESUME OF THE COMMISSION'S 
MAJOR INVESTIGATIONS 

This is a summary of the Commission's major in­
vestigations 'undertaken since June, 1969, when the 
S.C.I. became staffed and operational. In describing 
them as major investigations, it is meant that they re­
quired considerable time and effort and, where appro­
priate, resulted in a p~tblic hearing or a· public report. 
Since these inquiries have been discussed fully in 
separate reports or in previous annual reports or 
in sections of this report, only a brief statem.ent abo~tt 
each - including subsequent results - is set forth. 

1. ORGANIZED CRIME CONFRONTATIONS* 

Since the ,su=er of 1969, the Oommission has heen issuing 
subprenas for the appearance and testimony of individuals identi~ 
fied by law enforcement authOTities as leaders or members of 
organized crime families operating in New Jersey. This program 
has been part of the Oo=ission's continuous effort to increase 
the storehouse of intelligence, muMvally shared with law enforce­
ment agencies, about the status, mode's and patterns of underwodd 
oper'ations in this state. However, the need to penetrate the so­
called "Oath of Silence", behind which organized crime figure's 
try to hide, h3JS required the Oommission to utilize every constitu­
tional weapon at its disposal. One of these important anti-crime 
tools is the power to gr'ant i=unity, following procedures that 
are in strict accord with the protections laid down by law and the 
judiciary. The Oommission believes that, once witnelsoses have been 
granted innnunity against the use of their testimony or any leads 
derived from such testimony, a proper balance has been struck 
between protecting individual rights and the responsibility of the 
state to ,safeguard the public by learning as much as possible about 
the plans and strategies of the underworld. This philosophy and' 
approach have been approved by the highest state and fedeml 
cour-ts. 

*" See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Reports for . .1970, 1971; 
1972. 1973. 1974. 1975. 1976 and 1977. See also p. 42 of this Annual Report. 
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As part of this program of confrontation, nine organized crime, 
figures who were served with subpcenas elected to undergo extended, 
periods of court-ordered impriS'onment for civil contempt fOT re­
fusing to answer S.C.I. questions. In addition, certain organized, 
crime figure's remain under S.C.I. subpama for either continuing 
or future testimony, including Angelo Bruno, Simone Rizzo (Sam 
the Plumber) DeCavalcante, Carl (Pappy) Ippolito, ,Joseph Pa- ' 
terno and Antonio (Tony Bananas) Caponigro. Among the many, 
organized crime figures known to have fled New Jersey in an effort 
to avoid being served with S.C.I. subpcena,s are Anthony (Tumac) 
Acceturo of Livingston, Emilio (The Count) Delio and Paterno 
of Newark, Joseph (Demus) Covello of Belleville, John (Johnny 
D) DiGilio of Paramus, Tino Fiumara of Wyckoff, John (Johnny 
Keyes) Simone of Lawrence Township, and Ippolito. The attempt 
by a number of these to seek alternate places of residence, prim­
arily in South Florida, has been interrupted from time to time by 
federal and state indictments charging various criminal violations. 

As indicated ,.bove, nine organized crime figures have <lhosen 
to spend prolonged periods of court-mandated incarceration on 
civil oontempt grounds beicause they refused to testify before the 
S.C.I. 

, Of these nine" four gained release from j'ail only after agreeing 
to testify before the Co=ission. These four were Angelo Bruno, 
Nicodemo (Little Nicky) Scarfo, Anthony (Little Pussy) Russo 
(deceased) and Nicholas Russo: A fifth, Gerardo Catena, who had 
been imprisoned in March, 1970, was ordered released in 1975 by 
the New Jersey State Supreme Court, which ruled that imprison­
ment had lost its coercive effect because he had demonstrated a 
res'olve never to testify. Similarly, two others, Ralph (Blackie) 
Napoli ,and Louis (Bobby) Manna, subsequently gained release 
after long periods of incarceration. An eighth, John (Johnny 
CocaOola)" Lardiere, who had, beenjailed since 1971for refllsing 
to testify before the S.C.I., was shot to death during the early 
morning of April 10, 1977. The murder occurred in the parking 
lot of a Bridgewater motel, while Lardiere was on a court-ordered 
Easter furlough. The ninth, Joseph (Bayonne Joe) Zicarelli, is 
on temporary medical furlough from jail. 

New Jersey's fmmer Attorney Ge)leral Hyland, who was the 
agency's first <Jhairman, has observed: " ... much has, already 
been done to eliminate - or at least to weaken - organized crime. 
Much of the credit for that success belongs to the S.C.I. for its 
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effarts in seeking testimany fram alleged arg&nized crime figures 
and far focusing the spotlight an, and thus alerting the public to, 
the problems associated with 'Organized crime." Illustrating the 
former Attorney General '8 vie'fs was a report by the Pennsyl­
vania Crime Commission which emphasized &s a prime reason for 
the "continning" influx of New Jersey mab figures inta Pennsyl­
vania a fear in the underworld of New Jersey's 8.C.I. The Penn­
sylvania report alsa stres·sed ather factors such &s telephane 
wiretaps and electronic surveillances as well as the active "stalk­
ing" of mab ·operations in New Jersey that has been an impartant 
aspect 'Of the S.C.I. 's surveillance activities. 

2. THE GARBAGE INDUSTRY* 

The Legislature in 19619 passed a resalution requesting the 
Cammission ta investigate the garbage industry and make recam­
mendatians for possible corrective .'action at the state level. An 
investigation was subsequently undertaken by the S.C.I. of certain 
practices and procedures in that industry. The investigatian ended 
with two weeks 'Of private hearings, concluding in September, 1969. 

A principal finding of the Commission was that some garbage 
ind~tstry trade associations discouraged competition, encouraged 
coll~tsive biddin,q, and preserved allocations of customers on a 
territorial bctsis. Unless the vice of customer allocation was 
curbed by the state, the Commission concluded, many municipalities 
would continue to be faced with the problem of receiving only one 
bid for waste collection. 

The Commission recommended legislative action leading to a 
statewide approach to regulating and policing of the garbage 
industry. Specific recomtnendations were: Prohibit customer 
territorial allocation, price fixing and collusive bidding; provide 
for licensing by the state (to the exclusion of municipal licenses) 
of all waste collectors in New J e·rsey, and prohibit discrimination 
in the use of privately owned waste disposal areas. State "egula­
tion of the industry event~tally was enacted by the Legislature, 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation. A Report Relating to the Garbage­
Industry, October 7, 1969. 
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3. ORGANIZED CRIME IN MONMOUTH COUNTY* 

The seashore city of Long Branch had since 1967 been the focus 
of publicized charges and disclosures about the influence of 
organized crime. One charge was that an organized crime figure, 
Anthony (Little P\lSSY) Russo, controlled the mayor and the city 
counciL Official reports indicated mob figures were operating in 
an atmosphere relatively secure from law enforcement. The 
Commission began an investigation in May, 1969, that culminated 
with public hearings in early 1970. Among the major disclosures 
were: 

That a Long Branch city manager was ousted from his job by 
the city council after he began taking counter~action against 
organized crime's inJiuence; that Russo offered to get the city 
manager's job back for that same person if he would close his eyes 
to underworld influences and act as 'lJi front for the mob; that 
impending police raids on gambling establishments were being 
leaked in time to prevent arrests despite the anti-gambling efforts 
of an honest police chief who died in 1968, and that the next police 
chief lacked the integrity and desire to investigate organized crime 
and stem its influence. 

After the hearings, the irresponsible police chief resigned and 
the electorate voted -in a new administration. 

The Asbltry Park Press comrnented editorially that the Commis­
sion's hearings did more good than four previous grand jury 
investigations. Also, the Commission's special agents developed 
detailed fiscal information and records relating to corporations 
formed by Russo, information which was used by federal authori­
ties in obtaining a 1971 indictment of Russo on a charge of faillwe 
to file corporate income tax returns. II e pleaded gl!ilty to that 
charge anllreceiveda three-year prison-sentence. 

The Long Branch inquiry extended to the office of Monmouth 
Oounty's then chief of county detectives. This probe determined 
that a disproportionate share of 'lliuthority had been vested in this 
office. Twenty-four hours after the Commission issued subpoenas 
.in October, 1969, the chief committed suicide. 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued 
February. 1971. 
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Public hearings were held in late 1970. Testimony showed that 
a confidential expense account supposedly used for nine years by 
the chief of detectives to pay informants was not used for that 
purpose and could not be accounted for. The testimony also· 
detailed how that fund was solely controlled by the chief with no 
county audit and no supervision by the c(;unty prosecutor. In fact, 
the county prosecutor testified that he signed vouchers in blank. 

The Co'mmission after the hearing made a series of recommenda­
tions to reform the county prosecutor system. A principal recom­
mendation was for lull-rime prosec1dors and assistants. A state 
law, since enacted, has established full-time prosec1!torial staffs 
in the more pop1!lous counties of New Jersey and additional 
statutes are requiring full-time prosecutors in certain other 
counties. Prior to the Commission's probe, there were no full-time 
county prOSeC1!tors in the state. 

4. THE STATE DIVISION OF PURCHASE AND PROPERTY* 

The Commission in February, 1970, began investigating charges 
of corrupt practices and procedures involving the State Division 
of Purchase and Property and suppliers of state services. Public 
hearings were held at which testimony showed payoffs to a state 
buyer to get cleaning contracts for state buildings, rigging of bids 
on state contracts, renewal of those contracts without bidding, 
unsatisfactory performance of work called for under state con_ 
tracts, and illegal contracting of such work. 

After the investigation, the state buyer was dismissed from his 
job. Records of the investigation were turned over to the State 
Attorney General's Office which obtained an indictment charging 
the buyer with misconduct in office. He pleaded guilty and was 
fined and placed on probation. 

This investigation m,et with immediate correctional steps by the 
Division of Purchase and Property, which voluntarily changed 
procedures to prevent recurrence of similar incidents. 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued 
February, 1971. 
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5. THE BUILDING SERVICES INDUSTRY* 

The probe of the Division of Purchase and Property brought to 
the Commission's attention anti-competitive and other improper 
practices and influences in the bUlildingsHrvices industry. Public' 
hearings were held in June, 1970 . 

. Testimony showed the existence of a trade organization designed 
to thwart competition by limiting free bidding and enterprise. The 
hearings also revealed that a union official linked with organized 
crime figures was the real power in the trade organization, and 
that coerced sales of certain detergent cleaning products and im- . 
position of sweetheart contracts were sometimes the price of labor, 
peace. The inquiry also rHvealed that 'a major organized crime., 
figure in New Jersey acted as an ar'hiter of disputes between some 
cleaning companies. 

The Commission's investigation of restraint-of-trade and other., 
abusive practices in the building service and maintenance industry 
aroused the interest of the United States Senate Com1nerce Com­
mittee. The committee invited theS.C.I. to testify at its 1972 public 
hearinys on organized crime in interstate com1nerce. As a result of 
that testimony, the Anti-Trust Division of the United States Justice" 
Department, with assistance front the S.C.I., launched an investiga- . 
tion into an association which aUocated territories and customers. 
to various member b,.iilding service rnaintenance companies i",,' 
New Jersey. In May, 1974, a Federal Grand Jury indicted 12 
companies and 17 officials for conspiring to shut out competition 
in the industry. The companies were the sarne as those involved 
in the S.C.I.'s public hearings. Attorney Roger L. C,trrier of the' 
Justice Department's anti-trust division in Philadelphia, in coor­
dination with the U.S. Attorney's office in New Jersey, brought the' 
entire case to a final conclusion on Oct. 25, 1977. On that date the 
defenclanisencleclihe' governmeni's'dvilacUonbiiaiJ"ee2niJioa' 
consent judgment stipulating they would abandon the practices. 
alleged against them. Earlier, the government's criminal suit 
against the defendants was completed in M a·rch, 1976, by which 
time one company had pleaded guilty to the charges, the other 
defenda,nts pleaded no contest and fines totaling $233,000 were 
levied. 

* See New Jersey Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued Februaty, 
. 1971. 
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6. THE HUDSON COUNTY MOSQUITO COMMISSION* 

During 1970 the Commission received allegations of·· corrupt 
practices in the operation of the Hudson County Mosquito Exter­
mination Commission. An investigation led to public hearings at 
the close of 1970. 

The Mosquito Commission's treasurer, who was almost blind, 
testified how he signed checks and vouchers on direction from the 
agency's executive director. The testimony also revealed shake­
down payments in connection with construction projects or 
rig'hus-of-way in the Hudson meadowlands, the existence of a 
secret bank account, and kickback payments by contractors and 
suppliers under a fraudulent voucher scheme. 

One result of this investigation was abolition of the Mosquito 
Commission, an agency which served no valid function and whose 
annual budget was approaching the $500,000 mark. 

Also, after receiving S.C.I. records of the investigation, the 
Hudson County Prosecutor's Office obtained conspiracy and 
embezzlement indictments against the Mosquito Commission's 
executi-ve director and his two sons. The executive director pleaded 
guilty to embezzlement and in June, 1972, was sentenced to two to 
four years in prison. His sons plea-ded guilty to conspiracy and 
were fined $1,000 each. 

7. MISAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS IN ATLANTIC COUNTY** 

The Commission in 1970 investigated the misappropriation of 
$130,19-6 that came to light with the suicide of a purchasing agent 
in Atlantic County's government. The Commission in December of 
that year issued a detailed public report which documented in 
sworn testimony a violation of public trust and a breakdown in 
the use of the powers of county government. The inquiry revealed 
how that purchasing agent fraudulently diverted money to his 
own use over a period of 13 years. The sworn testimony con­
firmed that for years prior to 1971, monthly appropriation sheets 

* See New Jersey Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued February, 
1971. 

** See Report on Misappropriation of Public Funds, Atlantic COtmty, a Report by the 
New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, December, 1971. 
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of many departments contained irregularities traceable to the 
purchasing agent but that no highly placed county official ever 
tried to get a full explanation ·of thoose irregularities. The testimony 
also disclos,ed tha,t after county officiaLs were first notified by the 
bank about the false check endomement part of the agent's scheme, 
an inadequate investigation was condudpd by some county officials. 

Oopies of the Oommission's report were sent to Freeholder 
Boards throughout the state for use as a guide in preventing any 
further instances of similar misappropriation ot funds. Asa result 
ot fiscal irregularities 2!ncovered in its probes not only of Atlantic 
County but also ot county agencies in Monmou,th and H2tdson 
counties, the Oommission recomrnended that county and municipal 
auditors be mandated to exercise more responsibility for m.aintain­
ing integrity, with stress on continuous mviews of the internal 
controls of county and local govermnents. 

8. DEVELOPMENT OF POINT BREEZE IN JERSEY CITY* 

The lamds that lie along the Jersey City waterfront are· among 
the most valuable and economically important in the state. The 
Commis'Sion in the Spring of 1971 investigated allega,tions of cor­
ruption and other irregularities in the deve~opmentof ,the Point 
Bre'eze area of JeI'sey City's watedront as a containership port 
and a,n indus,trial park. 

The investiga,tion revealed a classic, informa,tive example of 
how a proper and needed developme,nt could be frustrated by 
improper procedures. Public hearings in October, 1971, diselosed 
a payoff to public officials, impropelr receipt ·of rHal estate com­
missions, and irregular appI'oa,ches to the use of shute laws for 
bLighted areas and granting tax abatement. 

Two bills implementing S.C.!. recommendations tram this probe 
were enacted into law. One improved the urban renewal process 
and the other tightened statutory provisions to prevent a purchaser 
of publicly owned lands from receiving any part at the brokerage 
fee attendant on such a purchase. . 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1971 Annual Report, issued 
March, 1972. 
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In addition, the Commission referred probe records to prosecu­
torial authorities. A Hudson County Grand Jury returned an 
indictment charging a former Jersey City building inspector with 
extorting $1,200 from an official of the Port Jersey Corp. and 
obtaining money under false pretenses. The inspector was con­
victed of obtaining money ttnder false pretenses and fined $200 and 
given a six-month suspended sentence. 

9. TACTICS AND STRATEGIES OF ORGANIZED CRIME* 

AlthDUgh nDt a "sWD-rn" member Df organized crime, He-rbert 
GrDss, -a fDrme-r LakewDod honel operatDr and roe-al estate man, 
became during 1965-70 a virtual part Df the mob thrDugh invDlve­
meut in numbers banks, shylock loan Dperations, cashing Df stDlen 
securities and 'Other aclivitie-s. In order to' shorten a State PriSDn 
tElrm in 1971, GrDs's began in thrut ye-a'r to' (lDOpemte with gove-rn­
ment agenciEls, including the S.C.I. 

GrDss's testimDny during twO' days Df public hearings by the 
CDmmissiDn in February, 1972, pinpointed the ruthless operations 
Df Drganized crime figuT'e-s in the Ocean COounty area and their 
ties back to' underwDdd bOos,se-s in N Drthern New J ertsey and New 
York City. His testimDny and thILt Df other witnesses detailed 
how mDbsterts infiltrat,ed a legitimate motel business in Lakewood. 
A fDrmer restaurant conces'siDnaire at thrut mDtel testified that 
becaus'e -Df shylDck IDans arranged thrDugh an Drganized crime 
as'sociamon, he Ios-t as'Sets Df abDut $60,000 in six mDnths and left 
town a brDken and penniless man. 

Becords of this investigation were made available to federal 
authorities who st!bsequently obtained an extortion-conspiracy 
indictment against nine organized crime figures relative to a shy­
loclc loan dispute which ct!lminated with an tlnderworld" sitdown" 
or trial. New Jersey law enforcement officials testified at the S.C.l. 
hearings that the public exposure afforded by those sessions demon­
strated the need for continually active vigilance against organized 
crime, particularly in rapidly developing areas, where the inquiry 
showed how organized crimB follows population growth. 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investiga.tion, 1972 Annual Rep-tid, issued 
-- February, 1973. 
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10. PROPERTY PURCHASES IN ATLANTIC COUNTY* 

The Co=ission during 1971 received information that the 
State may have overpaid for the site of the Stockton State College 
in Galloway Township, Atlantic Oounty. Subsequent field investi­
gations and private hearings extending into 1972 showed that 
payment of $924 an acre for a key 595-acre tract was indeed 
exceSSIve. 

Substantially the same aereage had been sold only nine months 
earlier by two corporations headed by some Atlantic Oity business-. 
men to a New York Oity-based land purchasing group for $475. 
per acre, which was about double the per acre price of two 
comparable large-tmct s'ale,s in the Galloway ama. The Commis­
sion in a public report in June, 1972, cited two critical flaws as 
leading to excessive overpayment for the land by the state: In-, 
adequate and misle'ading appraisals of 1and that had reoently 
changed hands at a premiUm price, and a lack of expertise and safe­
guards in State Division of Purchruse 'aJUd Property procedures to 
discover and correct the appraisal problems. 

The report stressed a number of recommendations to insure 
that the Division w02~ld in the future detect and correct faults 
in appraisals. Key recommendations were post-appraisal reviews 
by qualified experts and strict pre-qualification of appraisers 
before being listed as eligible to work for the state. The recom~ 
mendations were promptly implemented by the Division. 

1 L BANK FRAUD IN MIDDLESEX COUNTY** 

Investigative aetivities during 1971 in Middlesex Oounty directed 
the Commission',s attention to Santo R. Santisi, then president 
of the Middlesex County Bank, which he founded. A full-scale 

. probe.by the Dommission'sspeciaL agentsandspecialagentsj ac­
countants concentrated on Santisi-controlled corporations, in par­
ticular the Otnas Holding Oompany. 

The probe uncovered 'Schemes by Santisi and his entourage for 
the use of publicly invested funds in Otnas solely for their own 
per;;onal gain, apparently illicit public sale of stock without the 

* See Report and Recommendations on Property Purchase Practices of the Division of 
Purchase and Property. a Report by the New Jersey Commission of Investigation, 

, issued: June, 1972. 
** See New Jersey Commission of Investigation, 1972 Annual Report, issued February, 

1973. 
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required state registration and misapplication by Santisi of 
hundreds of thousands of dollars of funds of the Middlesex County 
BawL Thofle funds were "loaned" to members of the Santisi 
group who either personally or through their corporations acted 
as conduits to divert the money for the benefit of Santisi and some 
of his corporations. 

During the first quarter of 1972 the Oommission completed 
p"ivate hearings in this investigation b'lt deferred planned public 
hearings at the request of bank examiners who expressed fears 
about the impact of a,dverse publicity on the bank's financial health. 
Instead, the S.O.1. referred data from this investigation to federal 
authorities who obtained indictments of Samtisi and several of his 
cohorts on charges involving the misapplied bank funds. All 
pleaded guilty. Santisi was sentenced to three years in prison. 
One of his associates was sentenced to a year in prison and two 
others received suspended sentences. 

12. THE OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL* 

In the summer of 1972' the, Commission was requested by the 
then Attorney General of New Jersey, George F. Kugler, Jr., to 
investigate his office's handling of the case of Paul J. Sherwin, 
the Secretary of State who was convicted on a conspiracy indict­
ment in connection with a campaign contribution made by a con­
tractor who had bid on a state highway contract. The request 
triggered an investigation which extended into early 1973. The 
Commission took from 22 witnesses sworn testimony consisting 
of more than 1,300 pages of transcripts and also introduced exhibits 
consisting of more than 300 pages. The Commission, by unanimous 
resolution, issued in 1973 a 1,600-page report which was forwarded 
to the Governor and the Legislature and to all news media. John 
J. Francis, the retired Associate Justice of the, New Jersey 
Supreme Court, served without compensation as Special Counsel 
to the Commission in the investigation. 

Aprima;ry conclusion of the report which climaxed this inquiry­
a report which made public all recorded testimony and exhibits -
was that "we find no reliable evidence' whatever to reasonably 
justify a conclusion that Attorney General Kugler was derelict in 

* See Report on Investigation of the Office of the Attorney General of New Jer~ey. A 
'.' Report by New Jersey State -Commission of Investigation, issued January, 1973. 
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his law enforcement obligations." The report also attacked certain 
types of political ca'mpaign contributions as a "malignant cancer 
in the, blood strearn of Our political life" and urged the prohibition 
of sttch contributions to public officials by those aspiring for gov­
ernmental contracts. 

13. THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION SYSTEM* 

New .Tersey's system for compensating individuals for employ­
ment injuries became during the emly 1970s the object of intense 
scrutiny. In addition to evidence and statistics indicating faults 
in the system, there were persistent published reports that 
irregularities, abuses and illegalities were being ignored or con­
doned. Mounting complaints led the State Oommissioner of Labor 
and Industry to request an investigation. That task, which was 
undertaken by the S.O.I., was one of the agency's most comprehen­
sive inquiries. The facts, as presented art; nine days of public 
hearings in Trenton in May-June, 1973, documented abuses which 
included unwarranted compensation claims, lavish gift-giving and 
entertaining, questionable conduct by some judges, and the use by 
some law firms of favored heat-treating doctors or "house doctors" 
who inflated claims by bill-padding. 

As a result of the investigation, three .Judges of Compensation 
were given disciplinary suspensions, with one of them eventually 
being dismissed from office by the Governor. After referral of 
data in this probe to prosecutorial authorities, an Essex County 
Grand Jury dt,ring 1975 indicted two partners of a law firm and 
the firm's b'usiness m,artage'r on charges of conspiracy amd obtain­
ing money under false pretenses in connection with the alleged 
heat-treatment, bill-paddvng scheme exposed at the S.C.I.'s public 
hearings. Also, the Waterfront Comm'ission of New York Harbor 
used .the investigaMvetechniques and rnethodology estahlishedby 
the S.C.l..in this in');estigation to uncover widespread Workmen's 
Compensation frauds involving dock workers. 

The Com1nission rnade more than a score of proposed law 
changes to the Legislature. One recommended measure, to stifle 
bill-padding and related malpractices, became law but a full­
fledged effort to enact wide-ranging revisions did not actually 

* See Final Report and Recommendations on the Investigation of the Workmen's Com­
pens,ation System, _ a Report by the New -Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 
January, 1974, 
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.begin until after the -introduction of major proposed reform bills 
in 1978 by Senate President Joseph P. Merlino, Senators Anthony 
Scardino, Jr., and Eugene J. Bedell, and Assemblyman Joseph 
D. Patero. 

14. - MISUSE OF SCHOOL PROPERTY IN PASSAIC COUNTY* 

A citizen's complaint received in January, 1973, prompted the 
Commission to inquire into the handling and distribution by the 
State of federal surplus property donated for use in schools and 
other institutions as well as questionable transactions at the 
Passaic County Vocational and Technical High School in Wayne. 
The investigation was capped by five days of public hearings at 
the Passaic County Courthouse in Paterson. 

The he'arings disclosed that the school's purchasing agent, who 
also was its business manager, failed to obtain competitive prices 
for many goods purchased, that substantial amounts of goods and 
services were purchased through middlemen, one of whom marked 
up prices by more than Ion per cent, and that regular payoffs were 
made to the school's purchasing agent. The evidence also con­
firmed that the purchasing agent used some school employees and 
property for improvements at his home and that the school had 
become a dumping ground for millions of dollars of federally 
donated surplus property under a mismanaged state program. 

This investigation led to S.C.l. recommendations for administra­
tive corrective steps to establish an efficient program of state 
distribution of the surpl'as property and for improved procedures 
for school boards in overseeing pt~rchasing practices. The State 
Board of Education relayed the S.C.I. recommendations to all 
school boards in the state with instructions to be guided by them. 

F'Urther, after referral of data from this probe to the State 
Criminal Justice Division, a State Grand Jury indicted Alex 
Smollock, the school's manager and purchasing agent, on charges 
of taking nearly $40,000 in kickbacks. He was convicted of nine 
counts of accepting bribes and was sentenced to one to three years 
in state prison and fined $9,000. Superior Court Appellate Divisiol11. 
early in 1977 upheld Smollock's conviction. Later, in March, 1977, 
in a civil st,it by Passaic County freeholders and the Technical-

* See New Jersey_ State Commission of Investiagtion, Annual Report for 1973, issued 
in March, 1974. 
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VocationallIigh School, Smollock was ordered by Superior Court 
to return salary he received during suspension from school duties 
as well as the bribe money. In February, 1978, he agreed under a 
Superior Court settlement to repay the county more than $50,000 
in 60 installments d~!ring a five-year period upon completion of his 
prison term. 

15. THE DRUG TRAFFIC AND LAW ENFORCEMENT* 

Narcotics and their relationship to law enforcement in New 
Jersey are a natural area of concern for the Commission, since the 
huge profits to be made from illicit narcotics trafficking are an 
obvious lure to criminal elements. As a result of an increase 
in the S.C.I. 's intelligence gathering during 1973 relative to 
narcotics, the Commission obtained considerable information 
concerning certain criminal elements in Northern New Jersey. A 
subsequent investigation produced a mass of detail about drug' 
trafficking. At public hearings in late 1973, witnesses revealed their. 
involvement in heroin and cocaine transactions in North New 
Jersey, marked by accounts of a killing and an attempt by crime 
figures to persuade a witness to commit murder. Federal, state and 
.county authorities testified about the international, interstate and 
intrastate flow of heroin and cocaine and problems of law enforce­
ment units responsible for the fight against illicit narcotics distri­
bution. 

Due to a combination of a reliable informant and an extensive 
follow-~!p investigation by S.C.I. agents, this probe had significant 
collMeral results. These included the solving of a gangland style 
slaying case and the busting of a stolen jewelry fencing ring and a 
crime federation burgla,'y ring of more than 30 individuals. Both 
the Essex County (N. J.) Prosecutor and the Lackawanna C01!nty 
(-Pa.) District AUorney complimentedlhe -S.C1;forreferrals···of 
probe data and otherwise aiding law enforcement. The hearings 
also generated S.C1. recommendations for an improved law en­
forcement attack on narcotics distribution and for revisions of the 
narcotics law, including sterner penalties for non-addict pushers. 

". * ?ee New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1973, issueq 
In March, 1974. . 
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16. PSEUDO-CHARITABLE FUND-RAISING ApPEALS* 

A growing number of companies were established in N ew Jersey 
to sell by telephone exorbitantly high-priced household products, 
principally light bulbs, in the name of allegedly handicapped 
workers. Although different in age, size and some operating 
procedures, all created an illusion of charitable works for the 
handicapped through telephonic sales presentations which stressed 
references to "handicaps" or "the handicapped." Consumers by 
the hundreds, outrag'ed upon learning they had been duped into 
thinking these profit-oriented businesses were charities, registered 
complaints with the State Division of Consumer Affairs. That 
Division sought a full S.C.I. investigation of these pseudo-charities 
because of the broader purview of the Commission's statute, the 
Commission's investigative record and its public exposure powers. 

Facts put into the public record at hearings held by the S.C.I. 
in June, 1974, included: That people were willing to pay high 
prices of as much as 1,100 per cent above cost only because tele-

. phone solicito·rs gave the illusion they were aiding a charity; that 
some companies used healthy solicitors whO' claimed they were 
handicapped to' induce sales; that sDlicitDrs, handicapped or not, 
were subject to' prDmpt dismissal if they did nDt prDduce enough 
sales to' assure a prDfit for the owners; that an Dwner Df one CDm­
pany received a tDtal Df more than $1 million in fDur years from the 
business; that authentically handicapped soliDitors could be harmed 
by having to constantly dwell on their ailments in order to induce 
sales, and that pseudD-charitable appeals drained off millions of 
dollars each year that otherwise, could be tapped by authentic 
charities. 

Access to data from this investigation was offered to federal 
officials both d~!ring the probe and immediately after the public 
hearings. Subsequently, the owner of one of the profit-making 
companies identified at the S.C.!.' s hearings and the sales manager 
of another company were charged with fraud by federal author­
ities. Both pleaded guilty. 

A number of bills to implement S.C.I. recommendations in the 
charitable fund-raising field were introduced in the Legislature. 
In April, 1977, Governor Brendan T. Byrne signed into law a bill 
to require authorizati.on by the Attorney General before corpora-

* See Final Report and Recommendations on the Investigation of Profit Oriented 
Companies Operating in a Pseudo-Charitable Manner, a Report by the New Jersey 
State Commission of Investigation, September, 1974. 
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tions can identify themselves as fund raisers for the "handi­
capped" or the "blind." Another bill, to require professional 
fund raisers to provide financial report.9 to the Attorney General, 
also cleared the Legislature and was signed into law by the 
Governor on December 15, 1977. 

17. THE DELAWARE RIVER PORT AUTHORITY* 

The State Executive Commission on Ethical Standards during 
1974 requested the S.C.I.'s assistance in investigating allegations 
of possible conflicts of interest of Ralph Cornell, then the Chairman 
of the Delaware River Port Authority. He had been a commis­
sioner of that Authority since its inception in 1951. The reason for 
the request, as stated by the Ethics Commission, was that "the 
State Commission of Investigation is better equipped in terms of 
personnel, resources and operating procedures to conduct this 
inquiry. " 

The investigation involved the analysis of a virtual mountain 
of books and records of the Authority, corporations and banks in 
order to expose certain business relationships relative to subcon­
tracting work done on Authority projects. After holding private 
hearings on 14 occasions from March through August of 1974, the 
Commission issued a comprehensive public report on this inquiry 
and sent it to the Governor and the Ethical Standards Commission, 
appropriately leaving to that Commission the final judgments on 
the full factual picture presented by the report. The Attorney 
General's Office also was given copies of the report. 

The principal facts developed by the S.C.I. 's investigation were 
that Mr. Cornell's Cornell & Company had received substantial in­
come for work performed on Port Authority projects on a sub­
contracting and sub-subcontracting basis while other companies 
-wete listedirt the Atlthbtity' stecordsasthe stlbcontractorswith no 
listing of Cornell & Company in those documents; that he was the 
recipient of substantial dividend payments as a major stockholder 
in the insurance company which was the New Jersey broker for the 
insurance needs of the Authority, and that as an investor in lands 
subject to value enhancement by proximity to existing or proposed 
Authority projects, Mr. Cornell had received more than $1.9 million 

* See Report on the Compatibility of the Interests of Mr. Ralph Cornell, Chairman of 
the Delaware River Port Authority, a Report by the New Jersey State Commission 
of Investigation, October, 1974. 
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in unadjusted profits. The report stated, however, that the probe 
found no evidence of Mr. Oornell making land purchases on the 
basis of "insider information" and that the purchases could have 
been made by any well informed citizen with substantial monetary 
resources. 

In October, 1977, the Delaware River Port Authority agreed to 
accept a payment of $50,666 by Mr. Cornell as a repayment of 
profits some of his firms made on Authority projects. The settle­
ment represented a compromise of the Authority's clairn that the 
profits amOttnted to $64,330 and Mr. Cornell's claim that they were 
$37,004. Port Authority counsel said the settlement was accepted 
to avoid" extensive expensive litigation." Cornell's counsel em­
phasized that the settlement was not to be regarded as an admission 
of liability. Mr. Cornell, who was absolved of any criminal wrong­
doing by the state in 1.975, was not reappointed to the Authority 

, when his term expi'"ed in Jam,ary, 1975. 

18. THE GOVERNMENT OF LINDENWOLD* 

A citizen's letter alleging abuses in the government of the 
Borough of Lindenwold, a rapidly developed suburban community 
in Oamden Oounty, was received by the Oommission in the latter 
part of 1973. One of the letter's signatories, a former Borough 
Oouncilman in Lindenwold, in a subsequent interview with S.C.I. 
special agents, told not only of abuses concerning ethical standards 
but also of official corruption. He brought with him to the S.O.I.'~ 
office $5,000 he received, but never spent, as his share of payoffs 
made for votes favorable to land development projects. 

During 1974 the Commission obtained substantial corroboration 
of this man's story of amorality in the Borough's government in 
a lengthy probe involving full use of the Oommission subpcena and 
witness immunity powers and its investigative and accounting 
background. At three days of public hearings in Trenton in 
December, 1974, the Oommission heard testimony supported by 
numerous exhibits that $198,500 had been paid by land developers 
to Lindenwold public officials in return for favorable treatment and 
cooperation of the Borough government, that a Borough official 
and a county official had accepted substantial amounts of cash from 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1974 Annual Report, issued in 
March, 1975. 
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companies Dwning land subject to the Dfficials' regulation, and that 
LindenwDld public officials used strawmen to. mask their purchases 
Df prDperties which were Dffered for sale by the BorDugh, the 
value Df which cDuld be enhanced by the officials' acts. 

The public disclosure of what the Commission called "the 
democratic p"ocess of local government operating at its worst" 
sounded a warning to communities throughout New Jersey. The 
principal S.C.!. recommendation stemming from this hearing was 
for enactment of a tough conflict of interest law to apply uniformly 
on a statewide basis to all county and 'municipal officials. Legisla­
tion meeting the S.C.!.' s standards is pending in the Legislature. 

The S.C.I. referred the Lindenwold probe records to the Criminal 
Justice Division which obtained State Grand Jury indictments in 
1975. Former Mayor William J. McDade and rea·l estate developer 
John Piper pleaded guilty to bribery and conspiracy charges on 
September 26, 1977, as their trial was scheduled to start. Former 
Councilman Artht,r W. Scheid was found guilty on three counts 
and former Councilman Dominic Stra12ieri was fMmd guilty on 
two counts after their trial concluded October 5, 1977. 

19. LAND ACQUISITION BY MIDDLESEX COUNTY* 

The Oommission received a series of citizens' complaints during 
the SpringDf 1975 about alleged overpayment by the Middlesex 
Oounty government for purchase Df certain lands for park purpose'S 
under the State's Green Acres prDgram. A preliminary inquiry 
by the Oommission indicated that overpayments had occurred and 
that faulty r~al estate appr,aisals and insufficient review Df those 
appraisals by the Oounty's Land AcquisitiDn Department and 
by the State's Green Acres unit were at the root of the problem, 

. AccDrdingly,·the Oornmissionauthorized' afull~scaleinves,tigation 
of the Oounty's land acquisition procedures' and related Green 
Acres' program practices. Public he,arings were held in Trenton 
in January, 1976. 

This inv~stigation, aided by two of the most re>spected post­
appraisal reviewers in the State, determined that the Oounty did 
Dverpay by ,some 100 per cent above fair market value for certain 
parcels of land in the Ambrose and Doty's brooks area of Piseata-

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1975. 
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way Township. Both experts found that the appraisals made for 
each of the parcels overstated the value of the lands, largely because 
of failure to account adequately for phY'sioal deficiencies in terrain. 
The investigation determined that the, Administrator of the 
County"s Land Acquis,ition Department had approved the land 
purchase prices with virtual rubber stamp consent from the Bomd 
of Freeholders. The Administmtor not only consiootly solicited 
a s,tream of political contributions from the appraisers doing 
business with the County but also, according to the sworn testimony 
elf two of those appraisem, solioited suoh payments from the two 
at a time when they were being awarded appraisal work for the 
County by the Administrator. Additional testimony at the hearings 
indicated ,serious de,ficiencies and confusion in the appraisal re'view 
function of the State Green Acres progmm, which supplies match­
ing funds for county and local land pnrchas,es fo'r park purpose'S. 

As a result of the S.C.I. 's exposures in this investigation, the 
Administrator of the County's Land Acquisition Department was 
suspended from his post, and the County governm,ent moved to 
institute a more stringent process of checks and balances on land 
acquisition procedures. Even before the S.C.I. completed its 1976 
hearings, arrangements tL'ere being formalized voluntarily by state 
officials, alerted by the Commission's findings, for the transfer of 
the Green Acres appraisal and post-appraisal review and control 
system from the Department of Environmental Protection to the 
Department of Transportation - one of ma'YI/Jj general and tech­
nical recommendations by the C om,nission that were implC'mented 
as a reS1,/t of the inquiry. In addition, data from the S.C.I. investi­
gation was referred to prosecutorial mdhorities. 

The Middlesex Grand Jury investigated the conduct of the 
Middlesex County Land Acquisition Department and its former 
Adminstrator as a result of allegations raised during public hear­
ings by the S.C.!. On September 27,1976, the Grand Jttry returned 
a presentment in which it said that while it f01md "no provable 
affirmative criminal act" by the Administrat01", "it does feel that 
his actions in that capacity indicated an insufficient expertise and 
lack of concern to perform his office in the best interests of the 
citizens of Middlesex County." The Grand Jury also noted that 
he solicited and collected political contributions from the same 
people with whom he dealt as departmental administrator. 
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The Grand Jury's presenf1nent noted that" since the public 
hearings of the State Commission of Investigation in January, 1976 
the Freeholders of Middlesex County have already taken substan­
tial corrective actions." However, it urged in addition that the 
office of Land Acquisition Adm·instrator be "completely disassoci­
ated" from solicitation a12d collection of political contributions 
and also that" all of the county officials who control the award of 
contracts be forbidden from soliciting contributions from in­
dividuals over whom they have the power to award contracts." 
The presentment also recomm·ended that the post of departmental 
administrator be filled on a nonpartisan basis. 

20. PRE-PAROLE RELEASE IN THE PRISIONS* 

The Oommission during 1974 and 1975 received complaints alleg­
ing abuses of the pre-parole release programs of New Jersey's 
correctional system. The programs, aimed at the worthy goal of 
re-introducing inmates to society, included furloughs, work releases, 
education releases and community releases. Lengthy preliminary 
inquiries to evaluate the eomplaints indicated clearly to the Oom­
mission that the effectiveness and goals of the programs were being 
subverted by gross misconduct attributable to weaknesses in the 
operation and supervision of the programs. 

Accordingly, the Commission by resolution in September, 1975, 
authorized a full investigation. The probe extended into 1976, 
with public hearings being held during May and June of 1976. 
Principal disclosures at the hearings included: 

• Falsification of furlough and other types of ap­
plications to gain premature entry into the release 
programs. 

• Establishment of favored status for some inmates 
and a resulting system of barteringf Or favo,rs,ihchid= 
ing monetary exchanges among inmates. 

• The ease with which work, educational and other 
releases could be ripped off because of insufficient 
supervision in hands of the inmates themselves. 
• The intrusion of a barter-for-favors system for the 
transfer of inmates from one to another of the various 
penal institutions. 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation Eighth Annual Report. 
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As the Commission stated publicly, its probe and hearings were 
aided substantially by Ann Klein, the former Commissioner of 
Institutions and Agencies who is now Commissioner of Human 
Services, and by Robert J. M'ulcahy, sd, the former Deputy Com­
missioner of Institutions who, as the first Commissioner of a new 
State Department of Corrections, initiated major reforms of prison 
furlough procedures. These changes included elimination of 
inmate supervision of the furlough program and the provision of 
funds for non-inmate control of it, as the Commission had recom­
mended. Mr. Mulcahy, who became Chief of Staff to Governor 
Byrne, later commented to a. news reporter: "The S.C.!. investiga­
tion was a high-class, h·ighly professiona·l job. It was done in a 
positive fashion. The effect was really to help the department 
correct p,-oblems rather than simply expose them." 

In addition to these reforms that followed the Commission's 
inquiry into furlough ab"ses in the prisons, a series of indictments 
and arrests resulted after the Commission referred its facts a,nd 
public hearings transcripts to the Attorney General and other 
appropriate prosecuting authorities. 

The Attorney General announced in January, 1977, the indict­
ment by the State Grand Jury of five former inmates of Leesburg 
State Prison on charges of escape in connection with alleged 
fraudulent obtaining of f'trloughs from the prison. The then 
Criminal Justice Di'uision Di"ectar Robert J. Del Tufo said the 
indictments charged the five defendants "bought" furloughs from 
fellow inmates who had been 'ntilized as clerks by the prison system 
to process forms, records and other paper work that enabled 
inmates to qualify for furloughs. 

The State Grand Jury also indicted a since-dismissed clerk of 
Trenton State Prison for false swearing and perjury as a result 
of her testimony on pri.son furlo'ngh abuses d,,,"ing the Commis­
sion's p,-ivate and public hearings. A glaring ab"se involving the 
ex-clerk was the utilization of a bogus co,!rt opinion to obtain a 
substantial reduct'ion in the prison sentence-and therefore the 
premat,we release-of one inmate, Patrick Piz1do, known to law 
enforcement authorities as an underling of Anthony (Little 
Pussy) Russo, the seashore mob figure. This disclosure at the 
S.C.l.'s hearing led to the im'mediate "eincarceration of Pizuto, 
who was subsequently indicted for murder and on federal bank 
fraud charges. On Dece'rnber 8, 1977, S'tperior Court Appellate 
Division dismissed as moot Pizuto's appeal from his reincarcera­
tion. 
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21. THE NEW JERSEY MEDICAID PROGRAM* 

In December of 1974 Governor Brendan T. Byrne requested the 
State Commission of Investigation to conduct an evaluation of 
New Jersey's system of Medicaid reimbursement. Also, at that 
time, the New Jersey Attorney General's office announced that it 
was probing the alleged interests of Dr. Bernard Bergman in New 
Jersey nursing homes. Later, that office set up a special section of 
its Enforcement Bureau to deal specifically with criminal activities 
and fraud in the area of reimbursement to nursing homes and other 
providers, a unit which has obtained many indictments. In January, 
1975, the Governor announced the formation of a cabinet-level 
committee to study the problems of Medicaid reimbursement for 
nursing home care. That committee issued its report on November 
13, 1975, and certain recommendations relating to property costs 
reimbursement reiterated suggestions initially made by the S.C.I. 
on April 3, 1975, in the S.C.I. 's first report on nursing home reim­
bursement. The New Jersey Legislature also created a committee 
to examine nursing homes in January of 1975. That committee, 
chaired by then Senator John Fay of Middlesex County, examined 
the quality of care in New Jersey nursing homes receiving Medi­
caid reimbursement and other aspects of the program. 

The extent to which this $400 million-a-year program of health 
care for the poor was under simultaneous investigation by the 
Commission and various other agencies indicated both the com­
plexities of the various functions involved and the degree to whicb 
they were misused and a:bused at great public cost. 

During the course of its probe, the Commission reported to the 
Governor on an update basis from time to time~an operational 
pattern based on the premise, later substantiated, that the social 
and financial cost of apparent widespread exploitation of the huge 
health care delivery system would warrant urgent interim statu­
tory and regulatory correction. Aehronological. charting of the 
entireinvestigalionsllows the Commisslonfook the following 
public steps: 

• NURSING HOMEs~An initial public report by the S.C.I. on 
April 3, 1975, exposed serious flaws in the rental and related phases 
of New Jersey's metbod of property cost reimbursements of Medi­
caid-participating nursing homes, one critical conclusion of which 
was that inflated reimbursement schedules allowed unconscionably 
inflated profits to greedy entrepreneurs at heavy cost to taxpayers. 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation 1975, 1976 and 1977 Annual Reports. 
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• CLINICAL LAllORATOlUES--A formal public S.C.I. pronouncement 
on April 23, 1975, detailed dangerously poor conditions and pro­
cedures in certain independent clinical laboratories and recom­
mended swift legislative enactment of a pending remedial measure. 
Subsequently the Legislature approved and the Governor signed 
the highly effective Clinical Laboratories Act. 

o CLINICAL LABoRAToRIEs'-The Commission conducted in June, 
1975, a series of public hearings that effectively exposed how Medi­
caid was being bilked by some independent clinical laboratories 
through false billing' and kickbacks practices, among other evils. 
The S.C.I.'s probe and recommendations in this vital area a1so 
were followed by major reforms. The Medicaid manual regulating' 
independent clinical laboratories was drastically revised to bar 
abusive activities and the maximum fee schedule for reimbursing 
laboratories was reduced by 40 percent. Taxpayer 'savings from 
these improvements alone were estimated at $1.4 million for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 1976. 

• NURSING HOMEs**-The final S.C.I. dissection of nursing home· 
property cost reimbursement under Medicaid provisions em­
phasized so-called "money tree" plucking by unscrupulous 
operators through facility selling-financing-Ieasing-back schemes. 
that excessively ballooned the value of the facilities. A two-day 
public hearing in October, 1976, corroborated the gross abuses 
revealed in the S.C.I.'s inquiries into the nursing home property 
cost reimbursement sy'stem phase of its Medicaid inquiry. 

• "MEDICAID MILLs"t-How some doctors, dentists and pharma­
cists corrupted the system was dramatized by the Commission's 
expose of over-billing and over-utilization pracrtices that bared a. 
loophole potential for far wider abuse of the Medicaid system. 

• MEDICAID HosPITALst-Utilizing its staff of accountant-agents, 
an S.C.I. team made an in-depth assessment of the emerging 
rate-regulating and Medicaid reimbursement process affecting 
hospitals with substantial Medicaid in-patient care. This was done 
to determine the adequacy, if any, of fiscal controls by -supervisory­
public agencies to insure the system's efficiency, economy and. 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1975. 
** See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1976. 
t See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation Annual Report for 1976. 
+ See Report of New Jersey State Commission of Investigation on Hospital Phase at 

The Medicaid Program, April, 1977. 
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integrity. Such an unusually complex analysis of methods of 
controlling hospital costs was vital because of the huge impact of 
such cos,ts on the Medicaid program. 

A number of statutory and regulatory steps were taken in re­
sponse to the revelations of abuses and exploitation of the Medicaid 
system following-and even during-the Commission's invesUga­
tions, interim reports and public hew rings. These actions included 
the Legislature's enactment of a New Jersey Clinical Labotatory 
Improvement Act, as well as a law increasing maximttm penalties 
for bilking the Medicaid program through overbilling and false 
billing. 

Many of the Commission's recommendations. were expeditiouslu 
adopted by the Division of Medical Assistance and Health Services 
as a result of the S.C.I.' s clinical laboratory hearings. 

The inflated fee schedule - which facilitated the "taking of 
financial indtwement type payments from some labor'atories to 

. their physician customers - was redttced 40 per cent. Language 
in the program laboratory manual was tightened to clearly pro­
.~cribe the practice by which small laboratories sttbcontracted par­
ticular tests to large reference facilities and then, in many instances, 
marked-up the cost by more than 300 per cent and reaped windfall 
profits at the taxpayer's expense. The mamwl now explicitly 
prohibits the breakdown of automated component-part tests into 
separate procedures and the submission of bills to Medicaid for 
each to the end that a lab might receive between $60 and $80 for a 
profile which costs less than $3.50 to perform. A computer system 
for analyzing and screening group tests was developed. The Divi­
sion took steps to insure that laboratories fully identify the pro­
cedures performed and for which payment is requested. In this 
regard, a requirement was imposed upon Prudential (the fiscal 
intermediariJTtliat·.···alliJltiiiniDe···itemizea··iiiaetiiiI: Agfjrefjiite 
billing - which was effectively used by some labs to mask improper 
requests for reimbursement - is no longer tolerated. The Division 
adopted a hard line with respect to the flow of inducement type 
payments in any form whatever between labom-tories and physician 
customers. 

The Division cured a glaring weakness by employing more staff 
expertise in clinical laboratory processes and procedures. The 
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Commission recommended that a panel be formed to draft an 
equitable competitive bid system for laboratory work based upon 
awards of a regional nature. In furtherance of this recommenda­
tion, the Commission testified against impractical rest"ictions of 
federal law before several Congressional bodies. 

At the conclusion of the second phase of the Commission's 
probe of g'-oss profiteering in Medicaid nursing home facilities 
in October, 1976, the Commission urged that Senate Bill 594, re­
quiring full public disclosure of those who have financial or other 
business interest in nursing homes, be snbstantially strengthened 
to eliminate practices that siphoned health care dollars from 
patients to speculators. This bill, which had passed in the Senate 
on April 12, 1976, sttbsequently was amended on the Assembly floor 
in accordance with the S.C.I.'s recommendations, according to a 
spokesman for the Legislatttre's Joint Nursing Hom·e Study Com­
mission which drafted the o·riginallegislation. The revised measure 
then cleared both the Assem/lly and the Senate in Pebruary ana 
April, 1977, and was signeei' into law by Governor Byrne on 
September 29, 1977. 

. 

Additionally, subsequent to the issttance of its Pinal Report 
on Nursing Homes, the Commission persisted in its efforts to have 
New Jersey's system of property cost reimbursement to Medicaid 
nursing homes restructured along the lines st'ggested by the Com­
mission in that ,-eport. Commission representatives met on several 
occasions with high-rankng officials of the appropriate administra­
tive agencies. Those agencies have accepted the Commission recom­
mendation, which will show a savings of as m1{.ch as $6 1nillion per 
year, according to the Director of the Division of Medical Resist­
ance and Health Services. 

'Certain unusually alarming aspects of the Com1nission's com­
plicated Medicaid inquiry, such as the clinical laboratory abuses 
and the evils of the" m.edicaid mills," helped to spur corrective 
efforts. In fact, the clinical laboratory phase was a pioneering 
probe that revealed for the first time the hard facts about unscrupu­
lous ripoffs of the system. These disclosures resulted in the ap­
pearance of Commission officials before the U.S. Senate Committee 
on Aging and the U.S. House of Representatives Subcommittee on 
Oversight and Investigation. U.s. Senator Harrison A. Williams 
of New Jersey, reporting his "dismay" over the "widespread 
fraud and abuse am·ong clinical laboratories," told the Senate in. 
remarks entered into the Congressional Record: 
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" With respect to the latter, I am pleased to note that the Aging 
Committee gives great credit to the New Jersey Commission of 
Investigation and to our New Jersey Department of Institutions 
and Agencies (now Department of H,.man Services). The Legis­
lature and the Department responded with prompt implementation 
of corrective measures." 

In October, 1978, Joseph H. Rodriguez, then the Chairman of 
the S.C.I., and Executive Director Michael R. Siavage testified 
before the H01!Se Select Committee on Aging in Washington on 
the topic of "Organized Crime in Medicare and Medicaid." Mr. 
Rodrig1.ez said the Commission's Medicaid investigations had 
demonstrated the feasibility" of more vigor01!s program surveil­
lance activities by the Federal Government to protect the integrity 
of the funding" of Medicaid and Medicare programs. Mr. Siavage 
testified that the" Federal surveillance effort and Federal a1.diting 
of publicly f1tnded programs are being outdistanced by the 
capability for organized, collusive fraud." The Commission later 
provided upon rcqu,est backgrmtnd and investigatory ,naterial 
from its Medicaid inquiry to fiscal officers and analysts of the 
Federal Health, Edu,cation and Welfare department charged with 
improving program integrity controls. 

22. ORGANIZED CRIME AND CASINO GAMBLING IN 

ATLANTIC CITY* 

After New Jersey voters authorized legalization of casino 
gambling in Atlantic Oity on Nov. 2, 1976, and at the request of 
Governor Brendan T. Byrne, the Oommission directed an extensive 
surveillance of organized crime activities in that shore resort 
region for the purpose of taking "public action in order to make 
constructive recommendations to the Governor, the Legislature, 
artdthepeople···for···theeffectivecontrol· arrdpolicirrgofcasino 
g'ambling." As a part of this investigative effort, the Oommission 
issued on April 13, 1977, a 167-page report to the Governor and 
the Legislature highlighting 57 detailed recommendations for an 
effective control law that would" thwart the infiltration of casinos 
and related services and suppliers by organized crime. " Upon 
passage of the Oasino Gambling Oontrol Act, the Oommission 

* See New Jersey St~te Commission of Investigation Report on Casino Gambling, April 
13, 1977; also Ninth (1977) Annual Report; also the Commission's Report on the 
Incursion of Organized Crime into Certain Legitimate Businesses in Atlantic City, 
January 12, 1978. 
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characterized it as an acceptable statutory base upon which to 
build even stronger controls in the future. 

By the Summer of 1977, the Commission's monitoring of 
organized crime activities linked to the development of the new 
gaming industry in Atlantic City had uncovered enough evidence 
of an actual intrusion of legitimate business to warrant public 
hearings in keeping with the S.C.I. 's statutory mandate to alert 
and inform the citizenry. The Commission's inquiry had revealed, 
as was later confirmed publicly, that O'rganized crime-in addition 
to its historic interest in casinos and allied services-was alsO', 
already, penetrating certain other legitimate businesses that had 
not been a target of legislative restraints and over which regulatory 
controls, where they existed at all, were inadequate and only 
casually enforced. 

The Commission conducted four days of public hearings, in 
August, 1977, duriug which a succession of witnesses, including 
organized crime figures, revealed through testimony the machin­
ations of mobsters in such legitimate enterprises as cigarette vend­
ing machines, bars, restaurants, hotels and gambling schools. The 
hearings confirmed the cooperative interest in casino gaming 
spin-off action 'by Angelo Bruno, boss of the Philadelphia-South 
Jersey crime family, and cohorts of the Gambino crime family of 
the New YO'rk metropolitan area. Bruno himself was a witness. 

These hearings disclosed: 

• Strong-arm expansion into the cigarette vending 
business in Atlantic City and vicinity by a mob­
contrO'lled company, John's Wholesale Distributors 
of Philadelphia, and its affiliates. How this company's 
business tripled, with the aid 'of its "super sales­
man," Bruno, was a public hearing highlight. 

• The mysterious financial flimflam surrounding the 
Casanova Disco in Atlantic City,' including a $40,000 
"hole-in-the-wall" cache that became part of a maze 
of cash and bank check transactions. 

• An attempted $12 million purchase of the Hotel 
Shelburne by a Gambino relative hiding behind an 
alias while trying to enlist a reputable Philadelphia 
businessman to "front" for the acquisition. 
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• The attempt of a crime figJure known as "Mus­
tache Mike" to muscle into a prospective Atlantic 
City casino gambling scho.ol. 

On January 12, 1978, the Commission submitted to Governor 
Byrne and the Legislature its "Report and Reco=endations on 
the Incursion by Organized Crime into Certain Legitimate 
Businesses in Atlantic City." This report emphasized a recom­
mendation to strengthen the licensing and disqualification pr.o­
cedures under existing law so as to more effectively prohibit the 
a(]ceptance of applicants with organized crime backgrounds for 
licensure as cig'arette vending agents of the state or as .owners and 
.operators .of ventures under jurisdiction of the Alcoholic Beverage 
Control laws. 

Based on the Commission's recommendations, two bills subse­
quently were sponsored by Senator Steven P. Perskie, D-Atlantic. 
These measures, similar to legislation also introd2wed by Assembly­
man Michael J. Matthews, D-Atlantic, would strengthen the licens­
ing req2birements of the State Division of Taxation for those 
involved in the cigarette industry and of the Alcoholic Beverage 
Commission so as "to impede organized crime from using various 
subterfuges to camouflage the act2tal ownership and control ot 
legitimate business." The statement ot purpose attached to the 
bills also pointed to strengthened and expanded provisions for dis­
qualification ot applicants for licensure. Senator Perskie's legis­
lation passed in the Senate and is pending in the Assembly. 

23. PRIVATE SCHOOL ABUSES OF SPECIAL EDUCATION 

FUNDS* 

During the early part of 1977, increasing complaints and alle-
.. gationswerecirculating-throughoutthe,statewbout--alleged-abuses 
by non-public schools of New Jersey's $26 million Speeial Educa­
tion pr.ogram for severely handicapped children. The State Com­
mission of Investigation Was the recipient of a number of such 
complaints. The Commission's evaluation of these allegations 
quickly developed into an extensive investigation. 

By June, the Commission's staff was pursuing fresh rep.orts of 
questionable activities if not outright misconduct by some non-

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation Report on Misuse of Public Funds 
in the Operation of Non-public Schools for Handicapped Children, May 18, 1978. 
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public schools. Inquiries in the field were supplemented by in-depth 
auditing of actual expense budgets and hundreds of bank checks, 
vouchers, purehase orders, and miseellaneous business records. 
These inquiries and audits confirmed the misuse of large sums of 
money that had been earmarked for the edlwation of more than 
5,000 children too se,riously handicapped to be served by the public 
s'chools. 

The Special Education progra:rp. about which the Commission 
was concerned is a critically significant part of New Jersey's 
overall effort to impl'ove the lives and minds of unfortunate chil­
dren. Most of the'se children (some 'attend spe,cial residential 
schools out-of-state) were enrolled in 125 non-public day schools 
and 25 non-pUblic residential schools throughout New Jersey. Such 
schools were required to o,fferwppropriate educational programs 
for one or more of a dozen categorized handicaps-eduea,ble or 
trainable mentally retarded, perceptwally impaired, orthopedically 
handicapped, neurologically impaired, visually handicapped, audi­
torially handicapped, eommUJllcation hand"capped, emotionally 
disturbed, chronically ill and multiply handicapped. While the 
Commission's inquiry ooncentra,ted on financial irregularities in 
certain non-public day schools, it also touched oil. questionable 
operations in residential facilities. 

The Commission held public hea,rings on January 19 and 20, 
1978, to expose the wrongdoing it had vermed in four out of six 
private schools on its investig,atory agenda. As then-Commission 
Chairman Joseph H. Rodriguez stated at the opening of the hear­
ings: 

The abuses of a few of these schools should not be' 
permitted to damage or destroy the reputation of the 
entire ,s}"stem or of the many dedicated people serving 
the handioapped ehildrenof onr state. 

Because we fen that the improprieties our inquiry 
uncovered should be halted a,s qnickly as possible, we 
decided they should be subjected to swift public ex­
posnre and swift ,oorrection-even a;s our inquiry into 
this complex and vital system continnes into other 
aspects. 

The Commission on May 18, 1978, issued its formal report to 
thE) Governor, the Legislature and the pUblic. The S.C.I. 's recom-
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mendations centered on its findings of inadequate staffing and 
malfunctioning of the Eduoation Department's Branch of Special 
Education and Pupil Personnel Services, the a;bsence of a clear, 
detailed list of allowable and non-allowa,ble priv'ate school expenses, 
inadequate record keeping and reporting requirements for par­
ticipating schools, 'and an inefficient rate-setting procedure. 

In brief, the recommenda,tions included: 

Establishment ofa more adequate s,tate ageney to supervise the 
finaneial re,imbur'sement of private schools for the handicapped, 
with snfficient staff to supervise all day, residential and summer 
programs and with at least fiv,e ,auditors who would be responsible 
for fiscal control and rate-setting; stipulation of non-allowable 
<losts to eliminate diversion of public funds for non-educational 
purposes; requirement of detailed reports to the sta,te control 
agency, including de,tailed expense budget forecasts and itemized 
a;ctllal cost reports; promulga,tj,on of tuition rates by June 15 based 
on budget estimates adjusted by adual costs submitted by May 1; 
offsetting of a prior year's excess revenues by the following year's 
reduced tuition rates, and, in general, esta:blishment of rate-setting 
procedures that would assur,e provision of adequate services to 
handica,pped children for which the 'Schools are being reimbursed 
based on fair and reasonable ra,tes conducive to continuing quality 
programs. 

Several bills focusing on problems bared by the Commission's 
investigation and hea,.ings were introd1wed in the Legislature 
during 1978, d"ring the drafting and discussions of which the 
Comrnission maintained contact with appropriate legislators and 
legislative Commi.ttee aides. One measure that has been the s1tbject 
of most legislative discussions is Assembly Bill No. 1770, which is 
still inComrnittee. This measure contains some of the Com­
mission's recommendations. 

24. ABUSES AND IRREGULARITIES IN THE BOARDING 

HOME INDUSTRY* 

The Commission's investigation of abuses and irregularities in 
New Jersey's boarding homes focused on an industry consisting 
of an estimated 1,800 facilities serving upwards of 40,000 people, 

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation Report on Abuses and Irregulari­
ties in New Jersey's Boarding Home Industry, November, 1978. 
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most of whom are elderly and disabled. These boarding facilities 
were assigned to one ·of two categories-licensed or "unlicensed." 
The former group consisted of about 275 boarding homes under 
State Department of Health licensure. But the unlicensed category 
was further divided, the largest subgroup of which was subject to 
nominal registration and inspection by the State Department of 
Community Affairs. A smaller bloc came under local jurisdiction. 
Finally, an unknown number of facilities operated illegally, devoid 
of any controls whatsoever. 

The fact that more than 1,500 boarding homes were commonly 
referred to as "unlicensed" underscored the negative quality and 
lax enforcement of whatever standards that did exist for regulat­
ing and otherwise monitoring their activities. 

Of New Jersey's total boarding home popUlation, close to 10,000 
resided in the homes licensed for sheltered care purposes by the 
State Health Department. They lived in facilities that offered the 
most personal care and supposedly were subject to· the most 
stringent standards. However, despite tighter controls than were 
imposed on other boarding homes, some Health Department­
licensed facilities also were targets of harsh critiques during the 
Commission's public hearings. 

The remaining 30,000 boarding home residents were found in 
the so-called unlicensed establishments. Most of these places 
provided only room and board and could not legally offer sheltered 
care or other supervision. Since most of these boarding homes 
were registered with the Community Affairs Depa.rtment under 
New Jersey'.s Multiple Dwellings Law, they were subject to 
infrequent scrutiny by state or local inspectors. Moreover, since 
these inspections were mandated by a law that was not designed 
to provide guidelines for social services, they concentrated only on 
structural factors relative to public health or safety. Thus, such 
inspections iguored the overall adverse social climate in which 
many boarders found themselves. 

As the Commission emphasized, its primary concern throughout 
its investigation and public hearings was for the wellbeing of the 
most vulnerable of the human beings forced to su:bsist in a system 
that offered no solutions to the special problems that made them 
easy prey for unscrupulous operators. The Commis.sion's inquiry, 
therefore, centered on a multitude of boarders who, because of 
old age, blindness or other disabilities, were eligible for the Federal 
Social Security Administration's Supplemental Security Income 
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(8SI) benefits. Such SSI recipients were not only numerous 
among residents of boarding homes licensed by the State Health 
Department but comprised many of those residing in unlicensed 
facilities. 

The Supplemental Security Income or SSI federal system re­
placed a State of New Jersey welfare program for the aged, blind 
and disabled in January, 1974. However, the state, by agreement 
with the Social Security Administration, continued to contribute 
partial financial support of the elderly, infirm and improverished 
SSI populace in the form of allotments of varying amounts that 
are included in the monthly SSI checks issued to eligible recipients. 
At the time of the Oommission's hearings, the federally processed 
checks consisted of an SSI benefit of $177.80 as well as a state of 
New Jersey supplement of either $130.20 or $22.20. The higher 
state supplement was included in checks amounting to at least 
$308 that were mailed to eligible SSI residents in Health Depart­
ment-licensed boarding homes. The smaller state supplement 
was part of the federal SSI checks amounting to at least $200 that 
went to eligible residents of other boarding homes. As the Oom­
mission's public hearing record demonstrated, this difference in 
the size of SSI checks mailed to residents of licensed versus un­
licensed boarding homes fueled the greed of some operators. 

Oompounding the tragic problems besetting the boarding home 
industry was a proclaimed national and state policy of "de-insti­
tutionalization." This humane, progressive concept had as its 
primary objeetive the return to society of mental patients· found 
to be most capable of an enduring separation from continuous 
<lustodial confinement. However, aggressive implementation of 
"de-institutionalization" was marked by a failure to adequately 
prepare for what became too abrupt a transition from confined 
<lare for many former mental patients lacking sufficient self-reli­

. ance ... -As.a.result,the.state'sboarding . home population became. 
increasingly dominated by such boarders thrust with little or no 
follow-up attention from close custodial care into a mostly uncon­
cerned, unsupervised, uns.anitary and often unsafe community 
environment. 

The overall target of the Oommis'sion's investigation included 
hundreds of boarding homes of wide-ranging quality and size, 
oper.ating under various g·overnmental entities, and subject to 
disparate and conflicting laws ·and regulations-or no controls at 
all. Many operators were untrained for their tasks and, all too 
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often, "allous and greedy in the management of their homes and 
the treatment of their boarders. The day-to-day operation of these 
facilities was largely financed out of Supplemental Security In­
come checks mailed to eligible recipients at the boarding home 
where they supposedly (but often were not) re'siding. 

Because of iuwdequate ('and often the absence of) boarding home 
account books, registers and ,other records reflecting the flow of 
J1eveuues, costs and clients, the Commis,sion's 'staff aocountants 
had to reconstruct numerous financial profiles in order to ascertain 
the true extent of the mismanagement ·of these facilities· and the 
resultant abuses agaiust boarders that such mis,conduct generated. 
The facts exposed by such ;audits were confirmed 'and supplemented 
through field inquiries' by the Commission's special agents. This 
investigative team work revealed a wide gamut of irregularities 
and improprieties-the diversion of SSIchecks from boarders to 
the personal use of operators, charging of luxury ears, vaCiation 
travel and ,other personal expenses as business costs, an inordi­
nate use of cash in payment of boarding home bills without sup­
portive receipts, little or no accounting of personal funds doled 
out to boarders ell!ch month, excessive compensation to operators 
and to relatives of operators, use of unlicensed satellite facilities 
as way stations for bo,arder-transfers that improperly increased 
the cash flow into licensed homes of bigger SSI cheeks than war­
ranted, and the serving of ehe'ap, substandard food even while 
the operators netted disproportionately large pmfits. 

Because of the complexity of the issue's involved, the Commis­
sion was obliged to extend its public hearings through an entire 
week. In all, ,about 60 witnesses were que,stioned during the five 
public hearing days-Monday, June 26, through Friday, June 30, 
1978. Close to 200 exhibits were introduced. 

In a 260-page report is'sued in November, 1978, the Commission 
listed a score of recommendations to resolve basic problems causc 
ing the most serious abuses in the boarding home industry. De­
signed to expedite the development of more humane, secure and 
rehabilitative surroundings for elderly and infirm boarders, the 
proposals were submitted with a belief that they could be enacted 
and implemented realistically from the standpoint of available 
personnel and limited funds. 

The most important recommendation called for centralization of 
licensure and supervisory controls over boarding facilities. Since 
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the Oommission felt that social services rather than health services 
should be the primary (loncern, it proposed concentration of con­
trols in the Department of Human Services that were divided 
among three departments-Health, Oommunity Affairs and Human 
Services. 

The Oommission noted that its proposal would center licensing 
and monitoring obligations in ,a department which possessed the 
most expertise in the area of social services. Moreover, the De­
partment of Human Services, through its Division ,of Mental 
Health and Hospitals,(lontrolled the flow of de-institutionalized 
former mental patients from hospitals to the community. Such 
individuals made up most of the boarding home population whioh 
demanded special attention. 

The following summary of the recommendations illustrates the 
Commission's objectives and their order of priority: 

1. Jurisdiction 

~A two-tier licensure system under which all Boarding Homes 
will be regulated-Level I to cover Licensed Boarding Homes tor 
Supervisory Care, as defined, and Level II to include other licensed 
Boarding Homes. 

-All regulatory jurisdiction to be transferred to the Human 
Services Department. 

-'('he Sta,te must certify residents who need supervisory 
sermces. 

-Imntediate identification of the whereabouts of all SSI recipi­
ents with mental health disabilities . 

.. ... -Animmedialesurvey-topj·ovidestatisticalda,taon_availability 
of Boarding Home space and profiling problems partimdarly rele­
vant to former mental patients entering boarding hornes u;nder 
de-Vnstitutionalization. ' 

-The Health Care Facilities Financing Authority should pro­
vide low interest financing for increased private construction of 
boarding facilities. 
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II. Regulatory Recommendations· 

-Regulations of Licensed Boarding Home operators should 
contain complete, clearly stated definitions of their duties, partic­
ularly with regard to any responsibility for st'pervisory and 
personal care. 

-A licensed operator must notify appropriate a'Uthorities when 
a boarder residing in his facility is in need of their specialized 
services. 

-Operators must qttalify for licensure. Operational deficiencies 
demonstrating a qttalification weakness should require immediate 
remedial training. 

-The new Boarding Home Bt.reau shall staff and maintain 
annual and spotcheck inspections to assure compliance with all 
regulations. 

-The present manual of standards should be expeditiously 
revised with particular attention to prescribed penalties. 

-Operators of Licensed Boarding Homes must keep adequate 
records on standardized forms reflecting every aspect of specific 
functions, and in It,ll accordance with generally acceptable acconnt­
ing practices. 

-Hearings on violations of regulations by operators must be 
expedited and implemented according to proper legal standards, 
particularly in the use of reports by inspectors as evidence and in 
testimony by inspectors ba.sed on their surveillance. 

-A definitive, efficient internal system should be established 
within the Boarding Home Bureau for the flow of the complaint­
violation process. 

-Trasferring boarders from one place to another without the 
boarder's permission must be prohibited. 

-If a Boarding Home m1~st be sht,t down for any reason, ample 
advance notice must be given to affected residents or an assigned 
social worker. 

-An operator who employs a resident at the facility must notify 
state authorities in advance of the conditions of employment, in­
cluding compensation and type and hours of work. 

-An operator must provide diversified recreational activities 
for boarders. 
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III. Mental Hospitals 

-PriM" to the release of any patient from a Mental Hospital, a 
written determination must be made as to the degree of supervisory 
or personal care such patient reqttires if any. 

-If a person released from a Mental Hospital is inappropriately 
placed due to circt!mstances beyond the control of either hospital 
or placement authorities, the Boarding Home Bureau and the 
County Welfare agency mt!st be notified in writing of this action. 

-When a person is released from a Mental Hospital to a licensed 
Boarding Home, a formal, written agreement must be signed by 
the Boarding Home operator stipulating the operator's commit­
ment to providing the services that conform with the hospital's 
determination of the patient's needs and the available community 
services to which the resident should have access. 

-M ental Hospitals in the process of discharging patients must 
include available C om.munity M ental Health Centers in their net­
work of required contacts in behalf of such individtwls. 

IV. Welfare Agencies 

-County Welfare agencies must ·maintain files for each SSI 
boarder in their area, assign a social worker, maintain contact 
and record and notify authorities of any change in a resident's 
needs or address. 

-Interim toelfare assistance paid to prospective SSI boarders 
should be at levels adequate to maintain the supervisory care or 
other services certified as necessary. 

-Model programs should be developed, utilizing volunteers to 
improve social services for boarders. 

V. S ocidiSecurityAdmin2sirlifton 

-A formal procedt!re must be worked out between the Depart­
ment of Human S81"vices and the Social Security Administration 
whereby reimbursement can be assured when mental hospitals 
provide interim assistance for a boarder who is a prospective SSl 
recipient. 

-The investigative procedure utilized by field workers must be 
augmented by training in surveillance tecluniques desiged to 
identify problems in program integrity. 
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ORGANIZED CRIME PROGRAM 

INTRODUCTION 

Under the S.C.I. enabling law, the Commission is required to 
cooperate, advise and assist the Attorney General, County Pros­
ecutors and other law enforcement officials both in New Jersey and 
elsewhere in the performance of their official duties. With regard 
to organized crime, the Commission began in 1977 a program of 
heightened liaison with the Attorney General'8 office and with 
county prosecutors. The Commission's work with regard to 
prosecutorial officials extended to the counties of Atlantic, Burling­
ton, Camden, Essex, Hudson, Paflsaic and Union and through 1978 
eventually reached almost all of the remaining countie,s of the 
state. The Oommission has realized for some time that the office 
of the county prosecutor is often the most accurate and complete 
repository of information regarding organized criminal activity 
within each jurisdiction. Oooperative sharing of information and 
expertise has been an invaluable aid to the Commission's various 
activities while aiding these local offices with particular regard to 
priority and approach. Communication and cooperation with the 
Division of Criminal Justice of the Attorney General's office, addi­
tionally, have served to enhance the Commission's understanding 
of the level of the statewide organized crime problem. At the same 
time this Iiaison effort has added the resources of the Commission'8 
public hearing and confrontation powers to the centralized anti­
organized crime arsenal. 

1978 UPDATE 

During 1978 two hig'h ranking members of the DeCavalcante 
crime family, John Riggi and Louis Larasso of Linden, were 
subpoenaed to appear before the Commission. They remain under 
subpoena for continuing testimony. 

On October 30, 1978, Joseph Paterno, who had fled New Jersey 
to avoid S.C.I. pr'oces,s, was served with a subpoena when he re­
turned to New Jersey from Florida. Paterno unsuccessfully con­
tested the validity of that subpoena in the Appellate Courts of the 
State. 
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J os,eph (Bayonne Joe) Zicarelli was originally imprisoned in 
January of 1971 after being held in civil (lontempt for refusing to 
anSwer questions befDre the S.C.I. about organized crime despite 
being granted immunity from prosecution. In June Df 1971, 
Zicarelli began serving a 12-to-15 year sentence after being con­
victed of bribery and extortion. In July of 1977, having been 
paroled from that sentence, Zicarelli was immediately returned to' 
civil confinement. Alleging, as with Gerardo Catena, that he too 
had demonstrated a resolve never to testify, Zicarelli filed an 
action in ,superior Court requesting that he be released from (lon­
finement. In dismissing Zicarelli's petition on October 10, 1977, 
Superior Court Judge George Y. Schoch stated: "Mr. Zicarelli's 
re,solve not to testify (before the S.C.I.) has not really been tested." 
Since December of 1977 Zicarelli has been releas,ed from custody 
on a series of court-ordered medical furloughs. 

Carl (Pappy) Ippolito of Trenton and Morrisville, Fa., had long 
been a fugitive from justice. After litigation in ,superior Court 
Appellate Division and the New Jersey Supreme Court, Ippolito 
was directed again to appear before the S.C.I. After he failed to 
do so, the State Grand Jury issued an indictment charging him with 
criminal contempt. The Division Df Criminal Justice subsequently 
obtained the extradition of Ippolito from Pennsylvania. 

Also during 1978 the New Jersey Supreme Court ruled that the 
trial courts had acted correctly in determining that the continued 
civil confinement of Ralph (Blache) Napoli and Louis Anthony 
(Bobby) Manna had lost its coercive effect. Manna had served 
five years and Napoli six years. 

Manna in Augllst, 1978, }ost a Superior Court suit to expunge 
from the records his conviction in 1957 on a charge Df unlawful 
po,ssession of an illicit beverage. The State Commission of Investi­
Il'ation submitted its objection to the requested expunction in a 

.. letter to· Assistant·· Prosecutor Vincent .... J. LaPaglia ... of. Hudson 
County. In this letter, the Commission recited a history of its 
experience with Manna. The letter said that the S.C.I. "has been 
interested in obtaining the testimony of Mr. Manna with respect 
to organized crime and racketeering in the State of New Jersey 
since April of 1972 and is still interested in obtaining his testi­
mony .... While it is true thatMl'. Manna has not been convicted 
of a crime since 1956, it is also true, in the opinion of the Com­
mission, that his handling of his affairs during the time period from 
1956 to the present has not been done with circumspection. His 
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contumacious conduct, which continued until one year ago and, in 
effect, continues even now, certainly cannot be viewed rus an indica-
tion of rectitude." , 

Superior Court Judge Joseph P. Hanrahan, in his opinion deny­
ing Manna's petition, included the following observation: 

Finally, the Court must determine what, if any 
probative value is vested in the fact that the Peti­
tioner refused to be sworn and testify before the 
S.C.I. Counsel on behalf of Petitioner, in ,his letter 
of May 11, 1978 (supplimental to his brief) theorized 
that, "it may well be that the Petitioner so honors 
his right of privacy or so cherishes his autonomy that 
the moving force in his refusal to testify is a morality 
which is beyond the comprehension of his accusers." 
Counsel then characterized his client's refusal to be 
sworn, as an act of resisience to the power ,of the 
State similar to the defiance of Socrates, Christ, 
St. Thomrus More, and Thomas Paine. As a matte,r .of 
his,torical accuracy, the Court must note that each of 
the esteemed gentlemen to whom Petitioner has been 
likened by Counsel, chose to answer his accnsers. 
Counsel's characterization of Petitioner's violation of 
U.s.C.A. 18 :1951 & 371, racketeering and conspiracy 
to commit same, together with his subsequent refusal 
to appear before the S.C.I. and answer questions 
relating to racketeering and organized crime within 
the State of New Jersey is indicative of a lack of 
moral change or rectitude as required by N.J.S.A. 
2A :164--28, and as such the Prosecutor's objection to 
Petitioner's motion is a material one. 

The Appellate Division of Superior Court subsequently upheld 
Judge Hanrahan's decision. 

In addition to a continuing confrontation .of higbr ranking 
members of organized crime, the Commission also construes its 
statutory mandate to compel investigations into organized crime's 
impact upon various facets of life in New Jersey. The investiga­
tions of the affairs of the City of Long Branch and the infiltration 
of Atlantic City were two such investigations. During 1978 the 
Commission launched additional probes into other" generic" areas 
of organized crime infiltration and these inquiries are ongoing at 
this time. 
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INVESTIGATION OF ABUSES OF NEW JERSEY'S 
ABSENTEE BALLOT LAW 

INTRODUCTION 

The Commission's public hearings in late 1978 on absentee ballot 
abuses and irregularities climaxed a prolonged series of inquiries 
by the S.C.I. and other state and county 1mv enforcement agencies, 
and by the press, in numerous localities of the state. These in­
vestigations oonfirmed a widespread and flagrant disregard of a 
law that, although enacted with the intention of safeguarding the 
sanctity of the ballot for eligible voters unable to go to the polls 
in person, was so ambiguously constructed as to invite fraud at 
every step of the absentee voting procedure. So inadequate walS 
this law-as probes by Attorney General John J. Degnan's office 
and by varrous county prosecutors particularly illustrated-that 
effective prosecution of obvious violators was practically im­
possible. The statute's contradictions, restrictions and loop­
holes defied the most vigorous prosecutorial attempts to indict 
and convict individuals who coerced voters to advance their own 
personal and political ambitions, who impro'perly distributed and 
collected absentee votes in bargain-basement fashion, and who 
forged signatures and altered ballots. Because of the persistent 
statutory impediments, Attorney General Degnan launched with 
the S.C.I. a cooperative effort to expose the:s8 violations to public 
scrutiny. It was felt that, by utilizing the Oommission's traditional 
fact-finding and public hearing functions, resultant public aware­
ness of and concern about the situation would spur enactment of 
essential reforms . .A!s the Attorney General's Criminal Justice 

. Diredor Edwin H ... Stier ... l1tter ()pse:rYeCl : 

We have conducted many investigations over the 
years into a:bsentee-ballot fraud. The results have 
been frustrating for us because we have found that 
certain difficulties which we have experienced, prac­
tical difficulties in conducting these investigations 
and legal difficulties in developing viable criminal 
prosecutions, have resulted in shocking practices 
going unpunished. The practices that we have found 
... have demonstrated a consistent lack of protection 
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for one of the most fundamental rights of the public; 
that is, to cwst his vate in secret. 

It's beca,use ,af the practices that we fauud, the 
pattern afactivity that we have uncavered aver the 
years, that the Attarney General has taken such a 
strang interest in trying to. bring abaut reform, and 
we felt, after very careful analysis af the informatian 
that we had and the number af alternatives available 
to. us, that the mast impartant vehicle far translating 
the infarmatian which we had faund into. actian, legis­
lative action ta'ward refarm, wauld be to. assist the 
S.O.I. in its efforts and to bringa,baut specific pro-. 
pasals in that way, and public awareuess af the seri­
ausness ·af the prablem in the hape that the gaps in 
the law that we have been experiencing and labaring 
under will be closed. 

THE S.c.I. INVESTIGATION 

The Oammis·sian's prabe, which extended into. many areas of 
the state, uncavered numeraus incidents of misuse and abuse af 
the law. Under the supervisian af Oaunsel David L. Rhaads, the 
Oammissian's investigatars faund evidence af irregularities that 
ranged widely-beginning where the absentee baUai procedure 
begins, with the applicatian far a ballat, and disrupting with in­
creasingly adveme impact each succeeding step, including: 

-The apprav,al or rejection af the ballatapplicatian ... 

-The return of the ballat to. the vater who has declared he 
cannat vate in persan ... 

-The marking of the ballot by ,the intended absentee vater 
(ar same ane ostensibly autharized to. "assist" such a vater) ... 

-The submissian af the campleted ballot to. praper electian 
officials ... 

-And the certificatian af the campleted ballat as a valid vate 
to. be cast ,and counted. 

In certain lacalities an almast total emasculatian of the absentee 
ballot law accurred. The inves,tigation thus centered on thase 
municipalities where the abuses were not only numerous and grass 
but also representative of particular patterns af miscanduct that 
were widespread in practice. These representative municipalities, 
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the Co=is'sion decided, should be subjected to the spotlight of 
examination at publi{l hearings. Such target localities included: 

-North Bergen, in Hudson County, where ballots were steamed 
open and altered for partisan reasons, where illiterate voters who 
could only sign ballots with "X" marks were vulnerable to po­
litical trickery, where politically aligned "messengers" obtained, 
distributed, collected and otherwise process'ed ballots without legal 
authorization, where blank ballots and absentee voting registra­
tions were illegally processed en masse to the ballot box, and where 
a local politician's home was c{)nverted into clandestine center 
for mishandling' votes. 

-Fieldsboro, in Burlington County, where a candidate for 
mayor, who was losing by 2-1 at the polling pla,ces, was re-elected 
by means of an almo'st 100 per eent a,bsentee ballot vote, where 
a zoning variance was offered in return for a vote, where politieal 
candidates solicited and distributed absentee votes in their own 
behalf, where many so-called absentee voters confirmed the falsity 
of sworn excus'es for not voting in person by their presence in town 
on election day, and where a candidate himself appaTently marked 
a number of the rubsentee ballots. 

-Sea Isle City, in Cape J\fay County, where summer residents 
legally domiciled outs,ide the state were falsely represented as 
having signed and certified the absentee ballots that were processed 
to a eountdown in a manner unknown to them, and where such 
ballots were cast with choices marked by other than the certified 
voters. 

As previously noted, because of the difficulty of criminal prose­
cution under a statute that stymied such law enforcement activity, 
various prosecutorial agencies joined with the Commission in 
developing an expose of the abuses. The result of this cooperation 
with the Commission by the Attorney General's staff (including 
UeputyAtt()meyGeneI"IlLDIla.:rlcsfS'apienza"",afonnerS.C.r.coun­
sell and by county prosecutors, was a pl'oductive sharing of in­
vestigatory files and tasks. This inter-agency .cooperation demon­
strated the unity of support within the law enforcement community 
for the implementation of legislative reforms. 

47 



THE PUBLIC HEARINGS 

The Co=ission's hearings took place on December 14 and 15, 
i978, in the Senate Chamber of the State House. Joseph H. Rodri­
guez, then the S.O.I. chairman, opened the hearings with a state­
ment that acknowledged the investigatory support of prosecutorial 
agencies and described the inadequate statutory framework gov· 
erning the absentee voting process. He emphasized the importance 
of preserving the integrity of the electoI'al sys,tem at a time when 
many citizens were questioning the credibility of the democratic 
process. Mr. Rodriguez added: 

Of course, the Oommission's most important objec­
tive with respect to its investigation and this pub1ic 
hearing is the strengthening of the democratic 
process, of which the privilege ·of casting a secret 
ballot in an honest election is an integral part. We 
all know tha;t there is increasing citizen skepticism 
of our democratic institutions and of the credibility 
of govermnental conduet in general. Perhaps the 
most sinister threat to the preservoation of our demo­
cratic .g,ociety, in this atmosphere of public distrust 
of govermnent, is the abuse of our election system. 
One symptom of what's wrong with the electoral sys­
tem is our target here-the apparent inability of 
government to guarantee the inte,grity of absentee 
voting procedures under law. 

The siguificance of this most basic 'objective of the 
Oo=ission has been underlined in recent ye-ars by 
an increasing disinterest in voting by thousands of 
citizens who are eligible to vote. This unfortunate 
trend was highlighted by a survey undertaken by 
Secretary of Stake Donald Lan of election results 
throughout New Jersey during 1978, a year in which 
the refusal of many registered v,oters to exercise their 
privilege at the polls was particularly marked. This 
survey pointedly demonstrated that scores of elec­
tions were -climaxed by unusually close decisions by 
those who did exercise their privilege to vote for 
competing congressional, county and municipal candi­
dates. In fact, Mr. Lan's report disclosed that out 
of 197 municipal elections where the winner's margin 
was by less than 100 votes, 74 contests were decided 
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by 25 votes or less and 15 by five votes or less. In 
fonr of these municipal contests, a single vote was 
pivotal. 

We all hope, naturally, that this light-vote trend 
,Won't persist but its confirmed presence these days 
imposes a greater responsibility than ever before on 
the Legis1ature and on responsible election law offi­
cials to safeguard-and improve-the process. The 
.fact that so many elections were decided by· such small 
margins dramatizes the importance ·of 'assuring that 
every vote that is cast is a legal vote, untainted by 
tampering, coercion or other abuse-s. 

If we can achieve effective reforms in even one 
section of our notoriously deficient statutory controls 
over elections-that governing the privilege of voting 
in absentia-it will signal :lJt least a start toward re­
-building the credibility of our election system as a 
whole. 

THE TESTIMONy-First Day 

Criminal Prosecution Difficult 

The. Oo=isHion's first witness was Oriminal Justice Director 
Stier, whose division spearheads the prosecutorial activities of 
Attorney General Degnan's deprurtment. Mr. Stier's most signifi­
cant co=ents concerned the difficulty of obtaining criminal in­
dictments against individuals who flouted the absentee ballot law. 

He particularly no,ted the misuse of absentee ballots in North 
Bergen during the course of a Oongressional election some years 
ago, an election in which improperly proce'ssed absentee votes 

'playedsuchapivofalrolethiitiiscaridiilerupted.ThiilepiilOde, 
which he characterized as "one ·of the most shocking examples of 
absentee ballot abuse," occurred in a municipality that was to 
become the subject of the Oommission's initial public hearing ex­
pose. Mr. Stier recalled that his staff personally interviewed 1,499 
individuals whose so-called absentee. votes were at issue in that 
election contest and that the state Grand Jury during 1976-77 
devoted six months to evaluating the testimony of 30 key witnesses. 
Of this case, whiClh was supervised by Deputy Attorney General 
Sapienza, the former S.O.I. counsel, Mr. Stier observed: 
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I want to state for the record before this Com­
mission and for the public that no investigation that 
has been conducted by the Division of Criminal 
Justice has received more intensive effort on our part, 
both from an investigative standpoint and from the 
standpoint of researching the law to try to develop 
viable theorie,s of prosecution. 

At the end of our investigation, and as the result of 
very intensive legal research done by Mr. Sapienza 
and others in the Division of Criminal Justice, we 
came to the conclusion that we could riot develop a 
vi!lJble criminal prosecution on the b!lJsis of the evi­
dence that we had uncovered or the state of the reeord 
that existed. 

That didn't mean that we didn't find abuses. That 
didn't mean that we didn't find practices that were 
reprehensible. Indeed, we did. And you're going to 
produce testimony from that investigation in these 
hearings which, I think, will support the conclusions 
that we reached. 

Obviously, the basic co.nclusion that we reached was 
that the absentee-ballot laws needed reform. The 
basic problems in the investigation that we conducted 
were that the elements that the statutes required us to 
prove were such that we had to obtain the cooperation 
of somebody who had been directly involved in the 
fraudulent activit.y itself. One of the most difficult 
thing's for a prosecutor to do, as this Commis'sion well 
knows, is to obtain the cooperation of somebody who 
himself is a part of a conspiracy to bring about some· 
unlawful objective. 

If we had a legislative scheme that would permit us 
to use the testimony of independent witnesses, 
wit.nesses who were victims of the offenses rather 
than those who participated in the offenses, them­
selves, the investigation would be much less difficult 
to conduct; the credibility of the witnes'ses that we 
could produce would be much stronger, and I think 
criminal prosecution could be had in a majority of 
these cases. 
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One af the practical difficulties in canducting an in­
vestigatian af absentee-ballat fraud after the vates 
are caunted is that it's very difficult to' identify the 
vater whO' filed a particular absentee ballat. The 
certificatians have been remaved fram the ballats. 
And even thaugh we may came to' the canclusian 
that handwriting an a number af ballats is similar, if 
nat identical, even thaugh we may find a series af 
erasures, even thaugh we might find ather indications 
af fraud ar miscanduct, it becames extremely difficult 
to' identify a particular ballat with a particular voter 
to' a paint where we can recanstruct how that ball at 
reached the stage that it did when it ultimately comes 
intO' aur hands. 

The "Immunity" Loophole 
Mr. Stier said the majar abstacle to' successful prosecutian af 

apparent lawbreakers was a pravisian in New Jersey's electian 
statutes preventing prasecutars fram extending mare than a 
"self-executing transactianal immunity" to' witnesse's. He said 
this type af immunity-a braader farm than the "use immunity" 
which the U.S. Supreme Court has declared to be a mare sufficient 
safeguard against vialatians af the Fifth Amendment pracess­
claaks a witness with sa pratective a shield in electian law cases 
that it disrupts rather than advances an effective system of 
criminal justice. 

He described ha'w this immunity pra'lision blcacked his affice's 
probe af the North Bergen absentee ballatscandal. Transactianal 
immunity, Mr. Stier nated, not auly "immunizes the persan whO' 
testifies fram prasecutian an the transactian abaut which he testi­
fies" but alsO' bars pr'aseeutian af such a witness "even thaugh 
we may came up with independent evidence to' show the involve-mentoffhaIindlVldualincrimlnarfrC;hvitj<'j················ ......................................... . 

Mr. Stier painted aut, far example, that "if a clever defense 
attarney forces us into a pasition of having to bring the party 
intO' a grand jury without knowing precisely what that persan is 
going to' say, that per san can come befare the grand jury and 
admit persanal participatian in election fraud and need never fear 
that there will ever be a prasecutian based an the transactian about 
which he affeJ1s testimany." 
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Other Statutory "Gaps" 
Based on his frustrating pursuit of suspected criminality in the 

Oongressionalelection scandal, Mr. Stier outlined three areas in 
which" gaps in the laws" obstructed his staff's North Bergen 
probe: 

One is thea:bsence nf restrictions on who can trans­
mit an absentee ballnt from the board of elections to 
the voter; that is, how it gets there. If there is a knock 
on your door and standing outside your door is a 
worker for a particular .candidate, somebody who is 
closely associated with an administration that you 
have some reason to' fear, the opportunity fo'1' intimi­
dation is obvious. The impression is left that some­
how this person has arranged to provide you with an 
opportunity to vote and 'Somehow that person is going 
to find out how you voted, and you may suffer adverse 
cOIlBequences if yo'u don't vote in the right way. 

There is an absence of restri0tion on who can be 
present when the vote is cast; what can be communi­
cated to the voter at that time. Obviously, permitting 
somebody who has some self-interest in the way the 
vote is cas't to be present at the time the vote is cast 
provides temptation and provides an opportunity to 
influence the vote. 

And, last, and in many ways most important, there 
are no restrictions on the way in which the absentee 
ballots are returned ,to the board of elections from the 
voter. We found example after example of tampering 
with vote;s after they left the voter and before they 
get to the bnard of elect~ons; examples of such activi­
ties as steaming open the outer envelopes, theoreti­
cally to check to see that the certification has been 
properly executed. But once that envelope gets into 
the hands nf somebody who would steam it open to 
examine its contents, we can't expect that the temp­
tation to examine the vote, the temptation even to 
change the vote, wnn't be satisfied. 
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Law Promotes Fraud 

Mr. Stier pointed out that while the election laws "surround 
the polling place with a great deal of 'protection," including in­
sulation against "improper influence" o'Ver those who go to the 
polls to vote in person, these same laws heighten uhe potential for 
fraud in the absentee voting process. "The casting of an absentee 
ballot," said Mr. Stier, "is not surrounded with that degree of 
protection and insulation." He continued: 

Under the laws the way they are written, oppor­
tunities fo'r influence, subtle or overt in some cases, 
are part of the way in willch the system has come to 
operate. I don't think it was intended to operate that 
way when the laws were written, bnt the practices 
that have developed over the years have permitted 
opportunities for intrusion into the casting of the vote 
itself by people who have motives, who have strong 
inclinations to influence the casting of that vote in a 
particular way. 

And we found in the course of our investigation 
that the kind of people who use absentee ballots are, 
in many cases, the kind of peop"e who are most sus­
ceptible to influences; to pressure's. People who cast 
absentee ballots are very often alone; very often iso­
lated from the rest of the community; in many cases 
they are ill or infirm. Senior citizens have come to 
use absentee ballots, many of whom live in public 
housing where fear is generated by having an absen­
tee ballot brought to their home by somebody that 
they believe, that they have reason to believe, has the 
ability to influence whether they can continne to re­
side in that public housing. 

We found that the casting of absentee ballots and 
the way they are handled is surrounded with subtle 
fear and intimidation, a,s the result of which respect 
for the entire electoral system is reduced and serious 
questions are raised about the integrity of the elec­
toral proces'S itself. 
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"Competing" Social Objectives 

In conclusion, Mr. Stier said he recognized ,the presence of justi­
fiable but" competing" social objectives. On the one hand, he said, 
under the democratic system 'Of g'Overnment candidates f'Or elective 
office and their supporters must have "an adequate oppor-tunity 
to campaign effectively. " He was by no means suggesting the 
enactment of any legislative impediments in this respect-but, 
he added: 

We also feel very strongly, and have been moving 
toward a system of providing easy access to voters to 
polling places, to votN registration and to absentee 
banots in the hope that thak will encourage more 
people to exercise their right to voie, and we cer­
tainly don't intend to urge this Co=ission to recom­
mend a system that would create more bureaucratic 
impairment of the ability 'Of a voter to cast his vote. 
But, on the '0the,r hand, those public policies have got 
to be balanced against the serious opportunities for 
fraud and improper iniluence which now exists under 
the absentee-ballot scheme under which we operate. 

It seems to me that there are ways of developing 
crerutive -legislation which will balance those com­
peting public inter8S'ts and achieve a state where not 
only can voters ha"8 access to the r,ight to vote and 
cast their votes_ in secret, but we can be absolutely sure 
or, at lerust, reasonably sure, much mO,Te sure than we 
are n'Ow, that the votes aren't being tampered with 
and that voters aren't being intimidated into voting 
in a way that they would o,therwise not. 

I don't want to offer this Commission at this point 
specific reco=endations, because I think that that 
would be premakure. I have tried to point up the gen­
eral areas of coucern that we have. -We will be more 
than willing to cooperate with the Co=ission and 
its staff in making more specific re(lommendations at 
the appropriate time. 

I wish t'O urge the public to view this problem for 
what it really is: _ 

A serious intrusion into one of the most fundamen­
tal rights that all of us has, into the very integrity 
'Of g'Overnment, aJlld it ought to be dealt with ou that 
basis. 
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The Absentee Voting Process 
To provide an adequate public hea6ng record on which to base 

recomniendations for legislative and regulatory reforms, the Com­
mission first asked an expert witness to describe the way the ab­
sentee ballot' process is implemented. This witness was Joseph 
Brady, who is bo,th the Superintendent of Elections and the Com­
missioner of Registrations for Hudson County. Although his 
tenure as County Superintendent of Elections dates back to 1966, 
his previous tasks also involved the implementation of election 
laws as far back a:s 1947. At the time he testified, Mr. Brady was 
president of the New Jersey Association of Election Officials. 

David L. Rhoads, who served as chief counsel during the Com­
mission's hearings, a:sked Mr. Brady to demonstrate step-by-step 
the process by which a registered voter votes in absentia: 

Q. N ow, Mr. Brady, with particular reference to ' 
absentee balloting, assume I were a registered voter 
in New Jersey and I wanted to vote absentee. How 
would! go about semlring-let's say, the first step in 
this process, what would it be? 

A. Initially you would have to make an application 
for the absentee ballot. 

Q. And where would I get an application? 
A. An application can be secured from the munici­

pal clerk, the (lounty 'Clerk, my office. 
From various locations in the county you could 

se(lure an absentee-ballot application; municipal clerk, 
county clerk, which is the prime source, the county 
clerk, the-my office has them. Any office that does 
business in elections would halVe an application. 

Q. Fine. So, in other words, as I see it, then, 
they're ava{ilable pretty much from any source? 

A. Right. 

Q. Is there any receipting for an absentee-ballot 
application? For instance, if I were to go in and pick 
it up from, let's say, the co~!nty clerk, wotlld I sign 
anything? 

A. None whatsoever. 

Q. How many of those would I be allowed to have? 
A. Hundreds. 
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The Initial Step-the Application 
Co,unsel Rhoads displayed an exhibit of 'an enlarged civilian 

absentee ballot application form to clarify Mr. Brady's testimony, 
Anyone seeking ,to vote in ,absentia is required to file such an 
application. The £orm ,contains Slix acceptable reasons for absentee 
voting, requiring the ,applicable reason to be checked. The reasons 
include being out of state on ele(ltion day, being temporarily or 
permanently ill or physically disabled, ,observing a religious holi' 
day, res[ding at an educational institution, or because of the "na' 
ture and hours" of employment. Those who eheek the reason of 
permanent or total disability, Mr. Brady sa[d, automatically re­
ceive absentee ballots for future elections. This is the only ex­
ception to a requirement that an application for such a ballot be 
filed for each election. Having filed far an absentee ballot, the 
witness further noted, an applicant can not then vote in person 
at the polls even if the ,circumstance that cllJused him to apply 
evaporated by election day. An absentee ballot applieation can be 
obtained in a number of ways, the witness explained. The I0'08e­
ness of this procedure"as later witnesses were to reveal, led to 
a number of abuses. 

The application forms, Mr. Brady said,could be obtained in 
'person,eould be mailed to the applicant or could be transported 
to him by an "authorized messenger." The witness was asked for 
more details on the messenger procvision: 

A. If you're sick or confined, then you can have a 
messenger pick up an absentee ballot for you, bring 
the application filled out and signed by the voter to 
the county clerk's office. Usually the messenger will 
wait around till it's verified and appr'oved. He'll take 
it back to the eounty clerk's office and pick his bal­
piek the ballot up and deliver it to ,the voter. 

Q. All right. 80 that authorized messenger, then, 
at one time or another would come in possession of 
my ballot; is that so? 

A. That'8 right. 

Q. Is there any provision, at least, on the face of 
this application that tells the voter who must be the 
authorized messenger? 

A. None whatsoever. , 
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Q. In other words, then, as I understand it, I could 
use a neighbor or, intact, I could use a candidate?" 

A .. That's right. 
Q. And that'candidate, if he were to take that apc 

plication down to the county clerk, presumably would 
be given my ballot; is that so.~ 

A. That's right. 

* * '*' 
Q. Well, let's go back to delivery. Assume I'm a 

voter and, for one reason or another, I don 'twant to 
go down the county clerk's office, so I give-

A. All right. 
Q. --it to someone, neighbor or someone, and he 

delivers it for me . 
. A. Right. 

Q. Is there anythng invalid about that process?: 
A. None whatsoever. 
Q. And if this person were to bring my application 

into the county clerk, would he have to sign or nota, 
rize anything down there-- ' 

A. Nothing whatsoever. 
Q. --showing he brought mine in? 
A. Nothing whatsoever. 
Q. Now, if you move down, it says, "Print or tYPe 

your name." "Sign your name as it appears in Reg­
istry Book." 

Now, what are they "eferring to when they say the 
"Registry Book"? 

A. That's the registration form that you sign 
initially when you register to vote, because a compari, 
son is made of the signature here against the signa; 
tllreiIli the registif book: And if it agrees,they 
stamp the registration form with a red A and that, 
precludes you from voting in the polling place on elec­
tion day. 

Q . With respect to this line, which reads "A utho-. 
rized Messenger" below it, who signs that? 

A. Either the voter or the mes,senger. 
Q. Either one? 
A. Either one. 
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Q. So it I were to sign it as the voter and Plbt 
down, tor instance, your name as my messenger, and 
you took that down to the county, there is no signature 
of you on this application, is there? 

A. None. 

Q. And would you be, in the natl.ral course of 
events, challenged by anyone at the county? 

A. None whatsoever. 

Q. With regard, then, to this area, if I were to 
write in your name and someone else took it and repc 
resented themselves to be you, they'd get my ballot; 
isn't that so? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Well, again, have you studied this portion at 
the absenteecballot application with a view toward this 
problem area? 

A. I would suggest that the voter and the messenc 

gel' both sign it. 

Q. In other words, the voter might say something 
to the effect that" I am designating Mr. Joseph Brady 
as my authorized messenger," and I sign it as well as 
you? 

A. Right. 

Q. And that, of course, will allow a check, lase 
sume,--

A. That's right. 

Q. Well, sir, ,once you have the application filled 
out and it's handed in, and let's for a moment .excll.de 
the authorized messenger portion, I fill it out and I 
send it in, and assume again I have a valid reason 
ticked off. What's the next step? 

A. The next step is that it's compared with the 
registry, registration form. The form is stamped. 
The application is returned to the county clerk, and 
hemailstothevotertheballot.aninner and outer 
envelope, and in the primary election the names of the 
county committee persons. In Hudson, they're not 
printed on the ballot. The cost would be prohibitive. 
The voter is instructed to write their names in, or the 
candidates of their choosing rather, of the county 
committee. 
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Q. As a voter, if I were to go to the aounty clerk's 
office, would I be given my ballot? 

A. You would be given your banot, yes. 

Q. Is there any restriction in the statute that 
,actually dictates to the county clerk who it is that he 
must give that ballot to? By that I mean, assume I 
don't have an authorized messenger down there and 
yet someone else were to come into the county clerk 
and say, "Let me have Mr. Rhoads' ballot." W07~ld 
it be given to him? 

A. None what--not in Hudson it would not. 

* * »I< 

Q. Other than mailing it to the voter, how else 
,would it get to the voter? 

A. The only other way it would get out of the 
county clerk's 'office would be authorized messenger. 

Q. Well, Mr. Brady, as I look at this affidavit, I 
.see no provision to have that marked" Witness." 

A. I agree with you. 

Q. Is it then your suggestion that perhaps that 
should be put on there? 

A. I agree one-hundred per cent. 

The Ballot Certificate 

Counsel showed the witness an exhibit of the certificate that is 
attached to what Mr. Brady called the "inner envelope," or the 
envelope containing the blank ballot to be given in person, by mail 
or by hand-delivery by an "authorized messenge'r" to the pros­
pective absentee voter. The witness testified that there is no re­
'luirement that the voter himself fill out the certificate: 

Q. Now, with regard to this certificate, and again, 
this, of course, reduced to normal size would be at­
tached to an envelope? 

A. Right. 

Q. Now,it leaves areas to be filled in. Filled in by 
whom?' 

A. Anybody. 

Q. Anyone at all? 
A. Anyone. 
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Q. Doesn't have to be me as a voter; dqes it? n 

A. That's right. 
Q. It says, "I, (print your name Clearly)" 
A. Right. 
Q. As I understand. it, anyone could print my 

name? 
A .. Anybody. 

* * * 
Q. Then it says, "DO HEREBY CERTIFY, SUb­

jectto .the penalties for fraudulent voting, that Tam. 
a citizen of the United States," et cetera, gives the 
age requirement, residence requirement and time 
period in voting with respect to residency, mid then 
in bold print it says, "I am voting this ballot pttrsuant 
to application previously filed." What ani they re-
ferring to now? . 

A; The. initial application that we. had is the reason 
he received the ballot, and that's why he is voting this 
ballot; pursuant to reasons, out of state, ill, disabled, 
attendance of religion, school, university. 

Q. Now, asswme for a moment that I put down out 
of state and l'mup in Sussex County and I want to 
vote, and I know I can't get back to Trenton to vote. 
so I sign .my name and send in my ballot. 

A. But you are cove.red by another provision of 
the act that·says that,e.ve.n though yO'll intende.d to be 
out of state. and you are in the. state on ele.ction day, 
you must vote the absentee ballot. 

Q. Now, that's in Title 19? 
A. That's right. 
Q. However, it's not reproduced anywhere on the 

certificate, is it? 
. A. Nat on the farm, no. 

Q. Is it on the ballot itself? 
A. None whatsoever. 
Q. Was there any information sent to me, as an 

absentee voter, that would inform me of this provi~ 
sian? 

A. None whatsoever. 
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Q. So I assume, then, if I'm ignorant of that and 
I want to abide by the law, I'm not going to vote? 

A .. That's right. 

Q. Now, it said, "I marked the enclosed ballot in 
secret. I certify the foregoing to be true to the best 
of my knowledge and belief." It says, "Signature of 
voter"? 

A. Right. 

Q. The voter must sign that. Is that correct? 
A. The voter must sign that. 

Q. And then you drop down, "A blind absentee 
voter shall be entitled to assistance in the marking of 
his ballot and in completing and signing of the cer­
tificate. In such case the person providing such assist­
ance shall add on the face of the certificate," and then 
it says, "Voter assisted by"? 

A. Correet. 

Q. Now, assume for a moment I'm not blind, -­
A. Right. 

Q. --but for some reason or another I'm dis­
abled with regard to writing; I can't sign anything 
or mark anything. Well, is there any provision that 
allows me to have someone to help me? 

A. Not in the absentee voting law. It does at the 
polling place, but not in the absentee-ballot law. 

Q. In other words, if I were to go into a polling 
booth and I were unable to pull the levers, would I 
be allowed assistance there? 

A. Of anybody of your own choosling, the same as 
a blind person. 

Q . . But, on the other hand, if I am in my house 
with an absentee ballot, I am denied that assistance; 
is that so? 
. A. Y 011 are denied it, right. 
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Secrecy is Voter's Responsibility' 

In filling out the certification, the voter must declare that he 
marked his ballot in secret-but only the voter can be held re­
sponsible for the truth of that statement. Counsel Rhoads asked 
Mr. Brady about this: 

Q. Where you certify that YOt! voted in secrecy. 
At whom is that certication directed? 

A .. It would be to the county board. They're the 
ones-'-

Q. Excuse me. What I am saying is .. if that pro­
vision is violated, who's in trouble, the voter or the 

, person who looks over the voter's shoulder while he 
fills this out? 

A. Let's put it this way: I found out in investiga-' 
tions that the voter is of the opiruion that a ballot 
marked by an outside person is offering them' an as­
sistance in marking it and a public service to them. 
They don't 'see anything wrong in it. The voter 
doesn't today. 

Q. But the area that I am referring to, the secrecy 
area, that's dJirected at the voter, isn't it? 

A. That's right. 

Q. SO if I looked over your shoulder and saw you 
mark the ballot, I'm. not the one in trouble, according 
to that certificate, am I? 

A. No. 

Q. It's the voter? 
A. It's the voter. 

Q. I have this before me and it says, "Official Gen­
eral Election Ballot," and it lists various laws. Now, 
these laws, as I understand it, are directed to how you 
mark the ballot, et cetera. 

A. That's right. 

Q. SO that with regard to the areas that we just 
discussed, there is no instruction on here-­

A. None whatsoever. 

Q. --to help me as a voter, is there? 
A. None whatsoever. 
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· Q. Well, is there any flier oranythin.g of that na­
ture that's sent along with 'ny absentee ballot that 
informs 'lte of what to do, for instance, if I think I'm 
out of state and turn out to be in state? 

A. In the inner white envelope, which the flap cer­
tificate is detached to, is the instructions to the. voter. 
They're all one-line instructions and they're not 
broadened to an extent to include secrecy or how to 
mark it or anything else, write the names in. 

Q. SO, then, with regard to the areas that we 
talked about, if your application reason changes, there 
is nothing to tell me--

A. That's right. 

Q. --as a voter that I am able to vote anyway; 
is there? 

A. That's right. 

Q. SO, in effect, if I want to abide by the law, I 
disenfranchise myself? 

A. That's right. 

Next, counsel turned to the problem of getting the marked 
ballot back to the election officials: 

Q. Now, sir, assume you have now gotten Y01tr bal­
lot, which is before you. You fill it out and you mark 
it, and I'm staying away from authorized messenger 
for a moment. How do I get it back to the people who 
are going to count my ballot? 

A. Mail is number one; delivery is number two, 
which can be in volume or singly, or by the messenger 
returning it, or bringing it back yourself. 

Q. Now, ,noving down to the area where this is 
......... ....... ... ............................. . .... Cla,dressed . to, . a8s",,,, e .. foramPment[don 't .. mail .. this, 

for one reason or another, and maybe it's the reason 
that you don't provide me with a stamp. 

A. That's right. 

Q. And you don't, do you? 
A. No. 
Q. SO I've got to come up with the fifteen cents 

to get this back. Assume I don't want to do that and 
I hand it to someone and I say, "Will you pleflse drop 
this off at board of elections," and they do. Is there 
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North Bergen Practices 

The Oommission next focused its public hearing spotlight on 
the actual handling of absentee ballots in North Bergen. 

The first local witneS's was Charles G. Carrara, a township con­
struction official, who was accompanied by his lawyer, Samuel R. 
DeLuca of Jersey City. John R. Dillon, III, of Commission counsel 
questioned Carrara about his role in the North Bergen absentee 
ballot vote at the June, 1976, primary election. Mr. Carrara stated 
that he was active in the politica~ and civic life of North Bergen, 
as an elected Democratic county committeeman, a member of the 
township Board of Education, and an appointed member ,of the 
local AlcohoLic BeveTage Control. Board. He was familiar, he said, 
with Joseph Moceo, who was both township clerk and chairman 
of the Township Democratic organization, the eontroHing political 
bloc in the community. It was at Mr. Mocco's home where mueh 
questionable handling of certain absentee ballots took place. 

Under questioning by Corunsel Dillon, Carrara recalled that, as 
a County Committeeman during the 1976 primary election, one 
of his tasks was to assist in obtaining a.pplicat.ons for absentee 
ballots in his distmct. He was vague, howev8'r, on what hemeant 
by "helping" voters to get absentee ballots and his testimony 
was interrupted by the Commission Chairman: 

THE CHAIRMAN : I think the point is, Mr. Car­
rara, you solicited them, they didn't necessarily 
call fOT you. Is that the--

THE WITNESS: Oh, no; oh, no. Many of them 
would call me on the phone and say, "Charlie, I 
can't get to the poUs this particular election be­
cause"--

THE CHAIRMAN: Then there were two kinds; 
those thrut called you and those that you solicited 7 

THE WITNESS: Those who eaHed me and peo­
ple that I know that were inne8'd of them that I 
would normally go to. It was just a matter of 
routine. " 

Mr. Carrara did more than merely pick up application forms. 
Counsel Dillon questioned the witness at length about his activities 
after he obtained the applications for various would-be absentee 
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voters. The 'witness recalled that there was a problem about bal­
lots at the election. He (lontinued: 

Now, that particular election the Hudson County 
failed to send out the ballots on time through the mail, 
and when that weekend came ·a;round before the elec: 
tion, people that I helped get the application for and 
bring it down to the county clerk's offioe didn't re­
ceive their ballots and they caned me up. And they 
said, "Charlie, it's Friday afternoon. My haUot isn't 
here. I want to vote. I have the right to vote. I'm 
going away tomorrow. I'll be out of state," or "I'll 
be in the hospital. You told me to get-you told me 
that the ballot would be here, you know, within a 
"ouple of days, and it still hasn't gotten here." 

Q. SO did you deliver the ballot to them at that 
point? 

A. That's right. 
Q. I see. And were you designated On the certifi­

cation as the authorized messenger for those indi­
viduals, or this was merely a gesture on your part? 

A. No, I would say that partioular election it was 
a gesture of good will to get the ballot and bring it to 
them. Otherwise they weren't going to have the right 
to vote. 

Q. Okay. And you stated that you picked up bal­
lots after they had been cast. In other words, after 
the voter had .narked them you picked up the ballot 
again from their home. Is that correct? 

A. That's right . 
. '.Q. At any time in this process of picking up the 
ballots after they had been marked were you present 
aLthe time the voter marked the baUot? 

A. I don't remember. You see, another problem 
I have to say, I don't remember because, prior to June 
election, I was struoken down with a heart attack and 
I was under medication; I was in the midst of a matri­
monial problem at home, and I just can't remember 
anything as technical as that. . 
: Q. Okay. What did you do with the ballots after 
Y9U picked them up after they had been cast; where, 
did you take them? 

A.' What election are you talking about? 
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'Q. I'm talking about the June, '76 primary again. '.'[ 
A. After June, '76, primary that was a particular' 

differeni-a different procedure that. particular elec-
tion, only because the county failed to mail them out 
on time that I would have to piick up the ballots late 
at night, maybe Monday night or Sunday night, or 
even Tuesday, and get them down to the Gounty. I 
would drop them off at the clerk's home. 

Q. I see. By "the clerk's home," do you mean the 
home of Joseph Mocco? 

A. That's the clerk. 
Q. And where is his house located? 
A. On 80th Street off Kennedy Boulevard. 

Q. I see. How many ballots, approximately, did 
you take to Mr. Mocco's home? 

A. I don't remember. 

Q. I see. Well, was it more than five? Twenty? 
A hundred? 

A. It was more than five, but I can't, I can't re­
member exactly how many. Like I slaid, thai particu­
lar, that particular election you're talking about, it 
was a while ago and I had some problems that I just 
can't remember. 

Q. Was it more than fifty? 
A. I can't remember. 

Q. How many voters, approximately, do you have 
in your district? 

A. Nine-hundred. 

Q. I see. How many of those, if you recall, voted 
by absentee ballot? ' 

A. I just told you, I can't rememberhow many I 
brought Joe's house. Now you're asking' how many 
voted. T don't know. I don't remember . 

. Q. All right. Who directed you to take the ballots 
to Mr. Mocco's home? 

A. It was common sense because of the fact that 
the people didn't get the ballots on iJime and there wa~ 
the hours of business were eLosed. I had to get theTIl 
some p1a(le so the people could vote, so the common 
sense would be, bring them to the clerk's home. ' 
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Q. Was Mr. Moeeo'shome being used for Demo­
erati~ headquarters in the June, '76, primary? 

A. To answer your question, that's exactly what 
I'm going to do, like I said, I had-I was. in the hos­
pital early that spring with a heart attack, and I was 
using the home myself as a pbce to relax and recuper­
ate, just to get away from everything. 

To say it was used as a he'adquarters, I can't answer 
that question because people would come there that 
were friends of his, like myself, but I can't say it was 
a he'adquarters or it wasn't. 

THE CHAIRMAN : Well, you did do a certain 
amount -of functioning in that election that you 
are recalling. Now, the question is: Was Joseph 
Mocco's home used asa headquarters? Yes or 
no? 

THE WITNESS: I can't answer that. 

THE CHAIRMAN: All right. 

THE WITNESS: Because I don't remember 
whether that partieular election we were calling 
it a headquarters or weren't cailling it a head­
headquarters, you know. 

By MR. DILLON: 

Q. Was this Joseph Moceo's principal place of 
residence? 

'A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Over what period of time in the June, '76, 
primary were you delivering ballots to the home of 
Joseph Moceo? . 

A. I would take a guess and say that it had to be 
pos-sibly the Monday night before the, night before 
the election, because we couldn't get the ballots. Bal­
lots weren 't de~ivered to the ,"oter until, I think, Mon­
day. During the daytime I had to pick them up, get 
them all Monday night. So I would probably gues~ 
to say it was Monday night . 

. THE CHAIRMAN: Do you specifically recall that, 
every time you picked up and delivered a ballot" 
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to Joseph Mocco's home that it was during the 
time that the -office was closed! 

THE WITNESS: It was in the evening after 
work hours. You're talking about the daytime. 
During the daytime I was running aronnd pick­
ing up ballots from the people that voted, and 
then, when I had all my ballots collected, that's 
when I de-livered them to the clerk's home. 

THE CHAIRMAN: But there were times when 
you would pick up the ballots while the office was 
s-till open, but y;ou would wait till you picked them 
all up? 

THE WITNESS: That's right. Can I answer by 
say;ing, that's true. The office is located on 43rd 
Street. My district is on 80th Street, from 80th 
to 86th. I would collect all my ballots during the 
day, and then, when it was done, get them in. 

For me to pick up one ballot, say, on 86th Street 
and run down to 43rd Street and come back to 
86th Street again, because people weren't home 
or if I had to go to a hospital to pick up a ballot, 
it would be, you know, ridiculous. So you would 
pick them all up and turn them in all in one shot 
hoping you got done, you know, at a decent time. 

By MR. DILLON: 

Q. Did you have a set of keys to Mr. Moeeo's 
home? 

A .. I had a key. 

Q. I see. How many people had keys to Mr. 
Moeeo's home? 

A. Just me and him. 

Q. Did you unlock the home so that the election 
workers, or the people, the eomm.itteemen working 
on these absentee ballots, could gain entry to the 
home? 

A. I'd like to, rather than give you a yes-or-no 
answer, I would like to explain my answer to you, if 
it's all right. 
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Along with having permISSIOn to go into Mr. 
Mocco's home to relax and be a httle comfortable, I 
also helped Mr. Mocco out in a way that he was ill 
during that period of time, and he is an animal lover 
who ,had chickens, and dogs, and some roosters and 
rabbits, and I would go to the house every day to feed 
them, and, you know, go in the morning and normally 
in the evening,and that'B what the function was. 

Q. Mr. Carrara, I don't think you understood my 
q'l,lestion. 

Did you unlock the home tor the purpose ot permit­
ting the election workers or committee people to come 
in .and collect absentee ballots? 

A. I would go into the home with the purpose of 
feeding the animals. I recall, I think I recall, Fran 
Davison being there when I went in; letting her in. 
I don't know what her function was there. . 

Q. SO you lett the home open tor these people to 
come in? 

A. No, for Fran. 

Q. I see. Did you meet with Fran Davison at night 
or in the early morning hours, let's say, between 11:00 
p.m. and 3 in the morning tor the purpose ot unlocking 
the home so that she could gain entry? 

A. I would have to say absolutely not to the answer 
have I met with her at three o'clock in the morning 
or any ridiculous hours like that. Never. I recall 
going there at-I think I recall going there and Fran 
being there and asking me could she get in, she had 
some work to do, and I believe that was the reason 
for it. 

As far as meeting her three o'dockih the morning, 
it's absurd. 

Q. When you delivered the absentee ballots to Mr. 
M occo' s :home, what did you do with the,n? 

A. I put them there. I think I put them on the floor 
in a bag. I'm not sure. As I walked in on the right, 
there was a couch. I dropped them on the couch and 
I left. 
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Q. No one directed you to take those ballots there; 
you took them there, as you say, common sense? 

A. That's right, my obligation as a committeeman 
to get the vote in; allow the people to vote. 

Q. Who else was delivering ballots to the home of 
Joseph Mocco? 

A. I don't know. 

Q.Well, when you took the ballots to Mr. 
Mocco-' -

A. Excuse me. I would presume the rest of the 
county committeewtts, like myself, but I don't know 
any individuals. 

Q. When you took the ballots to the home, was 
anyone present in the home? Was anyone else there? 

A. I been there once, like I say, with the ballots 
that I brought them in. I think Fran Davison was 
there. I recall seeing he,r there. That's alL I don't 
remember seeing anybody else. 

Q. Did anyone tell you the purposes for which 
these ballots, and the other committee people as well, 
the purposes for which the ballots were being col­
lected at Mr. Mocco's home? . . .. 

A. No. L,ike 1 said, ~t was just co=on sense to, 
you know, the easiest, etts,iest thing for me to say to 
a voter is, "Oops, it',s four o'clock, we're going 'home. 
No more voting. You lost your right to v,ote." But 
being the type of person I am, ,and the rest of the 
committee are in North Bergen, you just keep work: 
ing, and working, and working and collecting them. 
And the co=on sense thing to do, being that point 
in time, being the office hours were closed, was to turn 
them in to Mr. Mocco's home. 

THE CHAlRMAN: Mr. Carrara, you keep rely­
ingon the co=on sense, taking it to Joseph 
MOGco's home. 

THE WITNESS: That's right. 

THE CHArnMAN: The question is, did you 
know, were you advised, or were you aware that 
there was something else being done with the bal-
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lots in Joseph Mocco's home other than using it 
as a drop before taking them to the clerk's office ~ 

THE WITNESS: No. 

By MR. DILLON: 

Q. Mr. Carrara, did there come a time when you 
went back to Mr. Mocco's home and collected these 
ballots tor delivery to the board at elections or the 
county clerk's office?' 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you recall how rnany ballots you took tram 

Mr. Mocco's home to the Administration Building? 
A. There were more than I brought, you know. 

I couldn't say. Maybe two· or three shopping bags 
full of ballots. I just can't rooaJl. 

Q. Well, can you approximate the number ot bal­
lots? Were there three-hundred? Were there five­
hundred? Nine-hundred? 

A. I would say it could have been two, two or three 
shopping bags. I have no way of knowing how many 
ballots would fit in a ,shopping bag. 

Q. When you went into Mr. Mocco's home tor the 
purpose ot delivering these ballots, did you see any 
ballots anywhere else in the home? 

A. No, I don't remember seeing .any. They could 
have been thC're, but not where I was standing. I 
<J.idn't see any. 

Q. What did you observe Fran Davison doing 
when you--

A. Busy typing. Not typing, writing or doing some 
kind of clerical work that I 'wasn't really concerned 
about. 

Q. Was Helen Peck there whenyQt, delivered the 
ballots? 

. A. I don't remember seeing her. 
Q. Was Denise Rannou there when you delivered 

the ballots? 
A. I don't remember seeing her. 
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Q. Was Fran Davison's husband there? 
A. I don't remember seeing him. I just remember 

seeing Fran. 

Q. Was Joseph Maceo there? 
A. No. 

Q. How is it that you know that Mr. Maceo wasn't 
present? 

A. Because I looked out of my eyes and I didn't see 
him. Like, if he was in front of me like you're in front 
of me, I say, yeah, you're here. 

THE OHAIRMAN: When you looked out of your 
eyes 1 

THE WITNESS: If the man was in the basement 
or a closet, I conldn't see him. If he was in the 
room where I was, I wonld have to say, no, I 
didn't see him. 

By MR. DILLON: 

Q. W11·. Carrara, wasn't Mr. Mocco at home re­
cuperating from surgery at this period of time? 

A. That's a good question. He was recuperating 
from surgery. He had this tremendous operation. 
Whether he was at home or at his mother's house, I 
never knew. 

Like, in Mr. Mocco'shouse, his bedrooms are down­
stairs, and my business was with chickens and, you 
know, going back and forth through the apartment; 
not down the bedrooms. So, I don't know if he was 
down there. He wag either in the bedrooms or at his 
mother's house, one of those two places. 

Q. I see. All right. With respect to the absentee 
ballots themselves, did you ever have occasion to make 
markings on the ballots? 

A. No. 

Q. Did YOt; at any tim.!; during the course of this 
process of delivering ballots to Mr. Mocco's home 
observe Fran Davison in the home steaming open 
ballots? 

A. No. 
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'i Q. Mr. Carrara, did you ever steam any ballots 
open? 

A. No. 
, Q. Did anyone ever ask you or instruct you to 
steam open ballots? 

A. No. 

A Key Witness 
A central figure in the handling of absentee ballots in June, 

1976, in North Bergen was Mrs,. France'S Davison, the next witness. 
She wasthe first to testify directly about certain abuses of the 
law, inCluding particularly the steaming open of a number of 
ballots. She was questioned as a witness who had been granted 
immunity by the Commission. A Democrat,ic county committee­
woman; she had supervised the "processing" of absentee votes 
at the h6I1le of Clerk Mocco, by whom she was employed as secre­
tary. At the 1976 primary e~ection she was re-elected to the Dem­
ocratic County Committee in her township. As' a county commit­
teewoman, she testified, she was her party's representative in her 
district;md "in line with that, when a Democratic party is running 
in any election, I will go out and solicit votes for the Democratic 
Party, ,and that includes everybody from the President all the 
way down, say, for myself." Counsel Rhoads: 

Q. Now, with regard to the election process, did 
YOtL have.an occasion to perform any function what­
sQever in the home of Joseph M occo dtLring the period 
iJ/this election? 
, ·:A..Yes. 

Q. What was it that you were doing in his house 
at that time? . 
. 'A:.A11right. Therewete many, many problems 

with absentee ballots. That was only one small aspect 
'of the problems. There were problems that the county 
had not printed enough ballots; had not printed bal­
lots correctly; was not aMe to mail ballots out to the 
people in time. There were many, many problems. 
, I used the house on 80th Street as a place for pe0ple 

to, bring their ahsentee ballots to me for submission 
t9 the county; also, to pick up ballots that the county 
did not have in time to mail. 
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. Now, do you .. want me specificallY togo into' ev.ery 
single thing from A to Z 7 '. , 

Q. Excuse me. 1 will ask a couple of qt!8stions. 
With respect to. picking up ballots, are you saying, 

from the home of Joseph Maceo, you asked people/o' 
pick up ballots? 

A. Yes. There were a large amount of ballots that 
the county was not able to mail. That was the second 
printing. They had to be deliver·ed to the vote,s .. 
Some of the people I (Jalled and asked them to pick 

•.. , up the ballots at the house at 80th Street for submisc . 
. .gion to the voters. . . 

Q. Well, for the record,the house on 80th Street.. 
is Joseph Maceo's home, is it not? . 

• • c . A. That's where he resides. 

_.i'··"" 

Q. That's where he resides. And, of course, he. 
was Democratic chairman at that time, was he nqt1 

A. Yes, he was. 
Q. Well, had he directed you to do this? 
A. No, he did not . 

. Q. Well, how did you get into his house, Mrs. Davi­
son? 

A. Oharlie Oarmra had the key. I asked Oharlie 
if I could use the house. 

Q. And Charlie let you into the house? 
A. Oharlie let me into the house. 

Q. Now, we have pe~ple coming to pick the ballot$ 
up from Joseph Maceo's home to, 1 presume, give/a' 
the voters. Is that correct? C 

. A. Yes. 
Q. Now, after the voters mark these ballots did any~' 

one pick them up from them? 
A. You mean from the voters 7 

Q. Yes. 
A. After they-yes. 

Q. What was done with them? 
A. They were brought back to the house. There 

was no time to mail them back to the county. They' 
were brought back to the house for submission to the 
county. 
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. Q. Particularly, the board of elections to be tallied? 
A. Yes. 
Q. And yet they're brought back to Joseph Maceo's 

house. Isn't that so? 
. A. They were brought back to the house on 80th 

Street because there was no time to mail. The county 
didn't have time to get the ballots mailed to the indi­
vidual voters. Ho'w cO'l]ld the voters mail them back 
to the coimty in time1 

Q. SO that it's fair to say, to your knowledge, at 
least, that you, nor anyone else, told a voter that 
"We're going to take them to the h01ne of Joseph 

· Mocco before taking them to the county," did they? 
A.· No, just that they were going to be taken down 

to the county. 

Q. Just as a point of reference, over how many 
days did this occur in the home 01 Joseph Mocco? 

A. In the June, '76, primary1 

Q. Yes. 
A. Tha,t's what you're asking me about, right. It 

started ona Friday night and ended on' a Monday 
night. . 

Q. SO Friday· to Monday you were aCtively engaged 
'in this process in Joseph Mocco's h01ne; is that so? 

A. Ye,s. 

Q. With regard to the bringing olthe ballots back 
to Joseph Moceo's home rather than to the board of 

· elections, why were they brought back to Joseph 
· Mocco's home? 

A, The board of elections is closed on Saturday 
and Sunday, to my knowledge. It's· not open. Also, 
there were an awful lot of ballots, as I meIltioned be­
fore, and they were brought down ultimately to the 
oonnty. . 

I don't understand your question, your infliction 
of the question. That's why--

Q. I'm asking, very simply, why are they brought 
back, other than the fact that it's a Saturday or a 
Sunday? Why are they brought back to Joseph 
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Mocco's hm~se? In other words, what was done with 
these ballots when they're in Joseph Mocco's home? 

A. I asked the peop"e to bring them back to me at 
Joseph Moceo's house, or the house on 80th Street, 
and I checked them over as far as the technicalities 
that the connty requires. 

Q. I have got an exhibit, and this blow-up of an 
envelope which is presumably to be mailed to the 
county board of elections, and in thlis example it so 
happens to be Mercer County. Are you referring to 
the address that .could appear up here? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you say you were checking these envelopes 
to make sure that the voter put in his address; is that 
so? 

A. Correct. 
Q. And you're telling us that, had the voter nqt 

put it in, it would be rejected by the board of elec­
tions? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Well, other than checking the address on the 
o.~ter envelope, what else did you do? 

A. Well, on the affidavits, the affidavit is very com­
plicated aJld many of the voters do not realize the 
complexity of it. A voter can obtain an absentee bal­
lot for a pe,rmanent dis'ability or for illne'se, whatever 
the illness may be. Many of the people check off the 
wrong reason as far as permanent disability or regu­
lar disability. I would check the affidavits as far as 
the correct reason. .Also, going back to the--

Q. If I may, I just want to interrupt you for, a 
moment here. ' 

THE CHAIRMAN: Earlier the.re was some iden-' ' 
tiiication of that document, and I think you're' 
making reference to it 'as an affidavit. Can you 
describe what that affidavit is that you're talking " 
about~ 

THE WITNESS: Miright. If I may, on the affi"' 
davit,as I call it, that's what it is, it's an affidavit, " 
it's the name 'and address of the voter; how long 
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· the voter lives at the present address; the reason 
.. 'for their applying for the absentee ballot during 

the June primary. Very complieated, because 
they had to declare themselves notollce, but twice. 
They had to sign, I belie,ve, twice on that that it 
was attached to the white, white envelope. 

By MR. RHOADS: 

Q. SO this wo",ld be what's commonly called a cer-
tificate? You refer to it as an affidavit? 

A. As an affidavit, yes. 

Q. Something a voter has to sign, in other words? 
A. Yes. 

Q. And you would check this affidavit to make 
sure that it was the sam·e as their application, the 
reason they put down to vote absentee, in the first 
place? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Well, how were you able to do that? How did 
you have their applications? 

A. Their applications I did not have. But before 
the applications are submitted to the county board of 
elections, you know, for the people to get, I made a 
list up of all the people. In ,other words, the appli­
cations that I had gotten down in town all for sub" 
mission to the county, I typed a list up of all the name's 
of all the people and their addresses who applied for 
an absentee ballot, and I put a re'ason next to it as 
to-you know, 1 would have been this, 2 would have 
been that. So that's how I was able to know whether 
or not that per.son--

Q. As I see it, then,You were able to gO down to 
the county clerk, obtain all the applications of voters 
in the Township of North Bergen and check their 
reasons why they were applying; is that it? 

A. No, no. You misunderstood what I said. The 
applications for the absentee balloi--

Q. That's what I said. 
A. --that was submitted to the township clerk's 

office for submission to the county, I typed a list up 
of the names and addresses; next to the list of names 

79 



and addres'ses, the reasons why. The applications 
were then submitted with this list, a copy of this list, 
to the county board of elections. I never saw the ap­
plications from that point on. 

THE OHAIRMAN: There was, then, a control 
factor between the time that the application left 
the v'oter to a place where you could make this 
list before it went to the board of elections; is 
that it? 

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry, Mr. Rodriguez. 

THE OHAIRMAN: Well, there was an intermedi" 
ate stop between the voter and the board of elec" 
tions-- ' 

THE WITNESS: Yes, yes. 

THE OHAIRMAN: --in his application? 

THE WITNESS: Right. In other words, -' -

THE OHAIRMAN: Long enongh for y'ou to make 
the list? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

By MR. RHOADS: 

Q. Well, having once had this list before you of 
reasons, assume now that you have got an affidavit 
before you and the reason isn't the same as what ap-, 
appears on the application for the ballot. What did 
you do? 

A. I would then put in the right rea;son. 

Q. SO you wouldJ change the certificate, ~s that 
correct, the affidavit? 

A. As far as the reason was concerned. 

Q. You would change it? 
,A. To insure that, right, that the vote counted. 
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Ballots Steamed Open 
A highlight of Mrs. Davison's testimony was her report on how 

access was gained to the ballot envelope and attached certificate 
or affidavit. Counsel Rhoads noted that "all the paraphernalia a 
voter l)as" is put ,into a large envelope for delivery from the voter 
to the county election board, "where they appropriately belong." 
In order for Mrs. Davison to get at the certificate, Mr. Rhoads 
said he 'assumed she had to open the (}uter envelope: 

Q. Well, how did you manage that? 
A. I steamed some of them open. 

Q. Where did you do that? 
A. I did that iu the kitchen on the house on 80th 

f5treet. 
::: 'Q.Well; had any voter at all told you, "Mrs.Davi­
son, I want you to ~heck 1ny b.allot. and make sure 
everything is okay"? . 

A. I don't remember at this point. 

Q. You don't remember whether (Jjny voter told 
'you to do that? 

A. I don't remember at this point. 

Q. Well, how many ballots are we talking about 
.in the home of Joseph Moeco over this course of three 
or four days? 

. A. There were a lot of ballots, an awful lot. 

Q. More than 500? 
A. Could be. Could be. 

Q. Well, now, you would steam, open the outer 
envelope in those cases which you had to, and I'm 
.assuming. Were there some that you didn't have to 
'steam open? 

A. Some of them were not sealed. 

Q. They were unsealed? 
A. Some of them were unseaJed. 
Q. Well, had you told any of the people to pick up 

the ballots from the voters unsealed? 
A. No. 
Q. By the way, who Wid tell these people to pick 

11,p the ballots from the voters? 
. A. I don't understand y(}ur question. What do you 
mean~ 
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Q. The people that went out and got the ballots' 
from the voters and brought them back to Joseph 
Mocco's house so that you could have them to steam 
them open, who told these people to do that? ' 

A. Well, I told them they could bring the ballots 
back to the house for submission to the county. I 
told you that before. 

Q. Well, was Charles Carrara one of those per" ' 
sons? 

A. ProbaNy, yes. He's ,a county committeeman. 

Q. Do you know a person by the name of Nicholas 
Sacco? 

A. Yes, I do. 
Q. Well, did he bring some of those ballots back 

to Joseph M occo' shouse? 
A. He probably did, too, as a county 00mmitte~, 

man. 

Q. Let's make it broader. Are there any names 
at all, that you can tell us, of persons who carried 
ballots from voters back to Mr. Mocco's home? 

A. I'd have to say, I can;t remember all those peo, 
pIe. It was a long time ago, and all the county com, 
mittee people plus their workers were delivering 
ballots to the house. There were people coming to the 
house, you know, I don't even know who they were. 

Q. How many people? 
A. A lot. I mean, we're talking--

Q. Give us a round figure, ball,park. 
A. Fifty. 

Q. Thirty, forty, fifty people ~vere coming in and 
out of that-- , 

A. Sure. Not at the same time, different intervals. 

Q. I wOt,ldn't assume they were co';"ing at ,'the 
same time. But over different intervals forty, fitty 
people were coming into the home delivering ballots; 
is that correct? ' ',\ 

A. Overall. 

Q. Joe Mocco. He was the, as we already pointed 
out, was the, I guess, the chairrnan of the Democratic 
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Party in North Bergen. Did he bring any ballots back 
to his own house? 

A. No. Joe was very sick at the time. 

THE OHAIRMAN: Was he at the house 1 

THE WITNESSS During the June primary he 
was downstairs sleeping. He was under heavy 
medication. 

Steaming Activity Enlarged 
}frs. Davison had conceded that the large brown outer envelopes 

had been steamed open to get at the certificates attached to the 
inner white envelopes. She went on to relate how the inner en­
velopes in which the voters weTe supposed to place their secret 
absentee votes were also ,opened. Oouns'el Rhoads asked her: "Did 
you have an occa;sion to open the inner envelope1 

A. Yes. Many of the people were sealing the white 
envelope without the ballot inside. That had to be 
put inside the white envelope. 

Q. SO what they would do, I assume, -- and you 
stop me if I'm wrong-they would seal the inner 
envelope, which should have contained the ballot, but 
not put the ballot in it? 

A. Oorrect. 
Q. SO you would steam this open? 
A. Oorrect. 
Q. To enable you putting the ballot in? 
A. Oorrect. 
Q. Well, did you ever steam open any of these 

envelopes that already had the ballot in it? 
A. Yes, I believe I did. 

Q. Now, why would you do that? 
A. All right. Again, to make sure that-now, this 

is not on an of them, either. 'fo make sure that at 
county committee names were properly put in the 
right place. 

Q. In other words, you recall when I referred you 
to the ballot earlier, and you were referring then to 
the names, particularly, yours was one of them, I be~ 
lieve, that ·.may have been in the wrong place. You 
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woUld steam open the inner envelope, pull out th~ 
ballot of a voter to check if they put it in the right, 
place? 

A. Ye$, on some of them I did, Yes. 

Q.Well, who else was doing this? Who helped 
you do this? 

A. As fa,r as steaming open the ballots 1 

Q. Yes. 
A. Nobody, nobody. 

Q. Well, Mrs. Davison, isn't it a fact that you had 
something in the neighborhood of 500 or more ballots 
in Joseph Maceo's home over the course of three, four 
days? 

A. Yes. But, as I said before, I didn't steHm them' 
all open. As T said before, I don't remember exactly 
how many were there, and no way could I possibly 
have steamed open that amount· of baillots. That's an 
awful lot ,of ballots to steam open. 

Q. I agree. How many did you steam open? 
A. I don't rememb{)r at this point. I really don't 

remember. 
Q. Can you approximate for us? 
A. A lot. I don't. I don't really remember. There 

were a lot. But there we,ren't as many like you're 
saying, 500 banots or an the ballots. It wasn't that 
many. 

Q. All right. With respect to the inner envelope 
which contains the ballot, how rnany of those did you 
steam open? 

A. {don't think it was a large amount as maybe~. 
I don't remember the amount. I really don't atthis 
time. 

Q. Would it refresh your recollection if I were to 
tell you 274? 

A. It w(}uldn't refresh my recollection. I don't re,. 
member. 

Q. All right. Mrs. Davison, with regard to the .bal­
lot itself, I want to make some allUsion to it. This. 
is Comrmssion Exhibit 7 and with these names. Did 
you fin.d, let's just say, more than one voter's ballot. 
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thdt either didn't put in the names or put them in the 
wrong place? 

A. Let me explain that, yeah. There were people 
who were putting on the personal ,choice county com­
mittee names. There were people that were checking 
them off that little slip of paper I mentioned to you. 
Rather than writing the' names on the ballot, they 
would just put an X next to the piece of paper that the 
county sends with the absentee ballot. 

Q. Well, how many of those did you find? 
A. 01, the,re were a lot; there were a lot. 

, Q. Well, assume, then, that you fo~;nd a situation 
where the name is in the wrong place. What did you 
do? 

A. If a name was under personal,choice--

Q. Well, wherever. It's in the wrong place. What 
woUld you do? 

A. All right. Have it written under the correct 
row. 
, Q. So you would put it in the correct row? 
A. Right. In other words, it would go under the 

Column A. If that ballot, all right, was writtE)n, say 
the two names that were there were written under 
personal choice, I would then put them under the 
Column A, because that's where the county committee 
people were running, that the people had so designated 
under personal ,choice. I don't know if you understand 
what I am trying to say. 

Q. No, I understand, Mrs. Davison. Who helped 
you do this? 

A. Putting in the names ~ 

Q. Putting in the names. 
A. Writing in the names. I had two girls helping. 

Q. What are their names? 
A. Denise Raunou and Helen Peck. 

Q. Other thilln Denise Rannou and Helen Peck, 
who else helped you do this? 

A. To my knowledge, I don't believe I asked any­
body else to do that. I'm not sure at this point, but I 
don't think so. 
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· Q •. All right. With re~pect to these ballots that you 
have now steamed open the envelope containing the 
ballot and withdrawn the ballot, did any voter ever 
say to you, when they gave the ballot to YOt!, or, to 
your knowledge, to any worker, that you may steam 
open my ballot and check it for, let's say, accuracy? 

A. I don't remember a voter saying that you can 
steam open my ballot. Somewhere along the line some 
voter did mention to me, as far as, I think, the affi­
davit was concerned, that they would like it if I could 
check it, but that's aboutaH. 

Q. Well, the fact is, Mrs. Davison, the voters were 
totally unaware that these ballots were being taken 
to Joseph Mocco's house and being steamed open: 
Isn't that so? 

A. As far as I know, yes. 
Q. They did not know it was going on, did they? 
A. As far as I know, they did not. 

Q. All right. Now, with regard to the steaming 
open of the, let's say, inner envelope that contains the 
ballot, did anyone assist you in doing that? 

A. Steaming open the ballot, no. 

Q. When did you do this? 
A. This was done late at night when everybody 

had left. 

Q. Well, what time at night? 
A. When people left. Twehe O'clock, one o'clock, 

two o'clock. I don't know. 
Q. One or two in the morning you're steaming 

open these ballots? 
A. Yes, if that's when people left. 

Q. Well, where is Mr. Joseph Mocco dt;,ring the 
tilme yott're steaming open these ballots? 

A. He's still downstairs. 

Q. He's still downstairs? 
A. Yes. 

Q. How do you know that? 
A. How do I know he's downstairs~ 
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Q. How did you know he was downstairs if you're 
in the kitchen ste!J/lning the ballots? 

A. I didn't hear him go out, so I assume he's still 
downstairs. 

Q . . Did there ever come a time when he did come 
into the kitchen to observe what you were doing? 

A. No, but there was a time he did, once, not when 
I was doing that, come up and took some pills. 

*' * * 
Q. All right. Well, with respect to the steaming 

open of the ballot, for whatever the reason m·ay have 
been, you are in the home of Joseph Mocco; he's the 
township Democratic chairman. Did you ever go to 
Mr. M occo and tell hirn what YOt, were going to do in 
his home? 

A. No. 

Q. You never saw fit to tell him? 
A. No. 

Q. Well, did you think what you were doing was 
proper? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You did? 
A. Yes. 

Were the Ballots Altered? 
Steaming open the inner white envelopes gave the opener a<lcess, 

of course, to the secret ballot. Counsel Rhoads asked Ml1S. Davison 
whether she had ever "changed a vote." She "might have," Mrs. 
Davison replied, but efforts to ascertain the extent of the ballot 
alterations were met by vague and uncertain responses. Counsel 
displayed an exhibit of a blo,wn-up actualhallotcastat the June 
8, 1976, primary election. After the name of Congressional candi­
date Byron I. Baer, Oounsel noted, "the little square where you 
woUld presumably put a check, and you can see that this has been 
erased and reconstructed and a check was put in the box of another 
candidate." Counsel: 

Q. Is this what you are referring to when you say 
you changed votes? 

A. Wait. You said to me if I ever changed a vote . 
. I said, I might have, one in my district. As far as--
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Q. Are you telling me you did not change any? 
A. I said, one, perhaps, in my district. As far as 

how, I don't remember how that one was changed. I 
don't remember that at all. 

Q. Well, of this one that you changed, the voter 
never told you to change the vote, did he, or she? 

A. I don't remember. 

Q. You don't remember whether-­
A. I don't remember. 

Q. --a voter said to you---­
A. I don't remember. 

Q. Mrs. Davison, you're going to have to let me 
finish my questions. 

You don't remember whether a voter said to you, 
"You may open my ballot and change my vote"? 

A. I don't even remember why I changed the vote, 
It's just that it sticks in my mind. 

Q. All you remember is that you changed the vote? 
A. That's all. I don't remember who it was for. 

Q. Well, to your knowledge, did anyone else there 
that was helping you change any votes? 

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Well, would it surprise you to hear that there 
were approximately 270 erasures on ballots submitted 
from the Township of North Bergen for that primary? 

A. Well, people make mistakes, they erase, just 
like people going to the polls, they press a lever down 
and then press it for someone else. 

Q. SO it may be you're speculating perhaps the 
voter himself made these, maybe 270 voters made all 
the mistakes? 

A. Yes. 

* * *' 
Q. With regard to ballots that were steamed open 

by you, and the ballot itself completely in front of 
you, did you ever have an occasion to write your name 
in as a candidate to enable you to have a vote? 

A. I don't remember that. 
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Q. You don't remember that? 

THE OHAIRMAN: Let me I1sk this way: Y 0'U 
receive a hall0't and, beeause they're being 
changed, in whatever method they're being 
changed, they're being checked, it finds itself 0'pen 
and eXP0'sed t0' y0'ur presence, and the v0'ter has 
0'nly selected t0' v0'te f0'r, say, the t0'P 0'f the ticket 
and made n0' selecti0'ns whatsoever for the com­
mittee positions. 80 it's a voted ballot, but the 
co=ittee positions are open and hlank. On that 
0'ccasi0'n, d0' y0'U know if any0'ne, including Y0'ur­
self, added your name to the c0'lumn? 

THE WITNESS: I d0'n't remember that. That 
I don't remember. 

Q. You don't remem.ber? 
A. N0', I d0'n't remember seeing that. I d0'n't re­

member. 

Ballots Resealed by Sitting On Them 
O0'unsel next queried the witness ab0'ut the manner in which the 

ballots were put back in tha white envel0'pes and resealed: 

Q. All right. Now, let's go back to the area where 
you have testified that you have now made corrections 
Or whatever it is you did with these ballots and you're 
in the process of putting them back in the envelope. 
H ow was it that you were able to get that envelope 
resealed once it had been steamed open? 

A.Which envel0'pe, the outer 0'r the inner? 

Q. The inner envelope. I'm talking about the ballot 
into the inner envelope. 

A. Just by wetting it and sitting 0'n it. 

Q. Who assisted you in doing that? 
A. The girls, I believe, helped me. 

Q. Helen Peck? 
A. And Denise Rann0'u. 

Q. Denise Rannou? 
A. Dh-huh. 

Q. Who else? 
A. I might have asked 0'ther pe0'ple as they were' 

coming in. 
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Mocco Also Sat on the Votes 

For the first time, at least one part played by Joe Mocco, the 
township clerk and Democratic chairman, in the ballot handling 
at his house was revealed. Amidst the swarm of ballots and ballot 
envelopes in the dining room/living room of his house, he also 
helped to reseal the ballot envelopes by sitting on them. Mr. 
Rhoads asked Mrs. Davison to state what Mr. M00co did: 

Q. Let me be specific. Did you ever ask Joseph 
M occo to help you in resealing the envelopes? 

A. I believe thatoue time that he came upstairs 
I was telling yau about before. 

Q. Correct. 
A. I think he ,came up that time and he took some 

pills. He was on a lot of pills. He looked around, and 
he ,said, "Oh, my. Can I do anything1" 

And I said, ' , Well, if you want to, you can seal some 
envelopes. " 

THE CHAIRMAN: . What was' it that he said to 
you1 

THE WITNESS: He just looked around, you 
know,something to the effect that-I don't re­
member exactly. It's three and a half years ago. 
Like, "Hello. Do you need any help1" ,or some­
thing to that effect. I don't remember the exact 
words. And I think I asked him if he would like 
to seal some enveiopes for me by, you know, wet­
ting them and sitting on them. That's about it .. 

Q. And did he? 
A. Yeah, he did. 

Q. And about how long a period of time did he 
help you do this? 

A. Probably less than an hour. 

Q. How much less? 
A. I don't know. Maybe a'half an hour. 

Q. All right. 
A. Forty-five minutes. 

Q. During this half-hour period when Joseph 
M occo was sitting there sealing the envelopes, or re-
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sealing the envelopes, I should say, 10ho else was 
present in the room? 

A. Probably Denise and Helen. I'm not absolntely 
positive. Probably Denise and Helen. 

Q. Now, during the time that he is doing this pro­
cedure of resealing the envelopes, is this in the area 
in which you were working on the envelopes and affi­
davits and ballots and so forth? 

A. The dining room/living room are'a. 

Q. And where, specifically, in that room are you 
working? 

A. We're working at a long table that was in the 
dining area. You see, it's like one big long room, the 
dining area. 

Q. At the time Mr. Mocco is there, this is the time 
you're working on the ballots themselves and the en­
velopes and et cetera, certificates? 

A. At that time I'm not sure what I was doing. I 
mean, I'm not sure if that was the time when-I'm 
not sure. 

Q. Be a little more specific. At the time Mr. Mocco 
was there aiding you in sealing or resealing these 
envelopes, did you have ballots and envelopes, and 
envelopes containing certificates spread out on this 
table? 

A. There might have been. 

Q. Well, do you know whether there were or 
whether there weren't? 

A. I don't remember what was on the table at that 
point. 

(Whereupon, the witness confers with counsel.) 

Q. May I have one moment, please. 
Mrs. Davison, while I'm looking through this, I 

want to ask you an additional question. When Mr. 
M occo was sitting on them and helping you in reseal­
ing these envelopes, did he at any time question you 
with regard to how it was you had all these envelopes 
there, these ballots? 

A. I don't believe so. 
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Q.Well,when you asked him to reseal them; did 
you tell him what he was resealing? 

A. Probably. Probably. 
Q. Probably. Probably you said to him, "lJir.' 

Mocco," words to this effect, "would you help reseal 
these ballots, the envelopes containing the ballots?" 

A. Probably. I don't know exact words. 
Q. Probably. And at that time did he ever say 

anything to the effect like, "Well, what are you doing 
with all these here? Why are they in this house? Why 
aren't they at the board of elections?" 

A. I don't think so. 

Q. He did not? 
A. I don't think so. He was under a lot of medi­

cation. 

• * • 
Q. Mrs. Davison, I previously asked you with re­

spect to when Mr. Mocco came ~tP and aided y01t and 
sealed or resealed some of these envelopes whether 
there were ballots and certificates on the table at that 
time, and your response was that you don't recall or 
don't remember. Is that correct? 

A. I think so. 
Q. All right. I am going to ask you to look at 

Page 54-this is a transcript of a proceeding wherein 
you testified November 2nd, 1978. 

MR. RHOADS: Counsel, do you have a copy of 
that~ 

MR. DELUCA (Counsel to the witness): Yes, I 
do. What page is that ~ 
Q. I am going to direct you to Page 54. The date 

is November 2nd, 1978, and I am going to direct you 
to Lines 13 and 14 and read that, and tell me if that 
refreshes your recollection. 

* * * 
Q. Mrs. Davison, you conferred with your attor-, 

ney. What I am asking you is, you said you don't 
remBmber. The tact of the matter is, you testified 
N ovembe1' 2nd, 1978, and you testified to a similar 
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question and your answer was: "There were ballots, 
yes, ballots on the table." And what I have simply 
asked you is to please read your answer and tell me 
if that now refreshes your recollection. 

MR. DELuOA: If I may suggest, ]\I[r. RhQads, 
that is not the similar question asked here. 

]\I[R. RHQADS: I believe I said I tQQk it out Qf 
cQntext. 

]\I[R. DELuOA: That's cQrrect. When yQU say 
"the similar questiQn," I think, perhaps not in­
tended to mislead anYQne, I'm sure, but I think, 
perhaps, the public may be misled. We knQW it's 
taken out Qf CQntext. 

I WQuld suggest for the witness to answer that 
questiQn in that fashiQn, to' ask a similar question 
sO' then we have SQme cQntinuity here. 

Q. Well, of these people that assisted you, did any 
one of them ever say to you, "Mrs. Davison, how is 
it that you've got someone's ballot here?" 

A. NO', I dQn't believe SQ. I dQn't--

Q. Did any of them ever question that? 
A. I dQn't think so. I don't remember anybQdy 

questiQning me Qn that. It was veTY busy and very 
hectic. 

Q. Well, did you ever tell-­
A. It was an electiQn. 

Q. S2!re, it was an election. These are ballots cast 
in that election-----

A. Right. 

Q. --by voters. ·Well,didanyoneof thesepeo­
ple ever say to you, " Mrs. Davison, how did you even 
get this ballot 02tf of the envelope? What did you do 
to get this ballot?" 

A. I don't believe SQ. 

* * * 
Q. I'll put it another way. Do you recall any ot 

these persons, unidentified persons who brought these 
ballots to Joseph Mocco's house, ever say, "Mrs. 
Davison, what are you doing with these ballots? Why 
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are they open? Why are they spread on the table? 
Why are you writing on them?" 

A. I don't remember anybody saying that. 

Mrs. Davison's Helper 
The next North Bergen witness, Denise Rannou, also testifying 

under a continning grant .of i=unity, told how she helped Frances 
Davison "correct" certifications and ballots that were obtained 
by opening the big folders containing abs@tee voting materials 
at Joseph Moceo's home during the days immediately preceding 
the June 8, 1976, primary election. Miss RalIDou, who became an 
elected Democratic Co·unty Committee membe.r in 1977, said she 
worked on "hundred, two hundred. poss.iJbly," already opened 
envelopes. She cheoked the certified excuses for voting 'aJbsentee 
with a "list" ·of reasons that Mrs. Davison had previously typed 
up from the applications :Dor ballots, and then changed the certifi­
cations to assure that they conformed w5.ththe list. Miss Rannou 
said she would then inspect the marked ballots of the a:bsentee 
V'o,ters to see whether they were correctly labeled Democrat or 
Republican according to the voter's choices on the ballots. Counsel 
Rhoads asked her to explain her duties, beginning with the list: 

Q. Who told you to do what it is you did with them? 
A. Well, I think it was Fran that explained that the 

reasons had to be correct to insure that the vote 
counted. 

Q. Well, did you ever ask Fran, or anyone else, 
for that matter, how it came that all these envelopes 
were unsealed, let's say, a h1undred to two-hundred 
envelopes? 

A. No. I didn't. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Was it your impression that 
the voter had not sealed them' 

THE WITNESS: Was it my impr'ession at the 
time? I really don't remember thinking that. I 
don't remembe·r. I didn't really think about it. 

Q. Well, let's assume a reason differs from the 
reason on this list, the application list. What would 
you do? 

A. Well, I would take a little piece of yellow paper 
and I'd put the correct reason with maybe a paper 
clip or something .and put them on the side. 
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Q. Then what would you do with them once you 
put them on the side? 

A. I was just-I just put them on tho side. I didu't 
do anything with them. 

Q. Did you ever physically do anything to the cer-
tificate itself? 

A. To the certificate ~ 

Q. The affidavit. 
A. Yes. There was another problem. 

Q. What was that? 
A. The-this was a primary e"ection, and in a 

primary election the person has to declare his party, 
Democrat or Republican. 

Q. Where does he declare that? 
A. He must decla,re that on the affidavit, and he 

must sign his name to the fact that he's declaring him­
self, whatever party he's declaring himself to. And 
there were cases--

Q. What was the problem with that? 
A. The problem was, if they didn't declare their 

party, their vote wouldn't have been counted. It would 
have been discarded. 

Q. And what would you do to C01'rect that? 
A. I wo,uld put the words, either "DEM" or 

"REP" on the affidavit. 

Q. How would you know what to put? 
A. By how they voted on the ballot, whether they 

voted Democratic Or Republican. 

Q. Well, then, as I follow you, yot,'re looking at 
the affidavit, and the affidavit is attached to what we 
will call the inner envelope,andinsidethe inner 
envelope, presumably, is the ballot. Are you saying, 
then, that you would go into that envelope and pull out 
the ballot to see how they voted? 

A. Yes, it wo·uld be necess'ary. 
Q. Well, how did you get the ballot out of the inner 

envelope? 
A. They were opened. I just took it out. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Did you assume the voter had 
not seailed the ballot in the envelope1 
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THE WITNESS: I don't know what I assumed. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Or were you ",ware that the 
'envelopes were being opened by anothe'r mecha­
nism~ 

THE WITNESS: No, they were just open. I 
didn't know. 

By MR. RHOADS: 

Q. Well, you would now pull out the ballot. How 
would. you determ,ine to check on their certificate or 
affidavit that they voted either Democrat or Republi­
can? 

A. Well, on one side would be the Democratic 
candidates and on the other side would be the Republi­
can candidates. If the person checked, they weren't 
allowed to go on either side. They had to either vote 
Democratic or Republican. Okay. And if I saw that 
their cheeks were 'on that side, on the Demoeratic 
side, I'd put the words "DEM." Otherwise I would 
pnt "REP" if the votes were on the other side. 

Q. SO you would look at their ballots to see how 
they voted? 

A. Yes, I would. 
Q. And if need be, youwot,ld write the approp-ri­

ate name of the party on the affidavit; is that correct? 
A. That's correct. 

Q; Then what would you do? 
A. Then I would just put it back m the white 

envelope. 

Q. Have you ever voted absentee? 
A. Yes, I have. 

Q. And are you aware that on the certificate, or 
affidavit as you call it, that the voter says he votecl 
in secret? . 

A. I voted absentee in 1973-1974, when I was away 
at school, and the affidavit itself was so complicated 
that to read the whole thing, I don't believe that 
people read the whole thing. 
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Q. I'll put it a different way. Did any voter ever 
give you permission to look at his vote? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What about the ones that you were doing in 
Joseph M occo' s home, the ones that you're pulling 
'mit the ballots to see how they voted and determine 
whether you put" Democrat" or "Republican;" had 
any of those voters told you to do that? 

A. 'Those voters weren't there. 

Q, Well, what's the answer to that question? 
A. The answer is--

Q. Is it yes or is it no? 
A. Oh, it's no. 

Q. Miss Rannou, onelast question for you .. 
Of the ballots that. you opened, and I'm referring 

.now to the ones that you-I shouldn't say" opened" 
-the ones you looked at to determine how they voted 
and then you would put on the certificate or affidavit 
either uDEM" Or "REP," how many."R,EP's" 
'did you put on? 

A. I don't recall: Hudson County, probably not 
too many. 

Q. YoU are a Democratic committeewoman, aren't 
you? . 

A. Yes, I am. 

Clerk Mocco's Testimony, 
Joseph Mocco, township clerk of North Bergen and at the time 

of the June 8 election the township's Democratic chairman, was 
an elusive witness, particularly with regard to the steainingopen 
of ballot folders and other activities at his 80th Street home prior 
to the ele(ltion. He referred frequently to his illness at the time 
and to his request that a party worker, Charles Carrara, tend to 
his pets at the house. How his home came to be used for processing 
absentee votes was Counsel Rhoads "s first topic: 

Q. With respect to the 80th Street addl'ess, did you 
have an occasion to allow that residence to be used in 
any political fashion at all? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 
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Q. Whom did you allow to come into your ho~{se 
to use this in some political fashion? 

A. SpecificaIly, those people that were involved in 
the election during that period of time. 

Q. Who were those persons? 
A. I would say, the different members of the 

county committee, the people that were working ill 

the campaign. 

Q. Can you give ttS some names? 
A. Yes. Fran Davison and other people, you know. 

Specifically, you could go through the whole roster 
of those people involved ill that election and there 
would be literature there for them and other para­
phernalia that would be used so it could be accessible 
to them for the campaign. 

Q. Well, did you ymtrself allow these people, again 
confining to this period of time, to come into ymtr 

. home to use it? And by those people, I mean Fran 
Davison and committee persons, et cetera. 

A. Yes, yes, that's correct. 

Q. SO Charles Carrara didn't just take it upon 
himself to use your house, did he? 

A. Charles Carrara had a key to my premises. 
As I said, I was ill at the time and he was taking care 
of animals that I had, certain animals, and taking 
care of the premises for me. 

Q. SO my question is: Charles Carrara didn't 
just take it upon himself to use your hottse during this 
political campaign time, did he? 

A. I'll repeat, I had a number of animals that he 
was caring for for me during that period of time prior 
and after that period of time as a result of my illuess. 

MR. RHOADS: Mr. Chairman, I don't feel that'8 
responsive to the question I'm asking this gentle­
man. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Mr. Mocco, will you listen to 
the question again and try to respond directly to 
the question. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 
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Q. I am specifically asking you: Did Charles Car­
rara take it upon himself, meaning without your per­
mission, to just use your residence in a political 
fashion during that primary? 

(Whereupou, the witness comers with couu­
sel.) 

A. I woulds'ay that he had permission to use my 
residence in that period, and bef'orc and after that 
period. 

Q. SO I am assuming the answer to my question 
is, he did not take it upon himself; he asked you first? 

A. Specificlally, exactly what he did or didn't do I 
can't answer for. The fact that I gave him a key to 
the premises, yes, th!Ut's correct, and the fact that he, 
had permission to use the premises, yes, that's cor­
rect. 

Q. For the political activity? The campaign po­
litical activity? 

A. I will repeat as I said earlier. He also-I asked 
him to take care of animals in my home. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Mr. Mocco, besides taking 
care of 'animals, also included in the permission 
was the pohtical activity~ 

THE WITNESS: That's eorreei. 

The Political Activities 
Having finally conceded that political activities had taken place 

at his home, Mr. Maceo next was pressed to explain them. The 
witness kept insisting, however, that he couldn.'t remember or 
recall what took p}ace, although he was often at that house at the 
time recuperating from his illness. Counsel: 

Q. Now, with regarlito the political aCtivity that 
went on in your house, did Fran Davison take advan­
tage of the use of your house during that campaign, 
to your knowledge? 

A. That's o8orrect. 

Q. And were you there ~n the home when Fran 
Davison was there? 

A. Possibly I w!Us downstairs. Specifically, I 
couldn't state. Poss~bly I was downstairs in my bed­
r,oom; in the bedroom. 
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Q. Well, for what period of time were they uSing 
your house in· a political fashion during the Jun'e 
primary of 1976; how many days? 

A. I would say, a couple of days. 

Q. What were they using it for? 
A. Distributing litemture ·and working on the cam­

paign. Oampaign work for that specrnceleetion. 

Q. All right. That's pretty broad. How about, did 
they pass o~d any ballots from your house, absentee 
ballots.@ 

A. I be~ieve they did. 

Q. Now, Mr. Maceo, did the people, or different 
people that passed' out these ballots, did there ever 
come a time they returned ballots to your home? . 

A. Directly, I, I would have to presume that they 
did. Specmcally, I can't answe·r that. Generally, I 
can. .specific-wise, I can only speak for myself, Mr. 
Rhoads. 

Q. Well, when you say" directly," you don't know, 
but you presume they did, would '!lOt, expand on that 
for us, please? 

A. I will repeat, at the time that I was incapaci­
tated and I wasn't handling the campaign, campaign 
as I normally wo·u:ld handle or work ou, and I'd have 
to rely on what information I received secondhand 
and not information to my own knowledge. 

Q. Well, from .whom did you receive this informa­
tion that they were bringing ballots back to your 

. house? 
A. Mostly from the media. 

Q. Mostly from whom? 
A. The media. The newspaper and, also, from 

what I have heard. 

THE OHAIRMAN: This would be after the faetY 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, that'8 what I heard. 

THE CHAIRMAN: During the fact were you ever 
made aware that ballots were coming back to your '. 
houseY 

THE WITNESS: It's possible I was made aware, 
but I don't recall specifics pertairuingto it. , I 
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By MIt; RHOADS: 

Q. Let me get specific. Do you recall a time when 
you went up to the dining area of your house and, 
amongst others, Fran Davison was there and you 
asked her, "Is there anything I can do?" or words to 
that effect, and, in tact, she asked you, "Would you 
please seal these envelopes?" and you. in fact, did 
seal the envelopes? Do you recall that? 

A. No, I don't, sir. 

Q. You don't? 
A. It's possible, but I don't recall it. 

Q. It's possible it could have happened? You're 
not denying it happened; is that correct? 

A. I'm saying-, I don't recall it. That's what I'm 
saying- to you. 

Q. You just don't remember? 
A. At that point, I just don't remember. It's possi­

ble, but I don't remember. I think that's clear. 

Q. Well, do you remember ever seeing Fran Davi­
son in your house during this period of time? 

A. I belie,ve I did, but I'm not that olear on it. 

Q. Well, if you will, and you can take your time, 
try and remember what you saw her doing in your 
house when you saw her there. 

(Whereupon, the W!itnes,s comers with coun­
sel.) 

A. I just remember her being- there. As to specifies, 
I don't remember anything- specifically in that area. 

Q. Well, do you ever remember seeing any ba,Uots, 
envelopes, certificates on the dining room table of 
your home? 

A. It ',s pos.sible, but I can't specifically recall. 

Q. It's possible you ,nay have, b,d yot6 can't spe­
cifically recall seeing that? 

A. Rig-ht, that's correct. 

,'Q. Let me just explore that tor a moment. Has it 
happened so m,any ti,nes that you can!trecall this' 
specific election, or are you saying you just can't re­
cdll anything about the specific election? " 
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A. Periodically, people have dropped off, where a 
problem has existed in delivering absentee ballots, 
people have dropped off ballots to me. They have 
dropped off enumerable number of ballots to the offi0e 
with the purpose of having them delivered down to 
the bureau of election booause of the time and the 
tardiness involved in the delivering of those ballots to 
tho'se people, those voters that have requested absen­
tee ballots. 

Q. Well, with regard to those voters that may have 
dropped somB ballots off to you, did they ever com­
municate to you in any fashion that there may have 
been some problem with their ballot and would you 
have it checked for them? 

A. Not that I can rooaJJl. 

Mocco Was Surprised 
Mr. Mocco's evasiveness increased as Oounsel Rhoads continued 

to request more specID0 recollections of events at the Mocco home 
in connection with the election: 

Q. Mr. Mocco, would it surprise you to hear that 
for a period of perhaps three, four, jive days some­
thing in the neighborhood of 2 to 3 to 400 ballots were 
brought into your home, particularly, the living-room 
area, opened, some written on, maybe one or two votes 
erased, resealed and delivered out to the board of elec­
tions? 

A. Yes, that would surprise me. 

Q. It does surprise you? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you have any specijic recollection at all of 
ever telling anyone what to do during that primary 
election? And by that I mean Fran Davison, Charles 
Carrara, Nicholas Sacco. 

A. During eve,ry campaign at some po,int in time, 
whether it be for the gnbernatorial campaign, or sena­
torial campaign, or whate"er campaign, I would in­
struct and I would inform indicviduals as to literature, 
as to campaigning, and as to any way that they can 
help or work politically for the candidate or party 
that we're working for at that specific e~ection. 
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Q. Well, did you do that in the June primary, 1976? 
A. During that period of time I was ill at the time 

and,specIDcally, I had taken a hack seat because I was 
not-I was incapacitated, the fact that I wasn't able 
to do what I wo,uld normally do in a 0ampaign. 

Q. Well, I am a little curious when you say "inca­
pacitated." Didn't you previously testify that there 
were times when you actually went to work and other 
times when you either stayed at the 80th Street ad­
dress or the other address? 

A. That's corre<lt. 

Q. Well, how incapacitated were you? 
A. I was .sUck. I was under medication at the time. 

r had gone through an extensive oper'ation, and that's 
why I wasn't in work ona regular basis, and I believe 
I stopped in once or twice. 

Q. But you did go to work, in fa{Jt, didn't ym!? 
A. Just to ge;t out and to go do'wn to where I was 

employed, that's all. I didn't actually work in the 
perfo,rmance of my duties because of my illness. 

THE CHAIRMAN: I think the point is, you were 
able to-- you say incapacitated. You were able 
to get up and--

THE W,TNESS : Walk. 

THE CHAIRMAN: --at least, wrulk out of the 
house--

THE W,TNESS: That's correct. 

THE CHAIRMAN: -and walk back to the house? 

THE W,TNESS: Yes, Mr. Ohairman. 

THE CHAIRMAN: My question is :Do you re­
member, specifically remember, being in your 
house--

THE W,TNESS: At some point in time, yes. 

THE CHAIRMAN: -the Friday night, Saturday 
and Sunday before the June primary? 

THE W,TNESS: At some point I was there, 
yes. 

103 



THE CHAIRMAN: Did YDU see activity in the' 
hDuse when YDU did CDme in, Dther than wDrkers 
arDund the hDuse f 

THE WITNESS: :r must have seen peDple, yes, 
that's cDrrect. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Did YDU ever during that 
time see an expDsed vDted ballDt 7 

THE WITNESS: NO', I didn't, sir. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Or did YDU ever see envelDpes 
that were nDt sealed 1 

THE WITNESS: I can't recall specifically to' 
that. 

THE OHAIRMAN: DO' YDU ever recall specific­
ally sealing an unsealed envelDpe 7 

THE WITNESS: If during the CDurse Df a cam­
paign a ballDt was turned in where the Duter 
envelDpe wasn't sticking prDperly Dr wasn't 
sealed, it's pDssible that it wDuld be sealed and 
just sent wherever it was to' gO', YDU knDw. That's 
the best Df my recDllectiDn Df anything in that 
area Df any campaign. 

T'HE OHAIRMAN: Regardless Df the explana­
tiDn, I think the PDint is, having sealed an un­
sealed envelDpe is sDmething YDU can't say did 
nDt happen, fDr whatever reaSDn it might have 
been unsealed f 

THE WITNESS: I can't-it's possible. r can't 
say it didn't definitely happen, YDu're right, yes, 
Mr. Ohairman. 

The Chesilhurst Election 

This example Df the inadequacy Df New Jersey's absentee 
vDting statutes centered Dn the June 6, 1978, DemDcratic primary 
electiDn fDr bDrDugh cDuncil and county cDmmittee members' in 
Ohesilhurst. In the CDurseDf this electiDn mDre than a SCDre of 
ballDts cast by residents Df the B and J Guest HDuse became 
the target Df prDIDnged litigatiDn extending almDst five mDnths 
beYDnd the actual electiDn. A tie-vDte by the Camden CDunty BD'ard 
Df ElectiDns Dn the validity O'f 21 questiDned ballDts, all but twO' 
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of whi<lh had been marked with an "X ", led to the rejection of the 
19 "X-ed"ballots by Superior Court in Camden county. A sub-

. sequent appeal re,sulted in an order by the Superior Court 
Appellate Division requiring a hearing on these votes by the 
trial court. Such a hearing was held at the nursing home in 
October, 1978, after which all 19 X-marked ballots were rejected. 
In its post~hearing decision on November 1, 1978, the trial court 
observed that its previous conclusion that" there is no suggestion 
of fraud in this' record" had to be changed since the hearing 
"clearly raises the fraud specter." 

Deputy Attorney General Janice S. Mironov, who handled the 
litigation fOol' the Attorney General's office-as required by statute 
because of the original 2-2 tie vote of the Camden election board­
reviewed the is-sue of the 19 X-marked votes at the Commission's 
public hearing. Her testimony indicated that most of these 19 
voters were unable to comprehend the issues raised by their 
absentee votes. Oommission Counsel Rhoads asked her to recall 
what took place at the nursing home hearing: 

Q. Now, we're talking, as I understand it, of nine­
teen, I suppose, voters whose ballots were l·ejected 

'for the reason that an X was put on the certificate. 
Is that so? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, were all these nineteen voters called? 
A. At the time that the hearing was conducted at 

the nursing home, all nineteen of these individuals 
were called to testify. 

Q. And at any time did you have an occasion to 
question wny one Or all of the voters? 
, A. Yes, I did. In fact, I think I questioned most 
of the voters. 

Q.Now,ifl miJi!/, what wasth", purpose a/having 
· the voters actually called to testify? 

A. The purpose was to set forth on the record' 
· whether, in fact, these individuals had voted the bal­
lots. Essentially, that was the thrust of the reason 

· for the hearing. 

Q. More or less to identify the X, whether they 
were the ones in fact put on there; is that so? 

A. Right. 
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Q. Well, was this testimony? Was it the intent of 
the judge, if you know, to have it sworn? 

A. All hearings of court are sworn and that surely 
was the intent of the judge. 

Q. Well, in your observation, was he, in fact, able 
to swear all nineteen voters? 

A. No, he was not. 
Q. Did he swear any of them? 
A. He swore a couple of them. I think it was ap­

proximately four of the voters were able to be sworn 
and fifteen were not. 

Q. Well, then, why was it that these witnesses were 
not able to be sworn? 

A. Upon questioning by the judge at the outset 
of each of the witnesses coming before him, in re­
sponse to his questions, their answers were dis­
jointed. On many occasions there were no responses. 
In essence, they indicated lack of understanding of 
the questions and complete inability to give responses. 

Q. Now, with the witnesses that were not sworn, 
were questions put to them regardless of whether they 
were wnder oath or not? 

A. Questions actually were put to ail.l of the wit­
nesses, the ones that were SWOTn and the ones that 
were not, yes. 

Q. Actually confronted with their certificates and 
ballots and asked if, in fact, this was their certificate 
and ballot submitted in the election? 

A. Yes, I showed most of the voters that testified 
on that .day before the court their certificates, the 
applications anil/or the ballots. 

Q. CO~tld any of these voters that you confronted 
that day, and I am including all nineteen of them, 
could any of them with a,ny degree of certainty iden­
tify: A, the certificate; and B, the ballot as being the 
ones they voted in this election? And, by the way, for 
the record, it was Ju;ne 6th, 1978. Could any of them 
do that? 

A. No, they could not, with ,the exception, perhaps 
of one, one person. But, for the most part, no, they 
were not aNe to recogni"e the applications, the cer­
tifications or the ballots. 
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Q. And yet the fact of the matter is there were 
ballots submitted ostensibly, at least, on their behalf; 
isn't that so? 

A. Yes, there were. 
Q. Well, through this hearing and through the tes­

timony, did you ever come to find out how these ballots 
were submitted on their behalf or by whom? 

A. In some of the cases the witnesses again dis­
played a {lompiete inability to respond to the questions 
or the,ir respons,es were in no way responsive to the 
qnestions that were put to them. In the situation with 
the people that were sworn, a couple of them indi0ated 
that somebody else had put the mark there. They re­
ferred, several of them, to their S(loutmaster, Brian, 
who had put the mark on the bal~ot. 

Q. Any other name, whether it be first or last; do 
you recall? 

A. There was some reference to a Michael. There 
were several reference's to a Scoutmaster Brian. 

*' * * 

How X-voters Were Assisted 
Ms. Mironov referred to Brian and Michael Pollock, two brothers 

who had become famiLiar to the nursing home residents as leaders 
of a Boy Scout group at the home and who also were politically 
active in the borough. Counsel Rhoads: 

Q. Now, through your investigation did you ever 
comB to know who, in fact, was this Scou,tmaster and 
who, in fact, were Brian and Michael? 

A. Actually, on the ballots themselve,s, on the cer­
tifications, all of these nineteen ballots were witnessed, 
. even. though there is no reql1iirementfor tllat, were 
witnessed by a Brian and a Michael Pollock. Both of 
these individuals had, in fa(lt, been called as court 
witnesses in the initial proceeding that was heM be­
fore the trial court. Ref'erence assumedly was to those 
two individuals. 

Q. Again, with respect to these two individt,als and 
the ballots, when you talk about being witnessed, are 
you referring to the certificate that's marked as a wit­
ness? 

A. Yes, I am. 
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Q. And they were signed by either Brian or Michael 
Pollock. Is that so? 

A. Yes, they were. 

Q. Now, in your experience as a deputy attorney 
general, particularly along the lines of the election 
laws, is there anything existent in the statute today 
that would preclude a candidate for a political ojfi(J.6 
to go into, let's say, an institution such as the Bct J 
Guest House and: A, solicit votes; and B, in·some 
instances actually help voters jill out theircertijicate,s 
or applications for ballots? 

A. W ouldthere be anything in the law that would 
prohibit that, is that your question? 

Q. Yes, as it exists today. 
A. As it exists today. Currently under Title 19, 

which is the ele'Ction law, there is no provision 'for 
assistance in filling ,out absentee, baillots exceptfor,&n 
individual that is blind. In'that calse the person indi­
cates that they have assisted the voter and prints and 
signs their name on the 'Certification. Aside from that, 
there is no provisio,n for assistance legally. 

Q. 80 nothing would stop a candidate of the ojfice . ' . 
.. ,!,. to actually approach someone at the time he's filling 

out his ballot and say, "Vote for m,e," much like 
there is an electioneering law that would preclude. a­
candidate from going, let's say, within, I thinldtis, 
100 feet or 100 yards of a polling booth and saying, 
"Vote for me"? 

A. No, there is not. Nothing ,whatsoever .. 

Q. With respect to the actua.l election, to your 
knowledge, was there a candidate by the name of Fru­
gone, F-r-u-g, I believe it's o-n-e? 

A, Yes, there was. He WoaiS a candidate for the office 
of county committee. 

Q. And was there a candidate by the name of Nun­
ley? 

A. Yes, thmoe was. He was one of the candidate~ 
for the counsel ,office in Chesilhursi . 

. Q. Now, did Mr. Frugone win the election? 
A. No, sir, he did not. 
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,'Q. What was his margin of defeat? 
, A.Mr. Frugone's margin of defeat was thirteen 

votes. 

Q. What about Mr. Nunley's margin of defeat? 
A. Nineteen votes. 

'Q. SO, then, am I correct in assumi,ng that, had 
those nineteen absentee ballots been counted and had 
they, for instance, been for Mr. Nunley or Frugone, 
they would have won the election, would they not? 

A. Surely, surely. Those votes would have made 
the difference and could have made the difference in 
the election. 

EXAMINATION BY THE OHAIRMAN: 

Q. Miss Mironov, to clarify one question for the 
record, you indicated that some of these voters stated 
that they were assisted by their Scoutmaster. Scouts 
usually are not of the age to be capable of voting. Can 
you explain that, for the record, please? 
".A, ,The individuals that voted were, in question, 
were all residents of a nursing home. The ages 
ranged from twenty up to sixty-five. The individual 
that they were referring to evidently was someone 
who had spent some time there and endeared himself 
sufficiently that he could come in, sit next to them 
when they were filling out ballots. There was no 
Scout Troop per se, if that's your question . 
. \,.-. 

Votes Were Solicited 

The next witness, Ohesilhurst Oouncilman Michael Pollock, told 
how he was a political supporter of FrankO. N unley,a council­
manic candidate, and Anthony Frngone, a county committee can­
didate, and that he solicited votes in their behalf among nursing 
home rBsidents whom he knew as Scouting members at the insti­
tution. Commission Oounsel: 

Q. Now, with regard to Mr. Frugone and Mr. 
Nunley, did you play any role at all in the organization 
Po have them elected? By that I mean, did you politic 
on their behldf? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Well, with regard to the politicking, would you, 
in fact, let's say, solicit votes from various town resi­
dents on their behalf? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, are you familiar with a, I will call it a 
home, the B & J Guest Home in Chesilhurst, New 
Jersey? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And how is it that you are familiar with that 
home? 

A. Well, the home is in Chesilhurst and I am also 
active in the home with the residents. in a Boy Scout 
troop. My brother and I are members of the com­
mittee. My brother's the Scoutmaster and I'm his 
assistant Scoutmaster. 

Q. How often do-let's say, the service you per­
form there, how often would that bring you in contact 
with the people in that home? 

A. Onoe, maybe twice a week. 

Q. With regard to, let's say, the residents within 
that home, are they all of voter age? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And, to your knowledge, are they registered 
voters? 

A. Most of them are registered voters. 

Q. Well, with those that are, if you know, did they 
have an occasion to vote:---do they have an occasion 
to vote absentee in any of the elections? 

A. Yes, they always vote absentee. 

Q. What's the reason for that.~ 
A. Pllysical disabilities, mostly,' you know. Not 

being a doctor or anything, that'S' basically the reason. 

Q. In other words, I guess it's such that they're 
unable to go to the polls for either physical or some 
other disability. Is that correct? 

A. Physical or other disabilities, right. 

Q. All right. Now, with respect to the election, 
the June 6th, 1978, election, to your knowledge, did 
any of them vote absentee? 
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A. Everyone there that voted voted absentee, as 
far as I know. 

Q. And again with regard to this population within 
the B di; J Guest House, did you, in fact, politic on 
behalf of Mr. Frugone and N1!nley within the guest 
home? 

A. OIh, yes. 
Q. SO is it fair to say that the patients would have 

been aware that you were backing Frugone and 
Nunley? Is that so? 

A. Yes, definitely. 

Q. Well, just as an example, how would you make 
it known to them that you were voting, not voting but 
backing these two individuals? 

A. I had at times, you know, asked them to vote 
for the individuals that our party was backing, and, 
also, the candidates campaign there. 

Q. All right. Did Mr. Frugone and Nunley cam­
paign there? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, did there come a time when these indi­
vidwils, and by that I mean the residents of the guest 
home, did they, in fact, receive absentee ballots for 
this election? 

A. Yes, they did. 

Q. And how is it that you are aware that they did? 
A. Well, the-after either applications filled out 

and they received the ballots, and when they receive 
the ballots, we assisted the ones that wanted to be, to 
haveassis}an{le in voting. 

Q.Now,when yousay"we,"who are you refer­
ring to? 

A. Myself and my brother. 

Q. Now, how would this go about? Assum·e I see 
you there and I'm a resident. How would I know that 
you would help me fill out my ballot? 

A. Well, anyone that wanted assistance, you know, 
we let every;one there know we were there to help if 
they wanted assistance. A lot of the guys put the bal­
lots on the table if they wanted assistance. We had to 

111 



have some type of system. We would pick up the 
ballot and call the individual. 

Q. The ballots would be stacked ~.p and you would 
just call out the name of the individual and he would 
come up? 

A. Right. 

Q. With respect to one of the individuals-obvi­
ously, we don't want to refer to them by name. We 
want to maintain the sanctity of their vote as well as 
their privacy. 

With respect to an individual coming up to the table 
requiring assistance, what exactly did you do to assist 
these individuals? 

A. Well, a lot of the guys can't read and a lot of 
them can't write, and what we would do would be to 
re-a,d-nrst of a:ll, there was a statement that before 
they sign it, before they put their mark or whatever 
they do--

Q. Are we referring to the certificate nOw at_ 
tached-

A. On the ballot. 

Q. On the ballot itself? 
A. On the ballot. I would read to them all the in­

formation that was on the ba:llot. Okay. And then, 
you know, I would ask them, "Well, how do you want 
to vote!" And they would indica,te to me either by 
saying how they wanted to vote or indicate in some 
way how they wanted, what their choice was as far as 
their voting is concerned., 

Q. Well, with respect to the ballot itself, am I cor­
rect in assum,ing there were more than just Frugone 
and Nunley running for theSe positions? 

A. Oh, ye,ah, yeah. 
* * * 

Q. Of those voters that you personally assisted 
were all of them able to give you a definite conclusive 
choice of whom they wanted to vote for? 

A. Yeab, they were all a,ble to indicate to me whom 
they wanted to vote for Or what. ' 

Q. Give me an example 0/--
A. Or what column they wanted to v'ote for. 

112 



Q. Give me an example of how they would do that. 
How do they comm'Unicate it to you? 

A. I would ask someone, well, how do you want to 
vote, and he would ",ay, I want to vote for Mr. Frugone 
or Nunley, o'r I want to vote Column 6, or some, in a 
couple of occasions where guys can't hear or can't 
speak too well, the candidates campaigned by making 
the number 6 or by indicating 6, and I would ask the 

, individual, "Well, do you want to vote U" And if 
>there was 110 response, 2, 3, go Hll the way down the 
, liJ;le till,yeah, that's it. Okay, T~ght. 

"c}. Now, with regard to voting number 6, these 
are, of course, the candidates you had backed? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And I'm assum,ing this, and you correct rne if 

I'm wrong. These resident voters knew you were 
,backing these people in Column 6? 

A. They definitely knew I was backing them, right. 

Q. Of all the people that you assisted to vote, did 
any of them not vote Col~!mn 6? 

A: I don't-I think that they all voted Column 6. 
You know, I don't remember exactly, but I think that 
they did. 

* 'i<' "" 

Q. Well, had you ever corrvrnunicated to these 
, voters that the persons of your choice were in Column 

6? 
A. Oh, ye,s. 

Q. SO that when you got finally to indicating five 
fingers and one finger, that's Column 6 and that's 

, where you get the nod? 
A. Right. 

Q.With respect to actually aiding and/or assisting 
the voter on marking, did you actually have an occa­
~ion to rnark the ballot itself or were they all able to 
make the mark? 

A. Some 'Of the candidates-" of the candidates"­
of the people rusked me to mark the ballot for them, 
yon know. Some of them had physioal disabilities that 
prevent them from marking the ballot or from holding 
the pencil. So, you know. 
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Q. So you assisted them? 
A. But before the baJ.lot was marked we would ask, 

my bl'Other and myself, "Do you want me to mark the 
ballot for you 7" Before that was done. I'm not going 
to pick up the pen and start marking the guy's ballot 
for him. 

Absentee Voting in Fieldsboro 
Absente,e voting improprieties featured the 1978 primary and 

general elections in the Burlington Connty co=unity of Fields­
boro. The S.C.I. inquiry, a county prosecutor's investigation and 
investigative reporting by the press, notably the Trentonian and 
the Trenton Times, led to ·a series of court battles even as the 
Commission ',s public hearings took place. The Commission noted 
that Fieldsboro, as depicted in the testimony of a number of 
witnesses, was a prime example of the numerous ways in which 
the absentee voting process could be manipulated by politicians 
to their own advantage. For example, a candidate for mayor, 
Edward P. Carnassale, who was losing by 2-1 at the polls, was 
re-elected by means of an absentee vote that favored him by 
almost 100 per cent. The mayor and Frank P. Hegyi, an influ­
ential campaign worker, openly solicited absentee votes for 
the mayoral candidacy. In addition, many so-called absentee 
voters were in town on election day, thus confirming that their 
sworn excuses for voting absente,e were false. The mayoral 
election in this commnnity eventually was overtnrned by the· courts. 

In its public hearing review of absentee ballot abuses in Fields­
boro, the Co=is'8ion first called as a witness the BUrlington 
Conntyclerk, Edward A. Kelly, Jr. His testimony on the manner 
in whi(lh Fields boro absentee ballot applications and ballots 
themselves were obtained and processed illustrated a number 
of deficiencies in the statute. Mr. Kelly was questioned by Oom­
mission Counsel Rhoads: 

Q. Sir, now, you have been called, obvio.!sly, in 
a broader scope, and in the more narrow sense, we're 
concerned with an election, both primary and general, 
that was held this year in the town of Fieldsboro, 
particularly, the primary election in h!ne of '78 and 
the general election this past November 7th, 1978. 

With respect to the primary election, do you know 
a gentleman by the name of Frank Hegyi? 

A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. And how is it that you have come to know Mr. 
Hegyi? 

A. Well, he lives in the county, in Fieldsboro 
Township, and I think he's held public office in Fields­
bom Township, and just through my official duties 
as county clerk. 

Q. With regard to this primary which obviously 
was, in a broad scope, a Congressional primary, is it 
true that there were mayoral candidates running in 
the town of Fieldsboro at that time? 

A. I believe there were, yes, sir. 

Q. And do you know one of them to have been a 
man by the name of Edward Carnassale? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. With respect to Mr. Hegyi, did there come a 

time when he appeared at your office for the business 
of obtaining absentee ballots on behalf of voters? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And what exactly was it that was the nature 

of his business being there in your office? 
A. Well, he came in with X number of applications. 

I don't know the numbers here. I think we have sub­
mitted the exact numbers. And these applications 
were on behalf of other persons in Fieldsboro Town­
ship. We took the applications over to the board of 
elections and checked them out for their legality to 
see if they were registered voters, to see if they were 
properly signed in all respects, and we brought them 
back after we were s'atisfied. We approved them. 
Tille county clerk would approve or disapprove an 
application . 
. And,thenwhen.weapprOye them,wethen:rnake up 

the ballots, the package of ballots for each envelope, 
type up an envelope with the name and address of 
that person applying for same, and then either mail 
it out or give it to the per,son that -so requested. 

Q. All right. Now, sir, with respect to the ballots 
in this primary election in Fieldsboro, did there come 
a time when Mr. Hegyi actually took possession of a 
various number of ballots? 

A. Yes, ,sir. 
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Q. And was he, if you recall, on the application 
of these voters for the absentee ballot, in fact, the 
authorized messenger? 

A. In some cases. I don't remember all of them 
because we give the application to the board of elec­
tions now. Another change in the policy. We useil 
to keep the application. But if we gave him or any 
perSOn a ballot, we would write that name down that 
this ballot was picked up by a certain person. We 
keep a record of who we gave the ballot to. 

Q. Sir, I show you what's been previottsly marked 
Commission Exhibit 21, and if you will look at this, 
it's a three-page list of various names on there, and 
it's signed both on Page 2 and on Page 3. Would' 
you look that over and tell me, is that what you are 
referring to when you say" a receipt"? ' 

A. Yes, sir; yes, sir. 

Q. What is that document you have before you? 
A. It's three pages of absentee ballots picked up 

by Mr. Hegyi June 1st, 1978. 

Q. All right. Now, sir, with respect again to the 
town of Fieldsboro, if you know, do yott recall the 
reasons put down by these absentee voters for voting 
absentee? 

A. No, sir, I don't have them indiV'idually. But I 
would say ninety-nine per cent Soaid they would be out 
of town on election day. 

Q. And, again, are you familiar with the total vot­
ing populaition of Fieldsboro? 

A. Yes, sir. It's quite small. 

Q. Now, in your experience as county clerk, does 
that seem to be an inordinate amount of voters being 
out of town or, let's say, out of state, actually, on elec­
tion day? 

A. I'd have to say yes. 

Q. Mr. Kelly, with reference to the primary, now, 
where a Mr. Carnassale ran, do you know whether in 
fact he won that primary? 

A. No, I'm embarr,as'Sed to say, I don't know if he 
won it or not, Mr. Rhoads. I only remember that they 
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had a pro b1em with the absentee ballots; that the bal­
lots were not pfaced inside ·of the certificates. That's 
all I knew about it. Again, once the aibsenteeballot 
is-has left my office, I never see it again. They're 
tallied, the absentee ballots, by the ",ounty board of 
elections. I don't get down into s,pe0mc towns as to 
who won ·or who lost either by absentee or by the ma­
chines. 

Q. Well, as I understand it, then, if I were to have, 
let's say, a group of absentee-ballot applications and 
I were to go to a county cleric and hand this over, I 
would get the ballots in due course and all I need do is 
sign for them somewhere; is that so? 

A. Yes, if they're approved, yes, sir. 

How Mayor WT as Helped 

The next witness, Frank P. Hegyi, who was finishing the second 
year of a three-year term as Fieldsboro councilman at the time 
of the S.O.I. hearing, told how he handled absentee ballots during 
the local primary campaign as a supporter for Mayor Oarnassale. 
He noted that Mr. Oarnassale sought re-nomination in June, 1978 
-but as a "wr,ite-in" (Jandidate since he had failed to file his 
nominating petition on time. Oounsel Rhoads questioned Mr. 
Hegyi: 

Q. With respect to Mr. Carnassale, did you in any 
way, let's say, politic on his behalf, run his campaign 
for him or what-have-you.? 

A. I did not run his campaign, no, sir. I worked 
for his reelection. 

Q. And with respect to your working for his re­
election, did you in any instances actually solicit votes 
on his behalf? 

A. Yes, sir, I did. 

Q. Again along those lines, did your work involve 
you in any way with processing or handling absentee­
ballot applications for voters within the town of 
Fieldsboro? 

A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. With regard to those applications, I trust you 
are fam.iliar with an absentee-ballot application, are 
you not? 

A. I think lam, yes, sir. 

Q. What exactly did you do to aid or facilitate the 
individual voter in getting an absentee ballot? 

A. Well, during the (lampaign when I was going 
around and pelOpie indi(lated to me that they would be 
eligible for an Il>bsentee ballot, or 'some of the applica­
tions which {lame into me from the mayor, some of 
those appli(lations I filled out the entire apprication, 
outside IOf the signature Qf the v·oter who had re­
quested the application. I ,then took them down to the 
county clerk. The applications were, I assume, legally 
processed Il>nd slOmetime later I picked up the ballots 
from the county (lle1rk "8 office. 

Q. Now, with respect to the applications, you say 
you filled out some of them. Well, what percentage 
are we talking about when you say" some"? 

A. Sir, I honestly don't recalL If I could see the 
appliootions, I {lould tell you exactly. 

Q. I'm going to show you what's been previously 
marked Commission Exhibit C-14, C-15, and a packet, 
C-16, 1 through 71, and I wouJd ask you to do this: 
If you will-I'm also showing, in addition, C-1B. I 
don't believe I mentioned that. If you will, I would 
like to have you look through everyone of these and 
segregate from thi.s stack the ones that you did not 
fill out. 

A. Sir, I filled out an of these except two and one 
partial. 

Q. All right. So of the 1 through 71 and the other 
three I showed you, it's only two that you did not fill 
out yourself; isn't that so? 

A. And one partial, .sir. 

Q. And one partial. 
A. But I did not s,ign anyone's names to any of 

those ballots. 

Q. No, I didn't suggest you did. 
A. Okay. 
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Q. The fact is, the voter did; isn't that so.@ 
A. Yes, sir. Well, to the best of my knowledge. 

Q. Now, with respect to the applications, where 
did you fill them out? 

A. At my home. 

Q. SO that you didn't fill thern out in the presence 
of the voter; is that right? 

A. No, sir. 

The Cheesman Absentee Ballot Application 

Witness Hegyi was shown a blown-up exhibit of an application 
for an absentee ballot in the name of Harold E. Cheesman, who 
was to testify later on this subject. Counsel Rhoads asked Mr. 
Hegyi if the printing on the ballot was his handwriting: 

Q. You filled it out? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And I assume you did not, of course, sign" Hare 
old E. Cheesman"? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Now, if you will, direct your attention up to 
here where it says, "Check reason for ballot," and 
checked in here is, "I expect to be absent from the 
State of New Jersey on Election Day." 

A. Yes" sir. 

Q. Well, who checked that? 
A. I did, sir. 

Q. How did'You know that Mr. Cheesman was not 
going to be in the state on election day? 

A. That was one that I did not handle, sir, and 
I ~tothe best of my recollection, it was told to ·me 
that that would be the case. 

Q. In other words, someone else told you that Mr. 
Chees'man was going to be out of state? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Who was the someone else? 
A. I think it was Mayor Garnassale. 

Q. And upon his word, then, you ticked that off? 
A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Being out of state. YOt! never called up Mr. 
Cheesman prior to ticking that off, did you? 

A. No, Hir. 

Q. And ask if yow're going to be out of state? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. The fact is, with all the applications you iden­
tified, with the exception of one, I believe, they were 
all ticked off out of state; isn't that fair to say? 

A. It's fair to say without checking it. 

Q. When you filled these out, had all the voters 
told you they would be out of state.W 

A. Sir, the ones I handled, as I said. I handled a 
certain percentage of them, the ones that I person­
ally handled, it was indicated to me that that would be 
the reason why they wanted an absentee application 
ballot. 

Q. Well, let's jt!st for a moment stay with the ones 
you handled. You say it's a percentage of them. What 
percentage of them? 

A. I would say, approximately thirty~five to forty, 
forty per cent. 

Q. Thirty-five or forty. So let's say Y01! handled 
maybe-I don't know-thirty, 

A. Thirty-two, thirty-two. 

Q. Let's say thirty you handled. You filled these 
out out of the voter's presence; is that correct? 

A. The appihications, yes, sir. 

Q. Well, how was it that you were able to rem·em­
ber of those, let's say, thirty applications the indi­
vidual reason for each one of these voters to be able 
to vote absentee? 

A. That's how I was going to remember, I just re­
membered, sir. 

Q. It wasn't that you just on your own ticked off 
this reason? 

A. No, sir; no, sir. 

Q. Mr. Hegyi, did you take any notes when you 
went around to the voters.w By that I mean, if you 
said to a voter, "Are you going to be out of state? 
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Are you going to be ill? Are you going to be work­
ing?", et cetera, would yo~e write down notes? 

A. No, 'sir. 
Q. Just remen,bered all that? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Commission ,counsel asked what Mr. Hegyi's next step was after 
filling out the appliClation forms· for absentee ballots: 

Q. Now, having once filled these out, wheet did you 
do with them,? 

A. I then took them down to the county derk's 
office. 

Q. And did there come a. time when you were 
actually given the ballots? 

A. Yes, 'sir. 
Q. Well, again I'm going to direct your attention 

to this area of the application, this area in stars, and 
look below the word" or," and it says, "If you are 
sick or confined, you may apply to the county clerk 
during business hours to 3 :00 p.rn. of the day prior 
to election via authorized messenger designated." 
You 'are not on here? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Well, how did you get Mr. Cheesman's ballot? 
A. I said it was given to me by the mayor, sir. Oh, 

the ballot. I'm sorry. I thought you meant the appli­
Clation. 

Q. The ballot. 
A. I went down the olark, and the applications 

which I had taken down, one of Mr. Kelly's employees 
had a typewritkllli§Lwith alLthe MIDeS on it and it 
was a 'space down there where my name had been 
typed in~I don't know if it was typed in or not-and 
I signed for the ballots and I was then given the bal­
lots by one of the workers in Mr. Kelly's office. 

Q. But the fact is, Mr. Hegyi, you were not the 
authorized messenger according to this application, 
were you? 

A. Well, I can't make a detennination on that, sir. 
Yon're telling me to say 'SOmething that I don't know 
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whether I was an authorized messenger or not. I know 
that in three prev>ous years I had followed the same 
procedure, and I had no one-or I had not signed as 
the authorized messenger. It was the same procedure; 
I would go down and pick up or sign for a list of bal­
lots, the names of people who had requested absentee 
ballots, and then I would sign for them and I 
would--

Q. Excuse rne, Mr. Hegyi. Without getting into 
the entire history, the fact of the rnatter is, on all of 
those aplications you did not appear as the authorized 
rnessenger on any of thern, did you? 

A. No, .sir. 

Q. Mr. Hegyi, I just want to be cornpletely clear. 
You wOt,ld talee the application and have the voter 

sign it, and then yot, would talee it bacle to either your 
hOt,se or sorne place and fill it out for the1n. Right? 

A. After they had indicated for me the reason why 
they wanted to vote absentee. 

Q. SO the answer to rny question is yes, I assume. 
Right? 

A. Yes, after they signed it I took it back home 
with me, yes, sir, and fill it out there. 

Q. Now, having once received the ballots frorn the 
county clerk, what did you do with thern? 

A. I proceeded to give the mayor those that the 
applicant-applicav>ons whi"h he had given me, and 
then I proceeded to distribute the ballots which I had 
secured applications for myself. 

Q. Now, did you at any tirne ever go to any voter 
with the rnayor-and by "rnayor," of COt,rse, I rnean 
Edward Carnassale, who was a candidate in the pri­
mary-and solicit thern to vote absentee for reason. 
that Mayor Carnassale was a write-in candidate and 
that was the only way they'd be able to vote for hirn 
was by absentee ballot? 

CWhereupon, the witness confers with counsel.) 

A. Sir, could you be more explicit with that ques­
tion 7 
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Q. Sure. Did you ever go to a voter, in the com­
pany of Edward Carnassale, and solicit, ask, that 
voter to vote by absentee ballot because Mayor Car­
nassale was a write-in candidate and that would be 
the only way that they'd be able to vote for him? 

A. I don't recall, sir. I may have. I went to~ 
that's been quite some time ago, sir. I really don't 
recall. 

Reverertd Carthan's Absentee Ballot 

To refresh Mr. Hegyi's memory, Commission counsel referred 
to the absentee ballot of Reverend George Carthan, Sr., who also 
was scheduled to appear later as a witness. Mr. Hegyi said he 
knew Mr. Carthan frS 'a IOBal voter. Counsel: 

Q. Did you, in fact, go to him and solicit him to 
vote absentee ballot.@ I don't care for what reason. 
Did you ever do that? 

A. Sir, I-well, the,re, in the past years, there was 
a couple ,of times that I recall that I WHsover at his 
home campaigning. 

Q. Are you able to answer my q~!estion? 
A. Sir, I said--

THE CHAIRMAN: Not that y'OU were there cam­
paigning. The question was: "Were you there for 
the purpose 'Of soliciting him to vote absente'e?" 
A. Sir, I recall being there on several occasions, 

but what the conversation was I don't recall. 

Q. Well, this may refresh your recollection a little 
bit. This is marked C-15, Commission Exhibit 15, and 
it's the application of a George Carthan. And tell 
me;didn'tyo~! fill that in? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Now, does that refresh your recollection of the 

fact that, yes, you we,'e in the presence of Mr. Cart han 
and asked him to vote absentee? 

A. It refreshes my recolleetion, sir, that I got an 
application for an absentee ballot fl'om Mr. Carthan. 
It does not refresh my recollection as to what tran­
'spired or what was said, sir. 
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Q. All right. Did there come a time, prior to sub­
mission of the absentee ballots-by that I mean prior 
to June, I guess, June 8th, or June 6th, 1978-that 
you went to the home, in the company of Edward Car­
nassale, the home of Mr. Carthan, when he was about 
to send in his ballot, and tell him that you will take it 
to the county clerk, or words to that effect? 

A. I do reeolle{)t, reoollect, sir, that one occasion. 
I don't kno·w what election it WlJJSOr when, bnt it 
seemed to me he did have an absentee ballot in his 
hand. 

Q. And the fact is you said to him, "We told ym' 
to give us that ballot unsealed," or words to that 
effect, didn't you? 

A. I don't re(lall anything like that, sir. 

Q. You don't recall saying that? 
A. I don't recall that. 

Q. Do you recall hearing it said, perhaps Edward 
Carnassale saying it? 

A. No, ,sir, I don't recall the conversation. 

Q. Do Y01. recall doing something like taking a'~ 
envelope from Mr. Carthan, sealing it, and saying 
words to the effect, "It's not in here"? Do you recall 
anything like that? 

A. No, .sir. 

Q. As a write-in-candidate-by that I am referring 
to Mr. Carnassale-that would require literally that 
a voter put his name on the ballot if he wants to vote 
for him, wouldn't it? 

A. You eould put on the sticker, sir, or write hls 
name in. It's been my experience that by voting ab­
sentee you ean do it two ways. 

Q. You say putting the sticker? 
A. Sticker, an adhesive-type implement with the 

candidate's name written, printed or whatever on, on 
the implement, and placed in the ballot and an X 
placed, X or mark placed behind the candidate's 
name. 

MR. RHOADS: May I have C-12, please. 

• • • 
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Q. And for reference, this is Commission Exhibit 
12 and this is the blow-up of that ballot. And, of 
course, yott can't see three-diminsionally, but this 
is the area we are referring to as stickers. 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Is that correct? 
And those stickers, amongst others, had the name 

Edward P. Carnassale on them? 
A. Yes, ,sir. 

Q. Well, at any time prior to the actual date of 
the primary did you give stickers to voters so that 
they could put them on here? 

A. I don't recall if I gave stickers to voters. I gave 
-I was speaking about the primary election. I know 
the mayor mailed out stickers. I had some stickers 
and I possibly gave voters stickers, yes, sir. 

Q. Did you tell them---
A. Again, I don't recall that whether I did or not 

specifically. 

Q. Well, let's assume you did. Did you tell them 
what to do with those stickers.@ 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What did you tell the1n to do with the1n? 
A. Well, if they asked me for instruction, I told 

them bow to vote absentee. 

Q. Well, with regard to the stickers, I'm asking 
you, what did you tell them to do with those stickers 
with the names on it, Edward Carnassale? 

A. I told them, if they were interested in voting 
for the mayor, they'd put a sticker were it says, 
"Mayor: Vote for one." 

Q. Okay. 
A. And mark the box accordingly. 

Q. SO, for instance, this ballot is interested in 
Edward P. Carnassale for mayor because there is a 
check next to his name? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. SO you say, in essence,'put the sticker here, put 
a check there? 

A. Yes, ,sir. 
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Q. All right. Now, Mr. Carnassale-excuse me. 
Mr. Hegyi, after having delivered ballots to the 
voters, did you ever have an occasion to actually 
assist any voters in filling out any portion 0/ that 
ballot? And by that I mean certificate, envelope, what­
have-you, the paraphernalia 0/ the absentee ballot. 

A. Sir, in the primary election, it's my recollec­
tion that I assisted many voters in some phase of the 
electoral process. 

THE CHAIRMAN: vVith respect to the absentee 
ballot, specifically to the question, Mr. Hegyi. 
A. Yes, sir, I, I filled in, you know. 

Q. During the primary election did you have an 
occasion to assist any voters, absentee voters, in filling 
out, let's say, the certificate at their absentee ballot? 

A. Yes, sir, a certificate of the absentee ballot, yes, 
SIr. 

Q. And with respect to that certificate 0/ the ab­
sentee ballot, what was it you would do? 

A. Well, if I saw any of them, I could tell you 
exactly what I did, sir. 

I would-if memory serves me right, there's a 
space at the top that says, "Name and address." l 
filled in many of those. And I don't know, it seemed 
to me that--well, that's one specific thing that I 
remember I did. I filled in the name and address, 
and above, I think, where the signature of the voter 
is, I think it says, "Print" your llame," I think I 
printed many of them in. 

Q. Now, sir, I'm going to show you what has not 
been marked, and I believe we should have it marked 
at this point. This tvould be C-22. This proports to 
be a certificate at a civilian absentee voter, as well as 
the envelope. 

(Certificate and envelope for Harold E. Chees­
man received and marked Exhibit C-22.) 

Q. Mr. Hegyi, I'm going to show you what's just 
been marked C-22. Would you look at that, and I 
will direct your attention to where it says, "Cer­
tificate at Civilian Absentee Voter." The areas that 
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are filled in there in printing, is that what you are 
referring to.~ 

A. Y (IS, sir, plus, in addition to that, under here it 
says, "Name of party." I wrote in "Democratic" 
here, sir. 

Pleads tbe Fiftb Amendment 
Commission Counsel pressed the witness for more particular 

answers to questions about handling absentee ballots he had 
obtained for local residents. However, Mr. Hegyi during this 
portion of his testimony on four occasions utilized his constitu­
tional privilege of .refusing to answer under the protection of the 
Fifth Amendment, on advice of his counsel Martin J. Queenan. 
The testimony: 

Q. Did you ever assist anybody actually in putting 
any writing on a ballot.~ 

(Whereupon; the witness confers with coun­
seL) 

A. Sir, I submit to this committee that, inasmuch 
as this matter is under investigation by the Burlington 
County Prosecutor, and on the advice of my attorney, 
I plead the Fifth Amendment on that question, sir~ 

THE CHAIRMAN: In other words, for the rec­
ord, you feel that the answer that yon might give 
us here this afternoon would have a tendency to 
incriminate you if you were to respond 1 

(Whereupon, the witness confers with coun­
seL) 

THE WITNESS: Sir, that is the thrust of the 
prosecu,tor's investigation. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Well, understanding that we 
both serve different functions, S'O that onr record 
is clear, when you say you are taking the Fifth 
Amendment, you are specifi(lally saying you re­
fuse to answer 'on the grounds thak the answer 
here might have a tendency to incriminate you; 

. is that oorrecU 

(Whereupon, the witness confers with coun­
seL) 
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THE WITNESS: That's coned, sir. 

Q. Mr. Hegyi, I want to direct you again to this 
exhibit that I have had blown up, and I will represent 
to you that it is an actual ballot st.bmitted. I will 
direct your attention to the printed word "Fields­
bora," as well as the nu,mber indicating "1st Ward, 
1st District." Isn't it a fact that you put that on 
there? 

(Whereupon, the witness confers with coun­
sel.) 

A. Fo'r the reas\ms outlined befo.re, sir, I plead 
the Filth Amendment, sir. 

Q. Well, Mr. Hegyi, getting back for a moment to 
Mr. Carthan, when you-strike that. 

Having now gone over the testimony which involves 
these stickers, does that refresh your recollection as 
to whether or not you took the envelope containing the 
ballot from Mr. Carthan, felt it and said, "They're 
not on here"? 

A. No, sir, I don't recall anything· like ,that at all, 
SIr. 

Q. Do you recall seeing Edward Carnassale do that 
and say, perhaps to you, "They're not on here"? 

A. No, sir, I don 't. 

Q. All right. Now, Mr. Hegyi, with regard to the 
November 7th election---

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. --this past November 7th, general election, 
again, Mr. Carnassale was a write-in candidate for 
mayor, isn't he.W 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Why is he? 
A. He decided to run for office, to seek reelection. 

Q. He lost the primary, didn't he? 
A. He lost the primary, sir, because all the ballo.ts 

were thrown out. 

Q. Why were they thrown out.W 
A. If the ballots had not been thrown out, he wo.uld 

have been the winner. 
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Q. So I understand. Why were they thrown out? 
A. Because the, I think, the judge ruled that the 

inner envelopes were not se'aled and that the secrecy 
of the baUo,t was viobted. 

Q. Well, it was you, in a g.-eat many instances, that 
brought these enruelopes containing the ballots sup­
posedly to the board of elections, wasn't it.~ 

A. I think I brought almost all of them there, sir, 
in the June primary. 

Q. Well, when you got them from the voter, were 
they sealed? 

A. I don ',t recall, sir. 

Q. Well, do you recall ever opening any and look­
ing at the ballot? 

A. No, sir, I don't recall. That, as I said before, 
that election has been, although as you stated it's only 
June, but in events that have transpired since, that is 
far 'Off, really, and I'm quite candid about it, sir. 

Q. All right. Maybe we will be a little better with 
the November general election. 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. That was just this past month? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. With respect to that election, did you again 
solicit on behalf of the candidate Edward Carnassale? 

A. Yes, sir, I did. 

Q. And with respect to the stickers previously al­
luded to, did you have those stickers? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you, in fact, pass them out to varwus 
voters? 

A. I think I passed some out. But, again, the 
mayor did mail ,them out and he personally passed out 
stickem himself. 

Q. And did you, in fact, solicit people to vote ab­
sentee? 

A. I didn't solicit them to vote &bsentee, sir. They 
indic&ted to me that they wanted to ,,"ote, for one 
reason or :another, ,absentee and I would secure them 
an application and a b&llot. 
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Q. So they would solicit you for aid in getting 
an--

A. Well, during the campaign, sir, when they indi­
cated to, for reasons permitted to vote absentee, I 
s,aid, "Okay, I can get you an application and we'll 
get it filled out and then we'll get your ballot back." 

Q. Did y01; fill out applications in the general elec-
tion as well? 

A. Yes, sir: 

Q. Is it fair to say about the sante amount? 
A. No, sir, I don't think so. 

Q. More? 
A. Oh, a lot less, I think, sir. 

Q. A lot less. 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Well, were the reasons again that these people 
would be out of state? 

(Whereupon, the witness confers with coun­
sel.) 

A. Sir, I think the reason is that they might be out 
of state or they expect to be out of state, not that they 
will be out of stake. 

* * * 
Q. All right. Mr. Hegyi, that's a relatively small 

town, is it not? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Approximately what, 350 voters? 
A. About 310 voters, sir, and about 650 population. 

Q. Isn't it a little ~!nus'wl to have, say, seventy-four 
people all leaving Fieldsboro and the state of New 
Jersey on one day? 

A. Sir, I don't think it was a question about all 
leaving Fieldsboro. They might be out. I knew there 
were some truck drivers who were subject to call at 
any hour of the day, and I put the applications in. 
They were appl'oved by the election board, and subse­
quently I did pick up--

Q. Okay. 
A. --fifty ballots. 

130 



Q. You answered the question. I asked YOtt if you 
thought it was unusual. Obviously, you didn't. 

With respect to the general election, now, do you 
recall ever going to any voter in the town at Fields­
bora and saying to that voter, "Just sign this certifi­
cate and I'll take care of this tor you," meaning I'll 
take care of the ballot and filling out the certificate 
and all the rest of it? 

(Whereupon, the witness confers with coun­
sel.) 

A. Sir, for the reasons outlined before, I plead the 
Fifth Amendment on that. 

Q. Well, I'll be more specific. Do you ever recall 
going to--Jwell, strike that. 

Along a different vein, do you ever recall going to 
any voter and promising them anything if they were 
to vote absentee, and, more pa,·tict,larly, if they were 
to vote for Edward Carnassale in the general election? 

A. For the same reasons outlined before, sir, I 
plead the Fifth Amendment. 

EXAMINATION BY THE CHAIBMAN: 

Q. As I understand it, there were 3.10 registered 
voters in Fieldsboro? 

A. I think that's pretty close figure, sir. 

Q. And in that primary--
A. Excuse me. I would implement that with there. 

are, I'll say, around twenty, I think, that should be 
stricken from the ralls. They've either left town or 
deceased or whatever. But a more accurate would be 
around 310, 315. 

Q.310wouldbe more accurate after youstrike.off 
that twenty? 

A. Yes, sir; yes, sir. 
Q. And of the 310 registered voters, some seventy-

six applied for absentee ballots? . 
A. I think there was eighty-some, sir. 

Q. Eighty-some? 
A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Eighty-some out of 31M 
A. Yes, -sir. 

Q. That's a big percentage of the town that's out 
of tow", on election day, don't you think so? 

A. I w(}uld say it's a good percentage, yes, sir. 

The Mayor's Testimony 
Edward P. Carnass'ale, who was the mayor of Fieldsbor'o, fol­

l(}wed Mr. Hegyi as a witness. Under questioning by Commission 
Counsel Rhoads, the mayor re(lalled that he lost the J nne, 1978, 
primary election for mayor as a write-in candidate but appeared 
as a write-in candidate at the General Election in November, 1978. 
Oounsel: 

Q. Did you win that election? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Obviously, you are mayor today. 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. With respect to your ntntning as a writecin can­
didate, did you have any mechanical means other than 
a voter actually writing your name in the ballot? 

A. Yes, sir, ,stickers. 

Q. Who had the stickers? 
A. Well, I had them. I'd give them out to different 

people, -and I al&O mailed them out to a number of 
people in town; say, a hundred people in town, hlm­
dred fanrilie,s 

Q. What were the stickers like? What did they 
look like? 

A. Roughly, one-inch by two~inch with my name 
on them. 

Q. Did you have them made up? 
A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And you would either hand them out or mail 
them out to various voters? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. With respect to the election, a;nd I'm going 
to gear my questions now to the primary, during that 
time did YO'1 solicit 01' otherwise assist anyone in 
voting absentee? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Who were the individuals that you assisted? 
A. My mother. 
Q. And what did you do by way of assistance for 

your mother? 
A. Well, I showed her how to vote. See, my mother 

can't read or write English. 

Q. Well, I'm concerning myself now, if I may, to 
actually getting the ballot. By that I mean the appli­
cation for an absentee ballot. 

A. Yes, ,gir. 

Q_ What did yO~t do with respect to that, if any-
thing? 

A. I got her a ballot and had her fill it out. 

Q. The application? 
A. Yes. 

Q. You helped her fill it out? 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Anyone else other than your mother? 
A .. No, I don't think so, sir. 

Q. Did you ever pass out any applications to voters 
within the town of Fieldsboro? 

A. People a,gked me, yes, sir. 

Q. Did you ever collect them fro", them? 
A. Yes, I did. 

Q. What would you do with it when you collect 
them? 

A. Give it down to the clerk's office. 

Q. CO~tnty clerk's office? 
A. Yes, sir. 

.Q.DoyouknQwg,gen#e'fi1,anbythe name o/Frank 
Hegyi? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Was he campaigning on yO~tr behalf? 
A. I presume he was. 

Q. Did yott give hi,n any applications? 
A. I, I know Mr. Hegyi was going down to the 

election board, and I gave him down there-gave 
them to him to take doWn. 
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Q. Let me clarify that. Did you give him any 
applications that the voter had merely signed but not 
filled out? 

A. No, no. 

Q. Did you give him any applications that a voter 
had signed and filled out? 

A. Had signed and filled out! 

Q. Yes. 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How many? 
A. I don't recall, sir. Half a dozen, maybe ten. 

Q. May I just have a moment, please. 
Sir, I'm going to show yOg exhibits that have been 

previously marked. This is 0-15, 0-14, 0-13, 0-16, 
which is seventy-one exhibits within 0-16, and I would 
like to have you go through those and you pick out the 
ones, then ten or so in there, that the voter himself 
filled out that you gave to Mr. Hegyi. 

A. The first one's my mother's, sir. I filled this 
out. 

Q. I believe you had just testified-and correct me 
if I'm wrong-that you picked up approximately nine 
or ten applications for absentee ballots from voters 
that had been filled out completely by the voter and 
gave them to Frank Hegyi. 

A. I say, I said about a half a dozen, maybe nine 
or ten. I can't recall. . 

Q. Well, even a half a dozen. Pick out the half a 
dozen. 

A. I think these are it, sir. 

Q. For the record, I count four, and I would like 
to show you two of them and I want you to look at 
those carefully again and be certain. Are these two 
that the voter filled out? 

A. I really can't recall, but I know--

Q. 0 an 't recall. 
A. I'm just looking for another one in here, sir. 

Can I see those, sir! 
I think it's just these two, sir; 
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Q . Just those two? 
A. I'm not sure about these. 

Q. Would you care to change, then, your answer 
to the question of how 1nany you picked up that were 
actttally filled out by the voter? 

A. I thought it was about six, but, you know, I 
don't see six in there. 

Q. Two? 
A. These look like-you know, I don't see it. 

These are the only ones I can tell. 

Q. Mr. Carnassale, then, did you pick up absentee­
ballot applications that we,'e rnerely just signed by 
the voter? 

A. I can't recall, sir. 

Q. All right. Now, having once gotten however 
nurnber of applications YOtt did get, what did you do 
with thern? 

A. The ones that were filled in, I send in. You 
know, I had them brought in. 

Q. You had thern sent down to the county? 
A. Uhchuh. 

Q. Did there corne a tirne when, let's say, you got 
a hold of the ballots? 

A. Did I get a hold of the ballots f 

Q. Yes. Did YOtt ever pick up any ballots to send 
out to voters? 

A. I can't recall in the primary, but I know in the 
general I did. 

Q. All right. Just for a rnornent, th01tgh, we will 
stay with the prirnary. 

A.Okay. 

Q. With respect to the prirnary, then, your answer 
is you ca,n't recall whether you actually gave ballots 
out to voters; is that so? 

A. Oh, yes, I gave them out. 

Q. That's what I'rn asking. 
A. I thought you said if I picked them up at the 

county. 
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Q. No, I'm not asking you that. 
You gave them out to Some of the voters? 
A. Yes, I did. 

Q. About how many? 
A. I say, approximately twenty maybe. Ten, 

twenty. 

Q. Where did you get the ballots to pass them out 
to the voters? 

A. I got them from Mr. Hegyi. They were, you 
know-he brought me some and I gave them out to 
the voters because I knew the voter;s, knew who the 
voters were. 

Q. When you went to the voters, what would you 
sar!! to them when you gave them the ballot? 

A. I would ask them to v·ote for me. 

Q. When you would hand them their ballot, you 
would ask them to vote for you? 

A. I wo,uld ask them before that, too. 

Q. Well, did you do it when you handed the,n the 
ballot? 

A: I don't reCiall, sir. 

Q. Did you ever have occasion to hand someone a 
ballot and, along with the ballot, hand them some 
stickers with your name on it? 

A. Yes, and I alISO, you know, if I thought I didn't 
mail it to them, 'o'r I asked some of them, I know, if 
they got the stickers in the mail be0ause I mailed them 
out, and if they didn't have them, I know I would give 
it to them be'Clause I won,ld 0arry them around with me. 

Q. Do you recall ever soliciting any voter? By 
that I mean going to the voter and saying, "Vote abc 
sentee, it's the only way you can vote for me because 
I'm a write-in candidate." 

A. No. 
Q. Never did that-­
A. No. 
Q. --to anyone? 
A. I don't recall. 
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Q. Do you ever recall going to a voter's home in 
the company of Mr. Hegyi? 

A. Yes, I do. 
Q. And along those lines, do you ever recall going 

to a voter's home and attempting to take his ballot 
from him in order to deliver it to the town cledc.W 

A. Yes, yes. I, you know, I went to a person's 
house, and if they had their ballot, you know, I would 
say I would see that I got it to the clerk. You know, 
I would take {lare of that. 

Q. And again following that thought, did you ever 
have an occasion to say to a voter, "YOt< should have 
given me this unsealed"? 

A. No. 

Q. Meaning the ballot and envelope. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Were you ever in the compa.ny of Mr. Hegyi 

when he said it to a voter? 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know Mr. Ca,rthan? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you ever say it to him? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Dlid you ever attempt to take Mr. Carthan's 
ballot or envelope in your hand and feel it? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Feeling for the sticker? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Do you recall Mr. Hegyi ever doing that? 
___ ",Ao:·No,sir. 

Q. Did you ever ha,ve an occasion to actually assist 
a voter in filling out his, let's say, certificate and bal­
lot? 

A. In the primary~ 

Q. Yes. 
A. Yes, s,ir. 

Q. I will show you what's been previously marked 
Commission Exhibit 17 and Commission Exhibit 17 A. 
I would ask you to look at those two do Guments , and 
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tell me, did you ever assist the vote,' in filling out 
those two documents? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. For what reason did you assist the voter? 
A. Just 'a minute, sir. 
The reason's stated at the bottom where I signed, 

sir. Want me to read it to you ~ 
Q . Yes, please. 
A. "Person assisting blind voter in marking ballot 

and completing a,nd signing certificate herein sign 
on' '-" sign fo!1o,wing strutement: Votter assisted by," 
my name is signed there. 

Q. And, of course, you were a candidate for mayor 
at the time when you were assisting? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Now, with respect to Exhibit 17, this certificate, 

if you will, let's leeep that one in ymw hand for a mo­
rnent. What did you actually do by way of assistance 
on that? 

A. Up at the top where it says, "I," I put Mr. 
Porter's name in he·re. "16 Hamilton Street, Fie,lds­
boro, Ne,w Jersey. Name of party: Democrat." 
That's all. 

Q. If you willloole at the bottom right-hand corner, 
there is a signah,re there. Did you put that on there? 

A. No, I didn't. 
Q. Do you lenow who put it on? 
A. Mr. Porter. 
Q. He signed his own name to that; is that correct? 
A. Yes, he did. 
Q. Now, I'm going to show you 17A. That's the 

ballot. And will you loole at what is the inleed printing 
on that ballot, particularly "Fieldsboro, Ward 1, 
District," et cetera? Did you P~!t that on there? 

A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Looleing down in the co/t!mn where it says, 

"Personal Choice," and" County Committee," and 
reading down, "Edward P. Carnassale." To the left 
of that is, "Mayor: Vote for one." Did you write in 
the name" Edward P. Carnassale".~ 

A. Yes, I did. 
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Q. And to the right of "Edward P. Carnassale" 
is a box with an X on it. Did YOt, put it on there? 

A. I don't recall if I put the X in there, sir. 

Q. You don't recall if YOt, put it there? 
. A. I don't recall. I could have aud r co'uld have not; 

Q. May I just have one m01nent, please. 
Excuse me if I have asked this, but is it fair to 

characte,-ize Mr. Hegyi as, say, your campaign man­
ager for this write-in election, both the primary and 
general election? 

A. r wouldn't call him my campaign manager, sir, 
r didn't have no campaig11 manager. 

Q. What would you characterize him as? 
A. A person that voted for me, r presume. 

Q. Period? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Didn't do anything more for you than anybody 
else did for you; is that right? 

A. Well, I don't know. I pre,snme, you know, he 
worked on absentee ballots, getting absentee ballots. 

Q. Well, then, would ym' characterize him, let's 
say, as a campaign helper.@ 

A. If you would call it that, I guess. You know, if 
that's what you wonld call it. 

Absentee Voter Testifies 
Witness Hal'old E. Chee,sman testified how he voted absentee 

in then-Mayor Oarnass,ale's kitcheu, which adjoius Mr. Carnas­
sale's tavern. Questioued by Commission Counsel Charles E. 
Blumenstein, Mr. Cheesman said he first asked Mr. Camassale 
how to get an . absEmtee ballot application because he was ... goiug 
to "be ()nt ofstaxe" on election day. Mr. Oarnassale told him 
Mr. Hegyi had some applications at his home, whereupon the wit­
ness went to the Hegyi house and was given an application form. 

Counsel Blumenstein showed the witness an exhibit in the form 
of the Cheesman application and asked him to identify the hand­
writing on it. Mr. Cheesman said his signature was at the bottom 
of the' appli(lation. Counsel: . 
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Q. Now, referring to the other parts of the applica­
tion which have been filled in by pen, where it says, 
"June 6," the word" Democrat" in the upper right­
hand corner, "Fieldsboro," et cetera, the two ad­
dresses, is that your handwriting? 

A. No, it's not. 

Q. Do you know whose it is? 
A. That's Mr. Hegyi's handwriting, I believe. 

Q. That would be Frank Hegyi? 
A. Correct. 

Q. But you said it was your signature, correct? 
A. Ye'8, it is. 

Q. Was the application blank at the time you had 
signed it? 

A. No, I really don't recalL 

Q. All right. Referring specifically to the mark in 
the box underneath where it says, "Check reason for 
ballot," you will notice there is a mark next to the 
sentence which reads, "I expect to be absent from the 
State of New Jersey on Election Day"? 

A. Right. 

Q. Did Frank Hegyi also mark that? 
A. I really don't remember, sir. 

Q. Well, did you mark it? 
Let me put it this way: Did you tell Frank Hegyi 

that you expected to be out of the state and let him 
mark it for you? 

A. Yes, I believe I did, yes. 

Q. That means that you didn't mark it? 
A. No, I don't believe so. 

Q. Were you, in fact, otd of the state on election 
day? 

A. No, I wasn't. 

Q. Where were you, in fact? 
A. I was in Fieldsboro. 

Q. l{ ow, turning to the ballot itself, not the appli­
cation any longer, did there come a time when you 
received that actual ballot? 

A. Yes, I did. 
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Q. And by what means did you receive it? For 
inStance, did it come in the mail or did someone hand 
it to you? 

A. It was handed to me. 

Q. Who handed it to you and where.~ 
A. Mr. Carnassale at Mr. Carnassale's residence. 

Q. At his residence? 
A. Right. 

Q. Are you sure that he didn't hand it to you at 
his bar? Or are they at one in the same, in fact? 

A. Well, it was in the kitchen. It wasn't in the bar. 

Q. All right. Let me ask it this way: Is Mr. 
Carnassale's home attached to his bar? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. All right. Now, when he handed that to you, it 
was in a sealed condition. Correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And after he gave it to you did you, then take 
it into the kitchen? 

A. I was in the kitchen. 

Q. Well, then, did he--
A. I was called, I was called in. 

Q. Well, did he leave the kitchen after that? 
A. Yes, he did. 

COMMISSIONER LANE: I take it the kitchen ad­
joins the bar; is that right ~ Adjoins the bar, 
the next room to it or--

THE WITNESS: Yeah, it's the next room in the 
back, yes, sir. 

Q.M r. Chees1nan,I'm-going to show you what's 
been marked C-22A for purposes of identification, 
which I represent to yo~, is the ballot that you actually 
c,ast in that election, and you also notice that Exhibit 

, C-12, which is displayed on the easel, is an exact re­
production of that ballot. Now, focusing either on the 
ballot itself or on the exhibit, you will notice there are 
stickers on there with the candidates' nmnes typed 
thereon. Do you recognize them? 

A. Yes, I do. 
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Q. Did you place those stickers on there? 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Who gave you those stickers? 
A. They were on my kitchen table. 
Q. My question was: Who gave them to you? 
A. Nobody gave them to me. They was on my 

table. 
Q. Would it jog YO~I,r memory if I were to tell you 

that earlier you had testified that Sexton Woodward 
was the individ1wl who gave them to you? 

A. I said he probably did. 
Q. He probably did. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And Sexton Woodward was a candidate in that 

election; is that correct? 
A. Yes, he was. 
Q. Now, when you went to Edward Carnassale's 

.bar that day, did you go there with the specific in­
tention to cast your ballot that day? 

A. No, not really. 
Q. Now, yo~~ have testified that, when you received 

the ballot from Mr. Carnassale, you were in his' 
kitchen and Mr. Carnassale then exited from the kit­
chen. Correct? 

A. Oorreot. 
Q. Was there anyone else in the kitchen then? 
A. No, there wagn't. 
Q. Now, at that time did Y01, cast your ballot? 
A. Yes, I did. 

Q. Now, could you explain exactly how it was you 
went about casting that ballot.W 

A. Well, I had the stickers from my house; 
Q. You brought those stickers with you? 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Did you bring all of them with you? 
A. No, all but one. I went back and got that one. 

Q. I'm sorry. You brought one or you went back to 
get one? 

A. I went back to get one. I didn't have them' all 
with me. 
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· . Q. All right. You placed approximately three 
stickers on in the kitchen and then you returned home 
to get the additional sticker? 

A. Right. 

Q. To be more specific, did you place that sticker on 
the ballot at your residence or did you return to the 
bar to put th(lt additional sticker on? 

A. At the bar. 
Q. SO yOt! made a special trip home to get the 

stickers? 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. And then returned to the bar to place that final 

sticker on? 
A. Right. 
Q. Would it have been possible merely for you to 

write in the name of that additional candidate rather 
than make a special trip home? 

A. No. 
Q. It would not have been possible? 
A. Not since I had the other three on there. 
Q. But would it have been possible simply to pick 

up a pen and write in the name of the final candidate? 
A. I didn't do it that way. I went home and got the 

sticker. 
Q. Well, did anyone tell you that you should not 

write in the name of the candidate? 
A. No. 
Q. Did anyone tell you that you should use the 

stickers involved? 
A. No. 
Q.Allright.Turningto-f heballotitsell and your 

placing the stickers on there, when yo'u returned with 
the final sticker, did anyone see you put that sticker on 
your ballot? 

A. No. 
Q. In other words, you cast your ballot in absolutt; 

secrecy? 
A. Correct. 

143 



Q. All right. Now we have gotten you to the point 
where yo~! are in the kitchen for the second time and 
placed the fourth sticker? 

A. Right. 

Q. What did you do with it then, the ballot, that is. 
A. I put it in an envelope, seaJled the envelope. 

Q. Could I interrupt you for a second. What was 
the color of that envelope? 

A. It was white. 

Q. Now, what did yo~! do with the white envelope? 
A. I sealed it and returned it to Mr. Carnassale. 

Q. What did Mr. Carnassale do with it.W 
A. I didn't see it from there,after. 

Q. Did you see what he did with it? 
A. No, I did not. 

Q. Now, from the time that you received the ballot 
from Mr. Carnassale in its sealed condition to the time 
you placed all the stickers on there, including your 
trip home, to the time you sealed it, the white 
envelope, that is, and returned it to Mr. Ca·rnassale, 
did anyone see your ballot? 

A. No. The ballot I took with me when I returned 
to get the other sticker. 

Q. I understand. All right. Turning once again 
to C-22A, which is the ballot we have been talking 
about, do yO!! see the words "Fieldsboro" and 
"Democratic" written on there? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Did yOI~ write them on there? 
A. No, that's not my handwriting. 

Q. Do you know whose handwriting it is? 
A. No, I do not. 

Q. Well, Mr. Cheesman, if I could see the former 
exhibit, which is C-12, and this, which is a blow-up of 
C-13, C-13 being the application YDt! submitted, isn't 
it true that this handwriting here, "Fieldsboro" and 
"Democratic," is identical to the handwriting on that 
application where it also says, "Fieldsboro," and 
didn't you already testify that Frank Hegyi was the 
one who filled in that application? 
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A. They look the same, but I couldn't tell you that 
they are the same. 

THE CHAIRMAN; They do look the same 1 

THE WITNESS; Slightly, slightly. 

Q. Slightly the same? 
A. I'm not saying they are the same. 

Q. }Vell, if they are, in fact, the same handJwriting, 
if they are, in fact, both the handwirting of M r. Hegyi, 
then it's not possible for you to have cast your ballot 
in absol1.te secrecy, is it? 

A. I cast my ballot in absentee s·ecrecy. 

THE CHAIRMAN; Let me ask you this ; Was 
"Fieldsboro" and the other designation at the 
top of the ballot at the time you received it in 
the kitchen 7 

THE WITNESS; I really don't recall. 

THE CHAIRMAN :' Was it a clean ballot without 
any markings on it, do you recall, when you 
received it? 

THE WnNEss; I believe so, Your Honor. 

THE CHAIRMAN ; You believe so! 

THE WITNESS; I'm not quite sure. 

THE CHAIRMAN; Now, Mr. Cheesman, -­

THE WITNESS; I don't recall seeing "]'ields-
boro" or "Democrat" up there. 

THE CHAIRMAN; You don't recall seeing that 
on there! 

THE WITNESS; No. 

THE CHAIRMAN ; Let me ask this; After Y01l 
put the stickers on did you seal the envelope 7 

THE WITNESS; Yes, I did. 

THE CHAIRMAN; Then do you have any sug­
gestion as to how that printing could have gotten 
on there after you sealed it! 

THE WITNESS; No. I do not. 

THE CHAIRMAN; Okay. 
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Absentee Voter Car/han 
Reverend George Carthan, Sr., was another Fieldsboro resident 

whose vote-on an absentee basis-was actively sought by Mr. 
Carnassale and his helper, Mr. Hegyi. Mr. Carthan testified 
next about his experiences during the local 1978 elections. Ques­
tioned by Connnission Counsel Blumenstein, he recalled that the 
then-mayor Carnassale and Mr. Hegyi brought his absentee 
ballot application to him, which he signed in blank. However, he 
testified, some one else filled out the application, including the 
"mark" placed alongside the reason for voting absentee-that 
he would "be out of the state on election day." Counsel Blumen­
stein: 

Q. Did you put that mark there? 
A. No, I didn't. 

Q. Again, you wOttldn't know who put that mark 
thel"e, would you? 

A. I wouldn't know. 

Q. Did you tell anyone to put it there? 
A. No, sir. 

* * * 
Q. Just so I understand you, I understand y01! to 

say that both Mr. Hegyi and Mr. Carnassale came to 
Y01tr residence and asked yot! if you would vote ab­
sentee in order that Ed Carnassale could T1tn as a 
write-in candidate for the primary.W 

A. That's true. 

Q. Now, did there come a time when YOtt received 
the actual ballot for the June 6th primary? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did they give you any stickers along with that 
ballot? 

At this point Mr. C'arthan testified that "the mayor and Eddie" 
brought the ballot paraphernalia to him. Counsel sought to 
clarify his use of the "candidates' stickers" that were part of 
the package: . 

Q. Now, I realize you haven't been here to under­
stand what we're talking about, necessarily. But do 
you understand what I mean when I say did they 
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bring the stickers with thern? And on those stickers 
were the candidates' names typed thereon? 

A. Well, I uuderstand what you mean by 
",stickers," and--

Q. Well, did they bring stickers with them when 
they brought the ballot over? 

A. It seemed like, seemed to me like, it seemed like 
to me like they-it was, they did briug them over, it 
Heemed like. 

Q. And when it came time to cast your ballot, did 
you place any stickers on this piece of paper.W 

A. No. 

Mr. Oarthan's failure to use the stickers on the ballot he got 
from Messrs. Carnassale and" Hegyi didn't escape the candidate 
and his helper even though they were not present when he filled 
out his ballot. Mr. Carthan said he gave the ballot, sealed in a 
white envelope, to Mr. Carnassale. Oounsel Blumenstein: 

Q. Then what happened after yot! handed the white 
envelope to Mr. Carnassale? 

A. Well, he picked it up and felt it, just felt it, 
like, and he told Hegyi that it seemed like it wasn't 
in there. 

Q. Well, did they say anything before they felt it, 
that you recall? 

A. No. When they come to get it, they just-I 
mean, when they come to get it, I just hand him mine 
and other three were on the table, and I went to get 
the other and he just felt it. That's all, he felt it, 
and he told Hegyi that he didn't think it was in there. 

Q. Mr. Carnassale said that? 
A. Yes," to Hegyi. So Ldidn't know what he meant 

by "wasn't in there," so--

Q. Was there-at any time did either of the two 
people, either Mr. Hegyi or Carnassale, say anything 
to the effect your ballot should not have been sealed? 

A. Yes, they did tell me that. 

Q. Do you know which one said that, if YOt! recall? 
A. I think it was Eddie. Eddie. 

Q. Carnassale? 
A. Carnassale, yes. 
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EXAMINATION BY THE OHAIRMAN: 

Q. In other words, two things took place when they 
came back: One, they qttestioned why you had sealed 
the envelope. Is that correct? -

A. Yes. 

Q. And two, they felt amd made a comment that 
it's not in there.@ 

A. That's wha,t the mayor said, yes. 

Q. And as a result of that, yMt took it yourself? 
A. I took it down myself. 

EXAMINATION BY MR. BLUMENSTEIN: 

Q. Do yMt know what it was they were feeling for? 
A. I really don't kno-w. He WaJS just feeling it. I 

don't Imow what he was doing. 
Q. At that point you sil1tply became suspicious? 
A. I got suspicious. 

Q. And took it back? 
A. Yes. 

Another Absentee Voter 

The next witness, John R. Porter, told how Mr. Oarnass·ale 
"helped" him obtMn and cast an absentee ballot. Oommission 
Oounsel Blumenstein: 

Q. Now, refe,.,.ing to the p,.ima,.y election held on 
June 6th, 1978, not the gene,.al election just last 
,nonth, did you have occasion to vote in that primary.@ 

A. Yes. 
Q. And by what method did you vote? 
A. Absentee. 

Q. Now, Mr. Porter, I show you what's been. 
marked C-14 for identification, which purports to be 
the application you submitted in that election, and I 
ask you if you can recognize your signature at the bot­
tom.. Take your time. 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. That is your signatwre? 
A. Yes, sir. 
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Q. Now, referring to the printing throughout the 
rest of the application, is that your handriting? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Do you know whose it is? 
A. Mr. Oarnassale. 
Q. Did Mr. Carnassale fill that in at your request? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Now, did there C01ne a time when you actually 
received the ballot? 

A. Oh, two Or three days after. 

Q. And how did you receive it? By hand delivery, 
mailor--

A. Oh, I received it at his bar or home, whatever. 
He lives the s'ame place. 

Q. You went to Ed Carnassale's bar, in other 
words? 

A. Right. 
Q. And he handed it to you there? 
A. Correct. 

Q. Now, Mr. Porter, I'm going to show you what's 
been marked C-17 for identification, which purports 
to be the certificate of civilian absentee voter in that 
election, and I ask you again if that's your signature 
at the bottom? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And throughout the rest of the application 

whose handwriting is that; do you know? 
A. Mr. Carnassale's. 

Q. And on the lower left-hand corner where it 
says, "Person assisting blind voter in marking ballot 
and completing and signing certificate herein sign 
following statement: Voter assisted by." and could 
you tell us whose signature is there? 

A. That's Mr. Carnass,ale's. 

Q. And did he fill out the certificate at your re­
quest? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And did he fill out the ballot itself at your re­

quest? 
A. 80me of it and some not. 
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Q. Mr. Porter, I show you what's been marked 
0-17 A tor identification, which I represent to YOt! is 
the ballot that you cast in that election. Now, it you 
can see, up above are the words "F'ieldsboro." Over 
here, sir. 

A. I can see. 

Q. And an abbreviation for Democrat, and below 
that are the names of several candidates written in 
there by pen. Did you put those names in there? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. And words? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Do you know who did? 
A. Mr. Carnassale. 

Q. Were you aware that Mr. Oarnassale was a 
candidate in that election? 

A. Yes, ,sir. 

Q. Is it a fair statement to say, then to say, that 
the candidate himself was the one who assisted you? 

A. Yes, sir. For my request, though, sir. 

Q. Right, I understand. It's at yot!r reqt!est. But 
the bottom line is that Mr. Oarnassale checked his own 
nam.e on your ballot. Is that correct? 

A. He, he asked me e'ach oue that I wanted to vote 
for and he wrote it on there. 

Q. Bt!t the bottom-but the point is, Mr. Oarnas­
sale put his own name on your ballot at yot!r request? 

A. At my request, in my presence. 

EXAMINATION BY THE CHAIRMAN: 

Q. Mr. Porter, do you know how many other people 
voted that night in that kitchen? 

A. Not that particular day, sir. 

Q. Are there quite a few that vote in that kitchen, 
or are you just one that happened to be there? 

A. I happened to be there, and that particular day, 
as long as they did ask that, I did it. Actually, mine 
was did on the table next to the kitchen. ' 
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Q. No. All right. In ordcr to a.ssist you, you end 
up either in his kitchen or the roan. next to the leitchen 
to fill out the a.pplica.tion, a.nd then you went ba.ck to 
tha.t sa.nte roan. a.nd voted your ba.llot? 

A. No, sir. I filled out the application on the tables 
next to the kitchen. 

Q. Well, you were in his esta.blishm,ent? 
A. Right. 
Q. Now, my point is this, Mr, Porter: tha.t on both 

occa.sions where you ha.ve to do something in order to 
vote a.bsentee, one, fill out an a.pplica.tion, a.nd, two, 
a.ctua.lly vote the ba.llot, both things took pla.ce within 
Mr. Ca.rna.ssa.le's esta.blishment? 

A. Yes, s~r. 

The Promised Zoning Variance 
A promise of a zoning vaciance marked the absentee voting 

"assistance" offered to the next Fieldsbo,ro witness, Mrs. Myra 
Ramirez. She was told by the mayor's campaign helper that 
after the election, "we (lan get the va,riance you want" to permit 
the (lonversion of the Ramirez home into a co=ercial print shop. 
The promise was not kept, the testimony sho~ved. Oommission 
Oounsel John R. Dillon, III, questioned Mrs. Ramirez: 

Q. Did you ha.ve occa.sion to vote in the most recent 
election, tha.t is, the genera.l election of November 7, 
1975? 

A. Yes. 
Q. I see. Did you submit a.n a.bsentee ba.llot in tha.t 

election? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Would you plea.se expla.in to the Commission 

the circumstances surrounding'the submissiol1, oj that 
a.bsentee ba.llot? 

A. From the very beginning~ 
Q. Yes. 
A. Well, I had gone to Hegyi's liquor store to 

make a purchase and he asked me where my husband 
Jose was. 

Q. When you sa.y he a.sked yOt~, you mean Mr. 
Fra.nk Hegyi? 

A. Mr. Hegyi. 
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Q. Okay. 
A. Mr. Hegyi asked me where my hushand Jose 

was. I told him he was outside waiting for me in the 
car. 

As I was coming out, he folLowed me out, and I 
noticed he had two cards in his hand, which were the 
applicaticons for absentee ballot. And he walked over 
to my husband's side of the car and he told my hus­
band-he gave them to my husband, and he told my 
husband to just sign them; you know, for us just to 
them-and he would do the rest. And I told him that 
I did not put my signature on anything uuless I filled 
out everything myseH. 

Q. When he said he would do the rest, do you rnean 
fill out the remainder of that application? 

A. Yes. He just-all he wanted was just our sig­
natures, you know, where it says, "Signature." 

Q. On the bottom· of the application? 
A. Yes. That's all he wanted was just our signa­

tures. 

Q. Okay. And---
A. And I told him I did not put my signature on 

anything; that I would fill it out, you know, we would 
fill it out ourselves. 

So he says, "Well, when you receive your absentee 
ballot, just sign it and bring it to me," because he 
says he wanted to put a sticker on it with Mr. Carnas­
sale's name on it. 

And we want to get a variance. Right now our 
house is residentral, and we would like to have, it 
turned over to -commercial for a print shop. And my 
husband had asked him for an application for avari­
anee. 

Q. Okay. 
A. And he told my husband not to worry about it. 

After elections-you know, he says, "After elections 
we can get that varian-ce you want." And he said 
something about depended on what ball game you 
were in or something. 

My husband and I really-we couldn't make out 
what he meant by it, so we got home and we started 
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thinking about it and we felt that what he meant by 
it was either, either for Mr. Carnas-s'ale or Mr. Tyler, 
the other guy running for mayor. 

Q. Mr. Tyler tvas Mr. Carnassale's opponent in 
tl,e election? 

A. Yes. I don't know if that is what he meant, but 
that's what we thought he meant. 

Then he just told us again why didn't we just sign 
the ballots there, and, you know, save us the--

Q. Sign the ballots or the applications for the bal-
lots? 

A. The applioation. I'm sorry. 

Q. Okay. 
A. He asked us again that why didn't we just sign 

the applica,tion and it would save us, you know, the 
bother of going back. But I said, no, that we would 
do it ourselves. 

Mrs. Ramirez then said she and her husband obtained their 
ballots throngh the mail and, without reporting back to Mr. Hegyi, 
"did our -own voting" and "mailed it ourselves" to be cast in 
the election. Oounsel: 

Q. As of this date YOt£ have not received a van­
ance; is that correct? 

A. No. 

How the Haluskas' Absentee Vote Was Cast 

Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Halnska, the final witnesses of the Com­
mission's fimt public hearing day, testified that their absentee 
ballots were filled ont and east at the November election in 
Fieldsboro~bllt not by them. Counsel Dillon first questioned 
Dorothy Haluska: 

Q. Did you have occasion to vote in the most recent 
election, that is, the election of November 7, 1975? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you submit an absentee ballot in that elec­
tion? 

A.Yes, I did. 
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Q. Would you please explain to the Commission 
the circumstances surrounding the filing ot that ab­
sentee ballot? 

A. Okay. Mr. Frank Hegyi came to my door on a 
Sunday, and he woke me from taking a nap with my 
children, and asked me to sign a piece of paper. And 
with heing just woken up, I didn't know, yoh know, 
what it was, so I just signed it and I figured that it 
did have something to do with the voting in Novem­
ber. So I signed it, and Mr. Hegyi left and I went 
back to my nap. Then later on I woke up and I 
realized that it was the absentee-ballot request. 

Q. How did you come to that realization? 
A. Because I had voted absentee last year in the 

general election, last year. 

Q. Okay. Mrs. Halttslea, I will show you what has 
been previously marked C-20 tor identification, 
which is a Xerox copy of a civilian absentee-ballot 
application and a certificate ot civilian absentee voter. 
I direct your attention to the signatures at the bottom 
ot both ot those documents, and I will asle you, are 
those your signatures? 

A. They are my signatures. 

Q. All right. I direct your attention to the re­
mainder of the printing which appears on both those 
items, that is, the certificate ot absentee ballot and 
the civilian absentee-ballot application, and I asle you, 
is that your handwriting? 

A. No, it's not. 
Q. Do you lenow whose handwriting that is.~ 
A. No, I don't. 

Q. All right. You stated that you were handed the 
absentee-ballot application, you signed it and you re­
turned it to Mr. Hegyi. And it was not filled in? 

A. Right. 
Q. Did there come a time later on when you re-

ceived an absentee ballot.~ 
A. Yes. 
Q. And when was that? 
A. It was on October 31st. I was in the middle of 

getting dinner and Mr. Hegyi came to the door, and 
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he said that he had the absentee ballot; he would like 
me to sign it and he would take it with him. So I 
signed it. I didu't-- I asked him to leave it first, 
and he said, ""V ell, it ouly takes two secouds for you 
to sign your name to the absentee ballot and I'll fill 
out the rest for you." So I signed it and he put it 
back in the envelope and he took it with him. 

Q. Did you express your desire as to which candi­
date you cared to cast your vote for.w 

A. Not to Mr. Hegyi, no. 
COMMISSIONER LANE: Did you put anything on 

the ballot at all; any writing at all except your 
signature 1 

MRS. HALUSKA: No, I did not. 

COMMISSIONER LANE: At the time you put your 
siguature on was there anything else written on 
the balloU 

MRS. HALUSKA: Not that I had seen. 

COMMISSIONER LANE: All right. 

Q. Okay. Did you come to find out at a time sub­
sequent to when you handed the ballot to Mr. Hegyi 
ho.w that ballot was voted? 

A. Mr. Hegyi said that night after I had signed it 
that it would have been for Mr. Carnassale. 

Q. Now, again directing your attention to C-20, 
with particular reference to the civilian absentee­
ballot application, under the series of boxes there, 
under the title" Check reason for ballot," is checked 
"I expect to be absent fr(J1n the State of New Jersey 
on Election Day." Did you check that ballot? 

A. No, I did not. 

Q. Okay. Did you indicate to Mr. Hegyi that you 
would be absent on that day? 

A. No. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Were you absent on that day1 

THE WITNESS: No. I was right in my home. 
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E,XAMINATION OF MR. HALUSKA BY MR. DILLON: 

Q. How did Y011 vote in the November 7th, 1978, 
general election? And when I say that, I mean by what 
method did you vote? 

A. Absentee. 

Q. Mr. Haluska, would you please explain to the 
Commission the circ11mstances s1.wrounding your 
obtaining an absentee ballot in that election? 

A. Well, everything started back in 1977, the 
general election back there. Mr. Hegyi came over, 
wanted me to register to vote, and he had my wife's 
absentee ballot and I filled out some other cards and 
everything. 

Q. When you say" other cards," Y011 filled out 
some other cards? 

A . .Yes. 
Q. Were these for the purposes of registering to 

vote? 
A. I don't know what they were. I just signed them 

and he took care of the rest. 
And he came back. He brought my wife's a!bsentee 

ballot with him, and he told me it was too late for me 
to register to vote. "So we'll have to try next year," 
is what he said. 

And then I didn't see Mr. Hegyi until Halloween 
night, October 31st, 1978, and when he brought me a 
paper over to sign and that was it; just signed the 
paper. 

Q. When you say "a pape·r," did he bring over an 
absentee ballot for you to sign? 

A. It was a piece of paper. It wa;sn't no ba]jJ:ot, 
it was jus,t paper to sign. 

Q. I see. Well, was it the same paper that Y011r 
wife was asked to sign? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that she's previously identified as an ab­
sentee ballot? 

A. Right. 

Q. Mr. Haluska, I show you what has been pre­
viously marked C-20 for identification, which is a copy 
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of an application for civilian absentee ballot, and ad­
jacent to that on the same piece of paper is a certifi­
cate of civilian absentee voter. I asle you to look at 
the signatures at the base of both of those documents. 
Are those your signatures, respectively? 

A. Yes, they are. 
Q. Now, with regard to the rest of the writing that 

appears on both of those documents? 
A. No, it's not mine. 
Q. Mr. Haluska, it's your testimony that you did 

not file an application for the absentee ballot in the 
November 17, 1978, electio,~; is that correct? 

A. That's right. 

Q. Did Mr. Hegyi ever explain to you how he came 
to have in his possession an absentee ballot for that 
election? 

A. No. 

Q. Did YOtb sign that absentee ballot, what you in­
dica,ted was a piece of paper? 

A. The one I think, it was a green paper that he 
brought over on Halloween night. That's all I signe'd. 

Q. Okay. Did you indicate on that ballot any­
did you indicate the candidate of your choice on that 
ballot? . 

A. No, I didn't. 

Q. Did Mr. Hegyi ever explain to you who that 
ballot was subsequently voted for? 

A. No, he didn't. 

Q. Did he instruct you on how the ballot should be 
filled out? 

A. No. 

EXAMINATION OF MR. HALUSKA BY THE CHAIRMAN: 

Q. As I understand it, Mr. Haluska, then, you don't 
remember applying for the ballot in that last election? 

A. Not this last election, ldidn 't apply for it at 
all. 

Q. But the ballot showed up? 
A. Yes, sir. 

157 



Q. Then you signed a paper attached to it and it 
went away from you in blank? 

A. Right. 
Q. SO if that ballot was voted, it was voted by 

somebody else? 
A. Right. 
Q. And you were never asked for your choices in 

that ballot? 
A. No. 

EXAMINATION OF MR. HALUSKA BY COMMISSIONER LANE: 

Q. And how did that ballot leave you? 
A. What do you m{lan by that, sir? 

Q. Did somebody take it? Did you mail it or what? 
A. Mr. Hegyi took it with him. 

Q. And you're sure at the time you signed the bal-
lot there's nothing written on the whole form? 

A. Positive. 

Q. Except your signature? 
A. That's it. 

EXAMINATION OF MR. HALUSKA BY MR. DILLON: 

Q. Did YM' express to Mr. Hegyi a desire to vote 
at the polls? 

A. Yes, I.did. 

Q. And what did he say to you? 
A. He says that they got the absentee ballot for 

me and I couldn't waste this; I had to vote absentee. 

THE TESTIMONy-Second Day 
The Commission's final hearing day on absentee ballot abuses, 

on Friday, December 15, 1978, began with a transitional statement 
by the then-Chairman of the Commission, Joseph H. Rodriguez: 

As you know, witnesses under Oommission subpama 
testified yesterday on a variety of questionable activ­
ities relative to obtaining, distributing, processing 
and casting absentee ballots-in North Bergen in 
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Hudson Oounty, Chesillmrst in Camden County, and 
Fieldsboro in Burlington County. Several more local­
ities-Sea Isle City in Cape May .County and Pater­
son in Bassaic County-will come under public 
hearing scrutiny today. 

In essence, the sum of the testimony of these 
various groups of witnesses from various areas of 
the state illustrates not only the seriousness of the 
existing deficiencies in the Absentee Voting Law but 
also that unscrupulous conduct is by no means con­
centrated in anyone, particular eounty or munici­
pality. No one governmental or politi()al entity 
holds a monopoly on absentee election law abuse. 
Rather, the testimony recorded so far, which will be 
enlarged upon today, indicates a statewide problem 
of misconduct in this area. The danger this poses to a 
vital function of our democratic process-an honest 
eledion system to which all eligible voters, including 
legitimate absentee voters, have proper access-will 
be made increasingly evident during today's final 
proceedings. 

Absentee Voting in Sea Isle City 
This municipality's recall election on August 8, 1978, aimed 

at the· seat of Oommissioner William Kehner, was marked by 
various abuses of the absentee ballot privilege-including the 
utilization of unauthorized messengers, forged signatures and 
ballots, and other deceptions. The case of Frank A. Emanuele, 
who had a summer home in Sea Isle but was a permanent resident 
of Silver Springs, Maryland, was used as an example of the 
bargain-counter fashion in which absentee ballots were obtained 
and voted in this election. As Mr. Emanuele noted, he had lived 
for 30 years in Washington, D. C., and, of course, during that 
period was automatieally disenfranchised along with all other 
adult residents of Washington. After moving to Silver Springs, 
he registered and voted in one election there, his first aetual 
voting experience prior to the Sea Isle recall election seandal. 
Mr. Emanuele and members and his family did "vote" in the 
Sea Isle recall contest-but by means of absentee ballots which 
were cast by someone else taking advantage of the Emanueles' 
lack of knowledge of the electoral process. The Commission's 
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first witness in this episode was Joseph McCullough, a Sea Isle 
resident and registered voter and a volunteer worker in Mr. 
Kehner's campaign to hold his seat. 

Under questioning by Commission Counsel Neil J. Casey, III, 
Mr. McCullough related how he picked up application forms for 
absentee ballots and brought them back to the Kehner campaign 
headquarters. Then he and another campaign wor-ker, Jim Rogan, 
were later given filled-out applications to take back to the County 
Clerk at the Cape May Court House in order to pick up the ballots. 
Since the applications had to be signed by such a courier as the 
absentee ballot applicant's "authorized messenger," Counsel 
Casey asked how this requirement was complied with: 

Q. Didn't you have to sign your na'me? 
A. They were signed over in the-to my memory, 

they were signed over in the headquarters before we 
left, sir. That's why I'm confused about the desk. 

Q. Okay. Take a look again at 0-23. Is Y01ir signa­
ture on the bottom of that exhibit? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Now, that's in the bottom portion of the appli­
cationr--

A. Yes. 

Q. ----which has some stars around it and right 
above where your signatttre is on that line, right be­
low it rather, it says" Authorized messenger"? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Is that your signature? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. When did you affix your signature to that card? 
A. If I recall correctly, I think it was in the head-

quarters. 

Q. Who told YOtt to pttt your name on? 
A. That I don't remember, sir. 

Q. Somebody? 
A. There were several people there. 

Q. But you didn't know that you had to put your 
name on it? 

A. No, sir, I did not lmow it. 
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COMMISSIONER LANE: Was the ,applicant who 
. is on that card, named on that card, is that the 
person who authorized your signature? 

THE WITNESS: Positively not. 

Q. Now, this C-23, as a matter of fact, is an absen-
tee ballot application for Gloria Capron? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. C-a-p-r-o-n. Do you know Gloria Capron? 
A. No, sir, not to my knowledge. I may know her 

to see on the street or s,omething else. 

Q. But it's certainly a fact that Gloria Capron 
never said for Joseph McCullough to be my authorized 
m.essenger? 

A. Positively not. 

Q. Would you take a look at C-24 for identification 
which is an absentee ballot application for Susan F. 
Emanuele? 

A. Same answer, sir. 

Q. Do yo~, recognize-let me ask the question. 
A. That is my s,ignature. 

Q. In the authorized messenger slot? 
A. Y e8,sir; yes, sir. 

Q. And is it your contim,ing testimony that you 
believe that yo~, affixed yo~'r signature to that appli­
cation at Kehner headquarters? 

A. Yes, s,ir. 

Q. At someone's direction? 
A. It would have to be, sir, because I did not know 

what that was. 

Q. Someone's direction? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. But not Busan Emanuele's direction? 
A. Positively not. 

Q. As a matter of fact, you don't know her, do you? 
A. No. Not to my knowledge I do not know her. 

Q. I would like you to take a look at C-25 for identi-
fication which is an absentee ballot application for 
Jeffrey Capron. 

A. Same ans.wer, SIr. 
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Q. Does your signature appear-­
A. Yes. 

Q. --in authorized messenger-­
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. ---portion? Please let n,e finish the question 
before you answer. 

When did you p2d your signature on that? At head-
quarters? 

A. Yes, slir; yes, sir. 

Q. Do you know Jeffrey Capron? 
A. Not to my knoowledge, no, sir. 

Q. SO if you don't know him to your knowledge 
he certainly didn't tell you he wanted you to be his 
messenger, did he? 

A. Positively not. 

Q. Mr.1J1lcCullot!gh, I would like yO!! to take a look 
at C-26 for identification, which is an absentee ballot 
application for Joanne Emanuele. I would like you 
to look at that and--

A. Pardon me? 

Q. Now, that particular application does not have 
YOtW signature on it? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Whose signature is on there? Do you recognize 
it? 

A. I think that's James Rogan's signature, sir. 

Q. And, as a matter of fact, at the top of that 
starred block" Jim Rogan" is printed in there, isn't 
it? Right here. 

A. No, sir, I don't think so. 

Q. Do you see right here? 
A. Oh, yes, sir; yes, sir. Oh, yes. 

Q. Did you ever see that app(ication? 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Take a look at C-27 for identification, which is 
an absentee ballot application for Frank Emanuele. 
Would you take a look at that? 

A. Yes, sir. 
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"Q. Does that have Mr. Rogan's signature on it, 
also? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And, as a rnatter of fact, "Jirn Rogan" is also 
printed at the top of that starred box, is it? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you ever seen that application? 
A. No, sir, not to my knowledge. 

Q. FinallY---"not to your knowledge. Finally, would 
yOt! take a look at C-28 tor identification which is 
an absentee ballot application for Angelina Ernan­
uele. Would you take a look at that, and does Mr. 
Rogan's signature appear as the authorized rnessen­
ger on that application? 

A. Yes, sir, it does. 

Q. And, as a rnatter of fact, "Jirn Rogan" tS 

printed at the top of that box? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Isn't that right? 
And if you look, once again, at all of the applica­

tions in which Mr. Rogan is indicated as the autho­
rized rnessenger, just taking a look at the portion at 
the top of the starred box where the "Jim~ Rogan" is 
printed, does that appear to you that the sante indi­
vidual printed Jirn Rogan on each of those? 

A. The printing looks very much the same, sir; 
very, very compaTable, I would say. 

Q. Fine. 
A. I'm no, you know, expert on it. 

Q. No, just by--
A. Yes. 

Q. --just by looking at it, it's obvious that the 
sarne person wrote it. Right? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. When you got to the clerk's office, you handed 
the clerk the applications that you had, signed as 
authorized rnessenger? 

A. Ye8, sir. 
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Q. And did you the~hat did you do then? Did 
you leave? In other words, did the clerk give you.a 
ballot then or did you have to subsequently return to 
pick up ballots? 

A. I imag-ine she gave me the-the ballots, sir. 

Q. At least, it's fair to say that, well, it's the truth, 
that you did at some point obtain-­

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. --actual absentee ballots? 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. What did you do with those ballots? 
A. Brought them back and put them in the head-

quarters. 

Q. Do you recall how many? 
A. No, I do not, ·sir. 

Q. Who did you give them to in headquarters? 
A. I put them on the desk, sir. 

Q. You didn't give them to any partiGtllar-­
A. No. 

Q. -individual? 
A. If I did, I don't know who I did give it to, sir. 

There·were always--

Q. But-
A. --many people there. 

Q. You didn't give them to Jeffrey Capron, did 
you? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. And you didn't give them to Susan Emanuele, 
did you? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. And you didn't give one to Gloria Capron, did 
you? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. You brought them back to Kehner headquar-
ters? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q.Because that's what YOtt were supposed to do? 
A. Yes, sir. 

* * * 
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Q. Did anyone at headquarters tell you that you 
were going to be a messenger for absentee ballots? 

A. I don't think directly, sir. I think it was dis­
cussed at the meetings. 

Q. In a general sense that "We were going to need 
a number of people to get absentee ballot applications 
for us"? 

A. No, I don't think it was in a general sense, sir. 
Q. Well, then, it was in a specific sense? 
A. Well, if you are going (l'Ver, if you would go 

over. 
Q. Certainly, at campaign strategy meetings, or 

whatever you want to call them, at meetings that had 
to do with the campaign for Mr. K ehner, the subject 
of securing absentee ballot applications and absentee 
ballots was discussed, and it became known to volun­
teer workers that this was going to be part of the work 
that had to be done; you had to get the absentee ballot 
applications, you had to get the ballots. Right? 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And they were supposed to be taken to the 

headquarters. Did anybody ever say, "Pick up the 
ballots and deliver them to the voters"? 

A. I don't thinlr I ever heard that, sir. 
Q. But your total role here with respect to these 

abse,~tee ballot applications, you were a messenger? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And you toere an authorized messenger because 

you signed your name in that block on the applica­
tion; isn't that right? 

A. Yes, sir, that's what it says there. 
Q. You signed as an authorized messenger? 
A.yes,sir. 
Q. You were the authorized messenger not for 

Susan Emanuele and not for Jeffrey Capron and not 
for Gloria Capron? YOt! weren't their authorized 
messenger, were you? 

A. Positively not. 
Q. As a matter of fact, YOt! were the authorized 

messenger for the William Kehner campaign, weren't 
you? 

A. I would say, yes, sir. 
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Mr. Kehner's Campaign Coordinator 

How the absentee ballot phase of the recall election was handled 
by Mr. Kehner's supporters was described-up to a point-by the 
mayor of Sea Isle City, Dominick C. Raffa, who subsequently 
asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege to remain silent. Mr. 
Raffa, the campaign eoodinator, was questioned by Commission 
Counsel Rhoads: 

Q. Mr. Raffa, while yo~, have been subpoenaed 'in 
connection to a broad-based investigation, your testi­
mony is going to be localized around a recall election 
which was held in Sea Isle City on August 8, 1978, 
wherein the incumbent commissioner, a Mr. I(ehner, 
waB involved in the recall election. Are you familiar 
with that election? 

A. Yes. 

Q. With respect to Mr. Kehner, were you the, let's 
say, campaign coordinator for Mr. Kehner? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. With respect to you being the campaign coordi­
nator, did you have any helpers or organizational 
assistants that aided you in his campaign? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Just to digress for one moment, would you 
explain to the C01nmission what a recall election is? 

A. Well, recall election is when you have an elec­
tion and they have-or you can't have a recall until 
an elected official is in office for one year. So after the 
year is up, all they need is 25 percent of the people 
that voted in the last general electton to get on a peti­
tion and, for no reason at all, just because you get 
25 percent, they can have a recall election. Don't need 
any cause, but get 25 percent of the people voted iIi 
the last election, because they don't like the choice, 
even though you get elected by 75 percent of the 
people, 25 percent of the people can say we want a 
re(Jall election, and have a recall election. 

166 



Q. Thank you. 
Now, with again specific r-eference to the August 

8th, 1.978, recall election of Mr. Kehner, did you have 
any paerty headquarter-s? 

A. Talking about party headquarters, we had 
headquarters for the recall election. 

Q. What type premises is that, or stmcture? 
A. It's just a little store front. 

Q. Now, with regard to the assistance or orga'l'/,iza­
tional helpers tha,t you ,,<a'll have had, how many did 
you have? 

A. Well, it could have gone anywhere from 4 to 
50. 

Q. Well, with respect to particular individ"wls that 
worked fOT you, can '1101, give us SOme names of the 
people that assisted you in this recall election? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. ",Vell, I had two people come forward, said­

asked me if they eould do anything for me and so 
forth and so on, and those two people happened to 
be in the headquarters at the time when I had absentee 
ballots or applieations to be taken to the county and 
their names were Jim Rogan and Joe McOullough. 

Q. Anyone else that a'ided YMt, or assisted you? 
A. We had other people in there at all time's. 

Q. Do you know any of their names,w 
A. All right. We had two young girls in there. 

One was Maryann 'Wilkins and the other one was 
Oatherine Orisp, were working the telephones. 

Q. Now, with respect to the election itself, with 
regard to the votes that were submitted, are you 
aware thiJ,tivny of those votes were sub,nittedby 
means of absentee ballot? 

A. Repeat that again, please. 

Q. Are you aware in the recall election of the votes 
that were sub,nitted that some were subrnitted as a 
result of absentee ballot? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Yes. 
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Q. And with respect to the absentee balloting, as 
carnpaign coord'inator, did yo" play any role in either 
the solicitation or assistance or rnechanical process 
with respect to the absentee ballots? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Yes. 

Q. And what was it? 
A. Well, I ordinarily, and I said this befDre, that I 

go after absentee ballots for those who wish to vote 
and don't know how to vote or they're gDing to be 
out of town Dr don't feel like going to the polls and 
S'O forth and so on. I had the list of those people 
that I would or,dinarily check with at every election, 
and I had a list of maybe 3·5 or 40 and I checked 
them. I would ask them if they wanted an application 
for an absentee ballot .. I saw they got the applica­
tions. If they didn't want to send the application­
although I have to say something at this point: In 
this recall election there was no time for a person to, 
to mail an application in and get a ballot back ill time 
for election. The ballots were not in the County 
Clerk's office, only three days before election, the 
absentee ballot. 

Q. All right. Well, with regard to the absentee 
ballots thernselves were there in fact sorne votet·s 
that said, yes, I have a reason to vote absentee? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it they were to cornrn"nicate that to you, 
what would you do? 

A. See they get an application, they give the appli­
cation to me or they go down to the courthouse, and 
we'd-that's why we had the runners available, 
to make sure they were able to get a ballot and get it 
back the courthouse before the polls closed. 

Q. Did any of thern in fact give yo" any absentee 
ballot applications? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How rnany? 
A. Oh, I don't know. Approximately 20. 
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Q. And what wo~!ld you do with the 20 that were 
given you? 

A. I would send them-the application? 

Q. The applications. 
A. I would send the application to the courthouse 

so it would be processed. 

Q. By what means? 
A. A runner. 

Q. Who were the runners or runner? 
A. This one point we're talking about is McOul­

lough and Rogan. 
Q. Well, with respect to runners, did you more or 

less designate them as messengers to go down to the 
courthouse? 

A. I did at the time, but they were not there for 
that purpose. But if they were in the building, I did 
ask them, if they were going down to the courthouse, 
if they'd take them. 

Q. In other words, if someone were there perhaps 
working on sornething else and ym! see him in head­
quarters, you would say" I'm going to make YOt! a 
messenger for the purpose of the absentee ballot." 
Is that it? 

A. Yes. 
Q. With respect to Mr. Rogan and Mr. McCullough 

that's in fact what you did? 
A. That's it. 

Q. Now, did there come a time when you literally 
sent Mr. Rogan and/or Mr. McC~!llough down to the 
courthouse to retrieve ballots? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And did they, in fact, go? 
A. Yes. 

Q. Well, did you hand them the absentee applica­
tions? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Sir, I',n going to direct your attention to a 
blow-up exhibit. For the record, this is Commission 
Exhibit 1,. And it reads on the top "Civilian Absentee 
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Ballot Application." I'm going to invite your atten­
tion to the bottom. There is a starred-in portion on 
this application and I'm going to read the section that 
follows the word" 01'." "If you are sick or confined, 
you may apply to the Cmonty Clerk during business 
hours to 3 p.m. of the day prior to the election via 
authorized messenger designated." 

Will you agree with me that this clause is directed 
to the voter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the voter, it he's sick or confined, will 
send a rnessenger down to get his ballot? 

A. Right. That's what-that was intended right. 

Q. And that messenger, of course, is a messenger 
of the voter's choice, is it not? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And the messenger you sent was a messenger 
of your choice, was it not? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You never, in fact, even told the voters that you 
were going to give their applications to Mr. Rogan 
or Mr. McCullough, did you? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Why? 
A. You lmow, I don't know why. 

Q. Fair enough. Now, with respect to the ballots 
that came back, what would you do with them? 

A. 8ee that the people got the ballots that asked 
for them. 

Q. Would you personally see to it that they got the 
ballots? 

A. In some cases. 

Q. And in cases that you didn't personally do it, 
what would you do? 

A. Give it to someone that was there that lmew the 
people personally, would take them to them and make 
sure they vo.ted them and we got them back to make 
sure they got counted. 

Q. Sir, I'm going to show y01t Commission ex­
hibits, and these are absentee ballot applications. 
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They're out of order. It's C-23, C-27, C-26, C-24, 
C-25, C-28. So it's C-23 through C-28. 

Would you look at those exhibits, please? 
While you are looking at them, tell me, are they 

part of the batch of applications that you sent with 
either Mr. Rogan or JJlr. McCullough down to the 
county courthouse? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. Now, if you will, look down at where it says 
"Authorized messenger"? In particular, on three of 
them, there is penned in the name "Jim Rogan." 
Did you do that? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Who did you direct to do that? 
A. I didn't. 

Q. Didn't you j~,st testify that you were the one 
that was in charge of designating messengers to go 
down and get the ballots? 

A. That's right, but whoever put "Jim Rogan" 
there probably could not understand the signature, 
so they must have printed "Jim Rogan" to know that 
that's what it was for. But at no time did I put that 
on there for to say Jim Rogan there for you. 
Because when I had the absentee ballot applications, 
all I did was split them up just so each one wouldn't 
have too many, and split them up like that and say 
take these down. 

Q. Now if you---
A. First they come and sign as a messenger. 

Q. Keep those before you. Did the ballots come 
back for the Emanueles? 

-A.;-Yes. 

Q. What did you do with the ballots that came 
back for the E,nanueles? 

(Witne,ss conferring with counsel.) 
A. They come back in the office, and how they got to 

Emanueles or in their box, I don't know. 

Q. I hadn't asked you that yet. 
When they came back to the office, what did you do 

with them? 
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A. Oh, when they come back, they come back iIi 
probably 15 or 20 ballots. I don't remember, 

Q. Well, do you have any specific recollection with 
respect to the ballots for the Emanueles? After all, 
we are talking only about 20 ballots, are we not? . 

A. I know, but on the other hand that wasn't the 
only thing I was doing on election day. 

Q. I appreciate that. 
A. This happened on election day. 
Q. Do yo~! have a specific recollection of what you 

did with the ballots for the Emam,eles? 
A. No, sir. . 

Q. What did you do in general with the ballots 
when they came back? 

A. I told you if someone was there that knew the 
person that ballot was for, they would take the 
ballots. 

Q. If you will, take your time, think back to August; 
was there anyone who came to yo~! 'and said I know 
the Emanueles, I'll take them to them, words to that 
effect? 

A. Oould have. 

Q. Could have. Well, did it happen? 
A. I don't know. 

Q. You don't know? 
A. Or I don't remember. 
Q. Do you know a man by the name of Aloysius 

Zurawski? 
A. Yes, I do. 
Q. With respect to Mr. Zurawski, is it not he that 

brought the applications to you for the Emamteles? 

CWitMss conferring with counsel.) 
A. Yes. 

Q. Well, does it refresh your recollection, now 
that you recall Mr. Zurawski brought you the appli­
cations, that perhaps it was Mr. Zurawski to whom 
you gave the ballots? 

(Witness conferring with counsel. ) 
A. It could have been. I don't remember:. 
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Q. Do you, have any specific recollection at all 
whether it was or not? 

(Witness conferring- with counsel.) 
A. Not at this point. I believe I don't remember. 

I can't remember. 

Q. Do yo~, know whether, in fad, ballots were 
submitted by the Emanueles in the recall election? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Well, I send the applications down the court-

house and ballots come back to our headquarters. 

Q. Ballots came back to you? 
A. Yes. 

Q. I will ask you again, do you know whether votes 
on the absentee ballots were act~taUy submitted by the 
Emanueles? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Yes. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Did the Emanueles vote their 
ballot1 I think that's the question. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

THE CHAIRMAN: And it came back to you 1 

THE V1ITNESS: Yes, and we sent them down 
the courthouse to be counted. 

Q. Now, after the Emanueles voted their ballot, 
why was it that it came back to you? 

A. Because we run them to the courthouse because 
there was no time to mail them. This was on election 
day. 

Q. Who brought them back to you? 
A. r don't remember whetherthej brouglitthem 

back to me, they were in the headquarters when I got 
there the following morning, but they were in there. 

Q. Would it help for you to take a moment to 
tlvink? 

A; No, they could have been put under the door. 
They could have been anything-. 

Q. SO you have no idea at all how they got back to 
you? 

A. No. 
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Q. Well, when they got back to YOtt, what did you 
do with them? 

A. Well, as I say, when we're working there that 
day with the phones and everything, I say, "All right, 
we have some ballots to go down to the courthouse. 
Who wants to take them down!" And I don't 
remember then who took them. 

Q. Is it fair to say that these ballots were not 
mailed to ymt? 

A. Yes, I would say they were not mailed. 
Q. SO they wmtld have had-
A. They couldn't have been. 
Q. Excuse me, Mr. Raffa. Let me ask the question. 

They would have to have been dropped off by someone 
at headquarters; isn't that so? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Because the ballot that holds the inner envelope 

-excuse me. The envelope whi.ch contains the inner 
envelope containing the ballot is addressed to the 
Board of Elections, isn't it? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Well, how do you know that these are the ballots 

from the Emanueles? Was there some indication on 
the outer envelope that they were from the 
E man1teles? 

A. Yes, their name and address is on the reverse 
side of the outer envelope. 

Q. Do you know the Emanueles? 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know Jeffrey and Gloria Capron? 
A. I know Gloria a lot better than I do Jeffrey, 

because Gloria's the--
Q. And did you ever have any conversation with 

them subsequent to the election involving whether or 
not they voted in that election? 

A. No. 
Q. SO at least 1vith f'irst hand knowledge from the 

Emantteles you have no idea whether they voted or 
not; is that so? 

(Witness conferring with counseL) 
A. I don't have firsthand knowledge, no. 
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Pleads the Fifth Amendment 
Mr. Raffa was given certain documents, including applications 

for absentee ballots and envelopes in which such ballots would 
have been submitted to the County Election Board. Counsel 
Rhoads: 

Q. Look over those documents that I have just 
given to you, then, to you, and tell me, have you ever 
seen them before? 

A. Not--
(Witness conferring with counsel.) 

A. (Continuing) Yeah, I saw the envelopes and 
then I forwarded them to headquarters, -to the 
County Board of Elections. 

Q. Did you ever see the contents of the envelopes 
before? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. I have to decline to answer that question be­

cause it may intend to incriminate me. 

Q. You feel that your response to that question 
woUld expose you to some criminal liability? 

(Witness conferring with counsel.) 
A. Could possibly do so. 

Q. Could possibly. May I have the exhibits back, 
please? 

Mr. Raffa, did you ever have any conversation with 
Mr. Zurawski with respect to the absentee ballots 
allegedly cast by the Emanueles and the Caprons? 

(Witness conferring with counseL) 
A. I can't answer the question on grounds that it 

may tend to incriminate me. 

··Mf:RB:oA))s'Mr.Chaiiiiiait;iitviewofthaf 
last response, I have no further questions of this 
witness. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Mr. Raffa, the Commission 
has no further questions of you at this time, but 
because of the responses that you have given, we 
will notify you, through your counsel, in the near 
future as to what action this Commission will take 
with respect to those responses. 
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Hospitalized Witness 
The next witness in the Commission's review of absentee ballot 

abuse in Sea Isle City was to have been Aloysius Zurawski, It 
friend of the Frank A. Emanuele family. However, the Commis~ 
sion announced that it had received word that Mr. Zurawski had 
been injured the previous night in an automobile accident and 
was in an Atlantic County hospital. Be<lanse of the importance 
of Mr. Zurawski as a witness, the Commission put into the public 
hearing record his prio.r sworn testimony before an executive 
session of the Commission on November 14, 1978. This was ac­
complished by Counsel Rhoads repeating the questions from the 
execntive session testimony to S.C.I. Special Agent Kurt Schmid, 
who in the witness chair repeated Mr. Zurawski's answers from a 
copy of that same tr.anscript: 

Q. "Now, with respect to the recall election, did 
you play any role in the operation of that recall elec~ 
tion? By that I mean did you handle c6ny balloting 
or have any involvement at all in the election?" 

A. "I was not active in that campaign at all." 

Q. "Did you have anything to do with absentee 
ballots that were submitted in that campaign?" 

A. "I was requested by a friend of mine, Frank 
Emanuele, to secure some absentee ballots for him 
and members of his family." 

Q. "Well, what exactly did you do along those 
lines ?" 

A. "I got absentee~well, you see, Frank had. in~ 
tended to vote 'at the polls is what he told me. Howe 
ever, late, when it got toward the election, he didn't 
know if he was going to be called away to his business 
and that he wouldn't be . able to vo,te at the polls, but 
may have to vote absentee and I seeured the absentee 
ballots for him and took them to his home." 

Q. "How many in number?" 
A. "I took a stack, sir. I don't know how many 

there were altogether." 

Q. "Well, when you took them to the Emanueles' 
home, did they fill them out in your presence?" 

A."While I was in the home they were filled out, 
yes, by Frank and his family." 
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, Q. "They filled out the entire a,pplication?" 
A. "There was one item where they had just 

brought-bought an apartment across the street aud 
I think they were--ah, he wondered if they were reg­
istered from their exi&ting apartment cottage or the 
new apartment, and I assured him that they had~ 
if they hadn't voted in another election, that they 
should be still in their old cottage. That would be their 
address for voting." 

Q. "Well, did you fill out any part of the applica­
tion ballot, the application for a ballot for the Emanc 

ueles or the Gaprons?" 
A. "My reooUection was that I put the address 

down." 
Q. "Their address on the application?" 
A. "The appliclj-tion, yes." 

Q. "What about the reason why they were request" 
ing an absentee ballot; did you put that on there?" 

A. "No. I didu't indi(late any reHson ,because, 
'again, I wouldn't know wht to say. Frank wanted 
to vote in town, but he was afraid he would be called 
out and I just didn't know what, if there would be a 
reason, what the re'ason would be except his late call 
out of town." 

Q. "Now, after they were filled out or by whom­
ever, what did you do with them.?" 

A. "Well, when I left the Emanueles ' house, on my 
way home I had. them in an envelope and I dropped 
them off ,at electi!on headquarters, whieh was very 
close to my home, and I went into the headquarters 
and s,aid to someone sitting at a desk, at a phone'; 
'Here are some requestsforabsenieehallots.' Lput 
.them on the desk and I left and went home." 

'Q. "Who was rtvnwing, let's say, the campaign f~r 
Bill·K ehner?" 

A. "Who was running~ You mean like the actual 
:campaign ehairman?" " ., 

Q. "Yes." 
A. "MaJor Raffa would be, I think, would be the 

main force behiud the Kehner election." 
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Q. "Now, when you dropped off these applications, 
to whom did you give them?" 

A. "I laid them on the desk in front of the person 
at the desk. My recollection was they were on the 
phone and I dl'opped them off and left immediately. 
I didn't stay at all to talk to anyone." 

Q. "Well, who is the person that you dropped 
them off that was on the phone?" 

A. "I really don ',t know that." 
Q. "But when you got the applications from the 

Emanueles and the Caprons and yO"' say you put in 
at least the .address at some point, isn't that so?" 

A. "Yes, sir." 
Q. "And you looked over their applications; isn't 

that so?" 
A. "Only that they, Frank gave them to me and 

I don't know if I looked them over to see if they were 
filled out pmperly, if that's what you mean. I didn't 
look over the entire application, no, sir." 

Q. "Well, what caused you to put in their address? 
Tn other words, why didn't they do it? Why did you 
do it?" 

A. "I thought I was being helpfuL Frank was aBk­
ing me should he put his new apmtment address down 
or should he put his, you know, his regular residence 
down and I guess I took it upon myself to say, 'Well, 
you are still registered to vote from this house unless 
you changed it somewhere else, through city hall ·or 
the county clerk's office or wherever'." 

Q. "Then why didn't you give it back to him to put 
in his address? Why did yM' put it in?" 

A. "I guess I thought I was being helpful. " 

Q. "Along those lines, when you looked down and 
it said, "Attfhorized Messenger," did you tell him to 
give you an authorized messenger or list one there?" 

A. "Oh, no, I did not." 
Q. "To your knowledge, when you handed those 

applications in to headquarters there was no a;utho­
rized messenger, was there?" 

A. "No. No, I did not know that." 
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Q. "The Emanueles, as I understand, and you cor­
rect me it I'm wrong, lived at 20 37th Street in Sea 
Isle City?" 

A. "Yes. That would be their residence." 

Q. "So with respect to these applications, the ad­
dress you put in there was the 20 37th Street ad­
dress?" 

A. "37th Street." 

Q. "Isn't that so?" 
A. "Urn-hum." 

Q. "That would tell someone at the county that 
these ballots would be mailed to that address; isn't 
that so?" 

A. "That's eOITed, yes." 

Q. "Unless, ot course, someone put down an a7,­
thorized messenger to pick them up, right?" 

A. "I would presume so, yes." 

Q. "Now, having once dropped ott these applica­
tions, how much time was left between the time that 
you dropped off the applications and the actual elec­
tion?" 

A. "This would have been a Sunday that I dr·opped 
them off at election headquarters." 

Q. "And when was the election?" 
A. "It was the following Tuesday." 

Q." All right. So that leaves Monday and Tuesday 
t01" the tirne tor these ballots to come back, be filled 
out, and sent in. Right?" 

A. "Yes, sure, obviously." 

Q. "Did you see the ballots when they came back 
to theE manueles?" 

A. "No, I did not." 

Q. "Did you see the Emantteles on August 8 of 
1978?" 

A. "No, I did not. Well, what was the day~ Au­
gust the 8th?" 

Q. "That was the day of the election." 
A. "No, I did not." 
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Q. "You didn't see them?" 
A. "I had other business that took me out of town 

and I hadn't seen them." 

Q. "Did YOtt ever see the ballots that were sub­
mitted, the absentee ballots that were submitted by 
the Emanueles and the Caprons?" 

A. "No, I did not." 

Q. "Do you know who filled them out?" 
A. "I had presumed that Frank did." 

Q. "You presume that he had filled ottt all of them 
or just his or what?" 

A. "He and his wife and his family. I don't know 
how, you know-1 don't know who of the family would 
have done that and I have since learned after the 
inquiry that they have denied having signed anything 
or thinking that they had signed a ballot one day 
when they actually just signed the application for a 
ballot." 

Q. "As fa.r as you know, physically, there is 
nothing wrong with any of the Emanueles,. isn't that 
right?" 

A. "Oh, no, I know that for a fact." 

Q. "When you dropped off the applications at this 
party headquarters, was the mayor there, Raffa?" 

A. "No, because if he was I would have Tecognized 
him. I know the mayor, but I didn't know the people 
in the-- who was there, and I don't even know how 
many there weTe there." 

Q. "Where did you actttally get the absentee ballot 
applications ?" 

A. "I believe I picked them up at city hall and I 
had been carrying them just as a conven1ence in case 
someone eveT aslced. My daughter votes from my 
house still and I didn't know if she would be home or 
working, and if she would have needed one, 'but .r 
guess . routinely I had some in my ca.r. I probably 
picked them up from city hall or I just don't know. 
T,hey're usually re~dily available at a lot of places." 

Q. "I'm aware of that. Did you get any from 
Mayor Raffa?" 

A. " Not to my recollection, no." 
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Q. "Now, did you have occasion to see the absentee 
ballots that were slkbmitted by the Emanueles and the 
Caprons?" . 

A. "The absentee ballots?" 

Q. "Right." 
A. "No, I did not." 

Q. "Did you ever ask the Emanueles if they 
voted?" 

A. "As I say, I presumed that they did because 
one way or another Frank would arrange to vote at 
the polls o,r through the absentee method." 

Q. "Mr. Zurawski, specifically what I am asking 
yo~t is, did you at any time after the election see 
Frank and ask him, 'Did you get your ballot and did 
you submit your ballot?' " 

A. "Yes, I did." 

Q. "What was his response?" 
A. ' 'He thought that he had signed something, but 

what he signed was the appliootion for the ballot and 
)1e doesn't remember. He didn't-he said he didn't 
remember actually signing a ballot." 

Q. "What. about the rest of the Emanueles, did 
you ever ask whether they got their ballots and sub­
mitted them and voted?" 

A. "I talked to Frank mainly, Frank and his wife 
Angie. I didn't see the others to talk to them." 

Q. "What did Angie say?" 
A. " Well, Angie said the same thing that Frank 

had said in my presence." 

. Q. "The only thing they did was the application?" 
A ..... ' 'Y eah.Tliey thollghtth~y weJe~tlleyt)1ought 

that they could have been mistaken, but they just 
weren't sure." 

Q. "Did you work at the headquarters at any time 
during this election?" 

A. "Not at all, no." 

Q. "Do you know a John McCullough?" 
A. "I do not know John McCullough. I know the 

the name as being someone from Sea Isle City, but 
I do not know him." . . 
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Q. "How about James Rogan?" 
A. "1 have learned wha Mr. Eagan is since the 

election. It's a name that should have registered with 
me because 1 served on a committee which met only 
twice to plan for our Memorial Day program, and 1 
'Only got to know him because 1 passed a looseleaf 
book around fo,r the people there to sign because 1 
didn't lmow who they were and 1 didn't want to be 
embarrassed by, you lmow, not knowing who was on 
the committee with me, and 1 wanted to use that for 
picture purpOBes and for news re1eas'e purpose'S." 

Q. "Now, did you ever come to learn that, in tact, 
the Emanueles did not receive their ballots and did 
not fill out the ballot and submit it; that in fact 
someone else did?" 

A. "Well, that is, I understand, what this is all 
about and I, again I thought, I really thought in my 
heart that Frank had voted one way or another and 1 
did not pursue it beyond that point." 

Q. "Why rjid you feel that?" 
A. "Because Frank said he wanted to vote in the 

election. " 
Q. "And you j2lst assumed that he did vote?" 
A. "Yeah, because, you know, what Frank wanted 

to knaw, I figured I had dane the best I could ta help 
him vate and then went abaut my business." 

Q. "Did Detective James Brennan speak to you 
regarding this matter?" 

A. "With wh01" 

Q. "JIJ/Ines Brennan from the Cape May County 
Prosecu,for's Office." 

A. "Yes, I was caned in ta talk with Detective 
Brennan and Detective Nelsan quite same time after 
the election." 

Q. "And at that time he informed you that, in 
fact, the ballots submitted were not those of the Eman­
ueles and the Caprons. Isn't that true?" 

A. "The ballats submitted were nat"--

Q. "Do yml 2lnderstand what I'm saying?" 
A. "They were nat those of Frank and his family? 

Then you mean--" 
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Q. "Mr. Zurawski, what I'm saying is did Detec­
tive Brennan tell you that the ballot subm.itted in the 
name of the Emanueles and the Caprons were in fact 
not submitted by the Emanueles and the Caprons?" 

A. "Well,"-~ 

Q. "He told you that, didn't he?" 
A. "I guess he did, yes." 
Q. "All right. He did tell you?" 
A. "I'm SClITe if he said he did, he did. I don't re­

call him saying that specifically to me, but I knew­
I guess I knew what he was talking about." 

Q. "At this very moment right now, do you think 
the Emanueles and the Caprons submitted ballots or 
do you, think someone else did it for them?" 

A. "After hearing a lot of scuttlebutt, I don't 
know. I really thought Frank had voted but if Frank 
says he didn't, then Frank didn't." 

Q. "Did you fill out the certificate that's attached 
to the absentee ballot for Frank Emanueles?" 

A. "I don't recall that. I don't know. What is 
that? I really don't." 

Q. "Do you know what an absentee ballot looks 
like? Have you ever seen one?" 

A. "An absentee bal10i ~ " 
Q. "Yes." 
A. "I never voted absentee. I can't say that I 

know exactly what you are talking about." 
Q. "Speaking of the application for the ballot. 

Now, you have an application for an absentee ballot?" 
A. "Yes, I understand that." 
Q. "When you submit that, if everything goes 

right, you areuUimately gtvenanabsenfeehatlot. You 
are aware of that, aren't you?" 

A. "Yes, I'm sure that's the procedure." 
Q. "Well, are you aware of it?" 
A. "Am I aware of iU" 
Q. "Are you aware of it? Mr. Zurawski, Frank 

Emanu,eles contacted you to help him obtain or vote 
by absentee ballot and that's according to your testi-
mony; isn't that so?" . 

A. "Yes, that's 00rrect." 
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Q. "Well, then, why on earth would he pick you 
o!d unless you know som,ething aba.d how to do it?" 

A. "I guess he lmew I would be able to put my 
hands on 'a request for an absentee." 

MR. RHOADS: Now, at this point the transcript 
cover areas not relevant. Weare going to skip to the 
following page, which is T22, line 10. 

Q. "In the course of that work politically, did yMt 
ever corne in contact with absentee ballots and how 
they work?" 

A. "No." 
Q. " Never did?" 
A. "Not in any other ele(ltion, no." 

Q. "In this election?" 
A. "Yes." 
Q. "The recall. When you filled O!.t the applica­

tion for absentee ballot, or at least the address of it, 
and then yOit took them from the Emanueles and 
dropped them oft at party headqua,·ters, you knew 
that ultimately a ballot would be sent out, didn't 
you?" 

A. "Yes." 
Q. "An absentee ballot?" 
A. "Yes. Yes, sir." 

Q. "Have you ever seen an absentee ballot? Do 
you know what one looks like?" 

A. "I saw a sample absentee ballot, but I never 
saw the actual ballot ,itself." 

Q. "Were yMt ever shown copies of the Eman­
ueles' absentee ballot by Detective Brennan?" 

A. "Not that I remember." 

Q. "Have you ever filled out a, certificate for an 
absentee ballot? Have you ever done that?" 

A. "What's the eertificatd That's the request~", 

Q. "The certificate is attached to the actual batlot. 
It's attached to the envelope in which the ballot is 
placed. Did you ever fill Oi,t one of those certifi­
cates?" 

A. "Is that something the person who is getting 
the absentee ballot is supposed to do ~" 
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Q. "That's correct." 
A. "If that's what I was told I was supposed to 

do or if it indicated on the thing that I was supposed 
to sign that I was getting their request for absentee, 
sure, I would have signed it, but recalling doing that, 
I just don 't. I don't. I don't honestly recall doing 
that. " 

Q. "I'm going to show you what purports to be a 
copy of an application for an absentee ballot and 
there's two side-by-side. One is in the name of 
Angelina E. Emanuele and the other is Frank A. 
Emanuele. Do you recognize thoseF" 

A. ' , Yeah, I would recognize them as Franl{ and 
Angie's name, yes." 

Q. "I'm going to direct your attention to the print­
ing up he.re where it says 'Sea Isle City, 20 37 
Street.' " 

A. "Oh, yes. Yes, sir." 
Q. "That's your printing, isn't it?" 
A. Yes, correct." 

MR. RHOADS: Now, at this posture the copies 
that were shown this witness, and I will repre­
sent, were copies of the original documents and 
specifically I am referring to what has been 
marked Commission Exhibit 28 and Commission 
Exhibit C-12, and they were the two documents 
that were shown this witness and he had identified 
the portion in the absentee ballot which contains 
the address to which a ballot should be sent to 
the voter. He identified that as his printing or 
writing . 
. Q."",4.'i'!dto .. therightagai""that's}hc.sa'l1tetn,ing, 

that's your printing, isn't it?" 
A. "Yes, correct." 

Q. "And this is the application we were talking 
about, isn't it?" 

A. "Yes, sir." 

Q. "And looking down, there is a signature down 
. here which I read to be James Rogan, although it's 
rather scrawled. Do you recognize that signature?" 

A. "Where is that 7" 
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Q. "Where my finger is pointing." 
A. "No, I don't." 

Q. "And to the right, a similar signature. Do you 
recognize that?" 

A. "No, I don't." 

~ Q." Do you know who p!d it on there?" 
A. "No, I don't." 

Q. "There is printing above it, 'Jim Rogan'?" 
A. "I see that, yeah." 
Q. "Do you know who put that on there?" 
A. "No." 
Q. "Do you know who did?" 
A. "No." 

\ 
Q. "Do you know who put this on here, this printed 

Emanuele, Frank?" . 
A. "No, I do not. I didn't do that and I don't 

know who did." 

Q. "This is· all YO!, are responsible for, those 
addresses?" 

A. "Just that. Just the Sea Isle City and the 20 
37th Street, yes." 

Q. "I'm going to show you what purports to be a 
copy of what reads, 'Certificate of Civilian Absentee 
Voter.' It says, 'I,' and then above the dotted line, 
'Frank A. Emanuele.' Would you look at that docu­
ment and then tell me do you recognize that?" 

A. "I recognize it as what it says, 'Certificate of 
Civilian Absentee Voter.' " 

MR. RHOADS: Now, at this juncture, again he 
was shown what purported to be a copy and I will 
represent that that was in fact a copy of the 
original document which has been since marked 
Commission Exbibit 29, which is the certificate 
of civilian absentee voter purported to be that 
of Frank A. Emanuele. 
Q. Continuing on, "Below that is a copy of the 

actual envelope itself and it says, 'Official Civilian 
Absentee Ballot.' Did.you ever see anything like this 
in your experience before, before today?" 
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A. "Does this-I don't remember seeing some­
thing like that, no. As I say, I do not handle absentee 
ballots. " 

Q. "Now, I'm going to direct your attention to this 
top portion, Frank A. Emanuele, et cetera, and below 
Frank Emanuele signed. Did you fill that out?" 

A. "No, sir." 
Q. "Do you know who did.W" 
·A. "No, sir." 

Q. "Did you ever ask Prank 'D'icl you get your 
ballot and fill O2,t the certificate?' " 

A. "I did and Frank said he remembers signing 
something, but he wasn't sure what it was." 

Q. "All right. I just want to ask a couple of more 
questions. Are you aware that ballots of the Eman­
ueles, at least in the name of the Emanueles and the 
Caprons, were rejected by the Board of Elections? 
Are you aware of that?" 

A. "I'm aware that they were questioned after the 
election. There was a newspaper story stating that 
there were questions having to do with absentee 
ballots and the name Emanuele. The Emanuele 
family was mentioned, yes. That would have been the 
day after the election, in the Atlantic City Press." 

Q. ".There were stories to the effect that these 
ballots were rejected.W" 

A. I didn't know they were rejected or they were 
just being questioned." 

Q. "Yo~, just knew something about the ballots 
being q~,estionecl; is that right?" 

A. "That's all I kne,v,yeall." 

Q. "Did yo!, fill out any ballots for the Eman­
ueles?" 

A. "No, sir." 

The Emanuele Absentee Votes 

Frank A. Emanuele was called as a witness to give his version 
of the absentee ballot transactions described by previous wit­
nesses. He came to Trenton to testify from his home in Silver 

187 



Springs, Maryland. He said he had been staying at his su=er 
home in Sea Isle in August of 1978, when the recall election took 
place. Because almost the entire family was involved in the 
absentee voting episode, Counsel Rhoads asked Mr. Emanuele 
to identify his family members: 

Q. And do you have anyone, whether it be wife or 
daughters, that were residing there with you at that 
time? 

A. Yes, my wife and my family. 

Q. What's your wife's name, sir? 
A. Angelina Emanuele. 

Q. Do you have any sons or daughters? 
A. I have, the oldest daughter, Gloria Capron. 

She's married. 

Q. Was she there at the time? 
A. Yes, she was. 

Q. To whom is she married? 
A. Jeff Capron. 

Q. Was he there at the time.~ 
A. Yes, he was. 

Q. Do you have any other daughters that were 
home? 

A. Joanne Emanuele. 

Q. Anyone else? 
A. Susan Emanuele, Kathy Emanuele--

Q. Was Kathy home? 
A. And finally, Frank Emanuele, Jr. 

Q. You've got a pretty good household there. 
A. All of them were there. 

Q. Now, with respect to your being called today, 
I gave you a generalized scope of what this Oommis­
sion is interested in, but with ,"elation to your tiJsti­
mony we are concerned with a recall election that was 
held in Sea Isle Oity, A~tgust 8, 1978" It involved the 
recall election concerning an inmtmbent commissioner 
by the name of William Kehner. Are you familiar 
with that election? 

A. Yes, I am. 
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Q. Now, with respect to that election, was it your 
intent, at least at one time or another, to vote ab­
sentee in that election? 

A. Yes. Yes, we wanted to vote. Billy Kebner­
well, we've lived in Sea Isle for 15 years, and he was 
a young boy and he used to come around the house, 
a young boy, and 1--

Q. You wanted to vote fo,- hirn; is that it? 
A. Of course. He's a friend of the family and the 

children. 

Q. With respect to voting for him by absentee, 
did there come a time when you actually got an appli­
cation to fill out or to apply for an absentee ballot? 

A. In the general election or the recall ~ 

Q. The August 8, 1978, recall election, Billy 
Kehner. 

A. Yes, I signed to vote for Billy Kehner, right. 

Q. All right. Now, with respect to the application, 
how did you receive the application.~ 

A. A very good friend of mine, Al Zurawski, 
brought them over the house. 

Q. Was that at Y02!r req1best or his request to bring 
them over? 

A. Well, there was a lot of conversation in Sea Isle 
about the recall, and I was totally opposed to the 
recall and I'm not too familiar with the mechanics of 
voting in Sea Isle, and Al Zurawski, and he said he 
would bring the applications over the house, and we 
all sign them. 

Q. All right. Now, jttst for the record, I'm going 
to allude to a blow-up exhibit ma,-ked Commission 

. Eihiliitl;anditreiias;-"Cii,iliiinAbsenfe8Biillot 
Application." Is this the form of the application that 
Mr. Zurawski brought to your house? 

A. Yes, it was. 

Q. Now, when you say you signed it, did anyone 
else in your household si.qn any civilian applications.~ 

A. All that were qualified to vote signed them, 
yes. 
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Q. And of the persons that you just enumerated 
tor us in your household, which ones were they that 
signed for it? 

A. My wife. signed, Gloria did not, Joanne signed, 
Susan signed, and I signed. Jeff did not. That's this 
application here. 

Q. Yes, sir. 
Now, I'm going to show you l1gain exhibits that 

were previously marked as Commission Exhibit 23 
through C-28. I will ask yat! to look at these. First, 
there is one which purports to be an application on 
your behalf. 

A. I signed that. 

Q. You did. If you will, will you go through these 
and tell me, did the members of your household sign 
the applications? 

A. Susan signed that. Aug signed that. Joanne 
signed this. 

These two were not signed. 

Q. They were not signed by Jetf'rey A. Capron 
and Gloria A. Oapron? 

A. Oapone. 

Q. I'm sorry. Oapone. 
A. Gloria and Jeffrey Oapone. 

Q. Do you know who did sign it? 
A. No, no. 
A. Now, they were filled out at the house. J eff--' 

Q. By whom? 
A. I don't know. There was a lot of people at the 

house at the time, which is summertime. But the 
cards, I believe, were all filled out at the house. 

Jeff had taken his exams to become a lawyer. He's 
-today at 12 o'clock he's being sworn in at the Bar, 
and I would love to have been there and I have to be 
here. He decided not to vote in Sea Isle. He wanted 
to vote in Maryland, and his wife Gloria decided to 
folLow her husband. 

Q. Exactly. So they didn't sign? 
A. Those two didn't sign. 
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Q. Now, with respect to the applications again--­
I'll spread them out before yon---I'1n going to allude 
to an area just below where it says" Check one and 
complete" and then there is an address here, "Sea 
Isle City, 29 37th Street," et cetera, "Sea Isle City," 
again, "New Jersey," with a zip code and that ap­
pears on all six ot these. 

A. Uh-huh. 
Q. Did you put that in there? 
A. Somebody at the house, as I remember, were 

writing them iu as o,thers were signing them. 

Q. Well, Al Zurawski, in tact, was the one that put 
that on there, didn't he? 

A. I can't say for sure that he did because I don't 
know his handwriting. I just---

Q. All right. 
A. There were so many peopie there, that some­

body was writing these things in. 
Q. You didn't do it? 
A. No, it's not mine. It's not mine. Could have 

beeu one of the kids. 

Q. All right. Now, having once signed the applica­
tion did you give them back to Al Zurawski? 

A. We gave him back all the papers. 

Q. And with respect to your daughter, Gloria, and 
your son-in-law, Jeffrey, they didn't sign any appli­
cations. Do you have any idea of how applications on 
their behalf got in here? 

A. I remember it all being on the table. They were 
all put together and given to M Zurawski, signed and 
unsigned, and there were a few totally blank. Thore 
weremorefliiill' whiitwe needed: 

Q. Having once given him the applications, did 
you, in fact, ever receive an absentee ballot? 

A. No . 

. Q. To your knowledge, did anyone in your house­
hold, those that applied, did they ever receive their 
ballots? 

A. No. 
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Q. So the fact is, after once having once signed the 
application and given it to Mr. Zurawski, that's the 
last you ever had to do with this election; isn't that' 
so? 

A. True. But we--

Q. Yes? 
A. --also didn't know that there was anything 

else involved. We thought we had voted at the time. 

Q. Having signed the applications, you thought 
maybe that was the vote? 

A. That was it. 

Q. Okay. Now I'm going to show you again vari­
MIS exhibits. Just bear with me for a moment, and I 
will start with Commission Exhibit 2.9. For the rec­
ord, this is a certificate of civilian absentee voter, and 
it reads, in part," I, Frank A. Emanuele," and that's 
in print, "whose home address is 29 37th Street, Sea 
Isle City, New Jersey, 08243," et cetera, et cetera, et 
cetera, and then at the bott01n there is a signature, 
"Frank A. Emanuele." I invite your attention to that 
signature. Is that your signature? 

A. No. 

Q. How about the printing up here and the rest of 
the writing? 

A. No. 

Q. Is that yours? 
A. No. None of it. 

Q. Well, at the time of the election, the fact is you 
never even saw this, did you? 

A. Never seen it. 

Q. Never even got it? 
A. N ever seen it. 

Q. I'm going to asle you to go through the other 
exhibits. I will hand them to you one at a time to 
facilitate it. C-32 purports to be of that a Joanne 
Emanuele. Would you look at that and tell me the 
signature at the bottom is that hers? 

A. No. 
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Q. I show you C-1, Susan F. Emanuele and again 
direct your attention to the bottom right-hand corner 
of the certificate. Is that her signature? 

A. No. 

Q. C-30, Jeffrey A. Capron and again a signature 
at the bottom purporting to be that, and is that J eff­
rey's? 

A. No. 
Q. Is that his? 
A. No. 
Q. C-33, Flora A. Capron, a signature purporting 

to be hers at the bottom of the ce..tificate. Is that hers? 
A. No. 
Q. C-34, Angelina Emanuele. Again a signature 

purporting to be hers. Is that hers? 
A. No. 

EXAMINATION BY COMMISSIONER LANE: 

Q. Your son-in-law being sworn in at 12 o'clock 
today, is that in Maryland? 

A. I believe in Washington, D.C. 

Q. B,d he's residing and continues to "eside ,n 
Maryland? 

A. He bought a home and lives in Maryland. 

Q. He and your daughter Gloria? 
A. That's correct. 

Q. And they have never considered themselves 
domiciled in Sea Isle, I take it, since they're married? 

A. That's correct. They come to our house. Part 
of my household, correct. . 

THE CHAIRMAN: For vacations and things like 
that during the summer they're in Sea Isle City? 

THE WITNESS: That's correct. 
Could I just raise--you said I was entitled to 

make a little point, I would like to make. 
lam 54 years old. Thirty years of that span of 

life was in Washington, D.C. I'm born and raised 
in Washington. I've never had the opportunity 
to vote because that was the law of the city. When 
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we moved in Maryland, we voted one time. That 
was for Pre,gident Kennedy. Then we've had 
Itbsolutely no experience in voting, so we weren't 
very wise as a family in the methods of voting. 

In-when the IS-year-olds were given the 
opportunity to vote in the State of New Jersey, 
it was brought to my attention that we had a 
right, as an owner of property in New J ers'ey, to 
vote and at that one time the entire family, 1S and 
over, voted to-registered to vote in the State of 
New Jersey. So we are-as a family, we have 
never been affiliated with Democrats or Repub-

. licans, or had any real knowledge in voting. So 
we're as a family, sorry that we didn't follow 
through the proper procedures to vote. 

MR. RHOADS: Well, Mr. Emanuele,on behalf of 
the Commission, we have come to find that there 
]S quite a few voters that really aren't knowledge­
able in this area and we can appreciate the fact 
that you may be one of them. I'm sure there is 
hundreds of them. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

THE CHAIRMAN: Mr. Emanuele, for the record 
and for the Commission, we fully recognize, and 
at no time would we want to suggest that 
there is any adverse reflection upon your family 
or upon the actrons that you took with respect to 
wanting to vote and cast your ballot. We sin­
cerely appreciate your coming forward and being 
frank and candid and honest with us, so that we 
can highlight the potential abuse'S that do exist in . 
the system so that others will not be, taken 
advantage of through a process that should 
guarantee the democratic right to vote, and for 
that we sincerely appreciate your coming here 
from Maryland, and I think we appreciate the 
fact that your entire family backs you in your 
appearance here and at no time should it reflect 
adversely upon you or your family. 

THE WITNESS: Thank you. I appreciate that. 
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The Handwriting Expert 
Detective Sergeant Richard Tidey, the officer in charge of the 

Questioned Document Unit of the New Jersey State Police, was 
the final witnes8 in the Sea Isle City segment of the Commission's 
hearing. He was called to testify about his analysesl of hand­
writing on various absentee ballot papers. His expertise' in this 
area was unquestioned, since he had conducted such analyses in 
more than 4,000 previous cases. Since October, 1969, Sergeant 
Tidey had testified 31bout 270 times as a handwriting expert in court 
trials. Counsel Rhoads assisted in the pre8entation of his testi­
mony: 

Q. All right. Now, Sergeant, did there come a time 
when representatives from the State Commission of 
Investigation went to your place of business for 
purposes of asking you to conduct a handwriting 
andlor printing analyses of certain documents? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Sir, I'm going to show you documents that have 
been previously marked by this Commission as 
exhibits. I'm showing you Commission Exhibit 13-
strike that-Commission Exhibit 23 through 28, 29 
through 34, and would you look at those and tell me, 
are they the documents that we submitted to you? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. Now, sir, with respect to those documents, you 
were requested, were you not, to determine whether, 
in fact, you could make a comparison between the ex­
hibits which are the applications, that's C-23 through 
C-28, with respect to the exhibits which are the voters' 
certificates, which are C-29 through C-34? Is that 
what we had asked 'you to do? 

A.-Yes,sir, -- - ------------

Q. Now, again, along those lines, did you come to­
day with any exhibits from which you'd be able to give 
us testimony with regard to your handwriting com­
parison? 

A. Yes, I do have photographic enlargements. 

MR. RHOADS: May we have those placed on the 
easel, please. 
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Q. Now, sir, with respect to the exhibits before 
you, particularly the area that was used for compari­
son, and now I am referring to the applications, and 
that ~oould be the area that says below, "Check one 
and complete," a.nd I'm specifically referring to an 
address. And what address appears there? 

A. The address is Sea Isle City, and then" 20 37th 
Street, Sea Isle City, New Jersey," with the zip code 
08243. 

Q. Now, with regard to the other exhibits before 
you, is the address the same on all those that you 
have j1l.st read to us? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. All right. Now, initially, did you compare those 
six. documents to determine whether, in fact, one. in 
the same person filled them out? 

A. Yes, sir, I did. 

Q. And did Y01l, 0" can you refer to the chart that's 
before yO~l now to tell us how it was, step by step, 
.that you went abOtlt making this concltlsion? 

A. The exhibit that is ma:rked C-35, the photo­
graphic enlargement, was prepared by photograph~ 
ing the specmc area that were in question dealing witl). 
the Se'a Isle City address so that the six that are in the 
exhibit a:re the six that are in question before me. 

In order to conduct a comparison £01' the p'llrpo'ses 
:of trying to determine whether 0'1' not one common 
;1uthor is respousiMe for any given writing, almost 
without. exception you must have the same letters 
and/or numbers avcailable for a {lomparison so that 
the same letter can be compared. . . 

In this particular exhibit, because the addresses are 
identical Oll each one of these, tha.tparticular require­
ment was met. 

The next thing ,that {lan be compa.red is the actual 
writing line that is used to produce an of the writing 
in each and everyone of the addresses. 

In comparing handwriting, ,one ·area that also must 
be considered is the fad that there win be a natural 
or a normal variation in anyone's particulaT writing 
and that every time someone sits dovm to produce a 
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writing, these variations should o(l(lur, provided that 
they are a norrnal writing and not an attempt at dis­
gmse. 

The six addresses on C-35, in my opinion, were all 
prepared by one person, based on the significant simi­
larities that are present between the six that are in 
the exhibit. 

All the Writing Was by Zurawski 

Mter a technical explanation by Sergeant Tidey about the 
"natnral variations" in the handwriting of one person, Counsel 
Rhoads returned to the exhibited blow-ups of the absentee ballot 
applications for the Emanuel8's: 

Q. Thank you, sir. I just want to clear up any pos­
sible confusion. The exhibit which has been marked 
Commission Exhibit 35, these are blow-t;pS lifted di­
rectly from the applications of the Emanuele house­
hold; is that correct? 

A. Ye's, sir. 
Q. And, of course, it's one per application. That's 

why we have six, for the six applications? 
A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, with respect to the applications, I will 
represent that evidence has already been adduced that 
determines that the author on the applications of the 
examples which you have blown up is Aloysius Zuraw­
ski. 

With respect to those addresses, did you make any 
further comparisons to any other documents? 

A. Yes,ldid. 
Q. What were they, sir? 
A. A comparison was conducted to other exhibits 

wbich are referred to as certificates of civilian absen~ 
teevoters,and there is combinations of handprinted 
letters and, also, cursive style handwritten letters that 
appeared on those six certificates. 

Q. Now, sir, with respect to the six certificates, 
did you make any demonstrative visual aid? 

A. Yes, I did. 
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MR. RHOADS: May we have that put on the 
board, please. 

Q. Now, again, Sergeant, prior to your going into 
your analysis, so that we risk no confusion at all, this 
blow-up, reading" 20 37th Street, Sea Isle City, New 
Jersey," and that, of course, is the handwritten por­
tion of it, was taken from where? 

A. Each one of the six that are in that exhibit 0-36 
were photographed from the original, which I have 
befoTe me, which are exhibits 0-29, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 
34. 

Q. Par the record, sir, they are the exhibits which 
are the certificates which attached to the inner en­
velope contains the ballots at the Emanueles and the 
Caprons. Is that so? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Sir, with regard to this exhibit, Commission 
Exhibit 36, the blow-up of the address on the certifi­
cate, did you make any analyses to determine whether, 
in fact, these addresses have a common a~tthor, same 
person wrote them? 

A. Yes, I did. 
Q. What conclusion, it any, did yo," reach? 
A. In my opinion, the six addresses that are on 

Exhibit 36 were prepared by one individual. 

Q. All right. Now, sir, with regard to Exhibit 0-36 
and Exhibit C-35, which are the addresses taken from 
the application, and the addresses taken from the 
certificate, did you make any conclusion with respect 
to whether or not they had a common author? 

A. Yes, sir, I did. 

Q. What was your conclusion? 
A. In my opinion, the person that prepared the six 

addresses on the right on Exhibit 35 is one and the 
same person who prepared the six exhibits on the left 
in the photograph marked 0-36. 

Q. All right. Now, sir, if you will, referring again 
to the exhibits which are the certificate, and that 
starts with C-29, I believe, through C-34, 1vith regard 
to those exhibits, if you will look at the bottom right-
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hand corner of, let's just say, C-30 as an example, 
there is a signature there which pu'-ports to be that 
of a Jeffrey A. Capron. Now, with regard to all 
those certificates, do they all contain written signa­
tures on them? 

A. Yes. 

Q. In that same portion I alluded to? 
A. Yes. 

Q. With respect to those signatures, did you, ~n 
fact, attempt to make any comparison between the 
signature itself and the addresses which appear in the 
two enlarged exhibits before us? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. Were you able to reach any conclusion? 
A. Due to the fact that the letters that appeared 

in the six different signatures that are on these par­
ticular specimens do not contain all of the same letters 
that appeared on the other exhibct on C-35, in my 
opinion, I was not able to conduct all of the necessary 
comparisons that I felt should have been conducted, 
especially when we are trying to make a particular 
identmcation. But in viewing all of the six signatures 
On the specimens, even tho,ngh they are different 
names, there are other similarities that are present 
between these particular signa,tures and, in my 
opinion, I feel that there is a high degree of proba­
bility that one person prepared all six of these ques­
tioned signatures. 

The Paterson Municipal Election 
The Qommission'slastpublichearing ep,isodeinvolved a mu­

lllcipal election in Paterson in JliIay, 1976. The only wLtness was 
a candidate in that election, Nicholas DeLuccia, III, a Councilman 
who sought re-eleeiion in the City's Second Ward. JliIr. DeLuccia 
won that election by a handful of votes. Therefore, his testimony 
about handling a,bsentee ballots at the ,St. Joseph "s Rest Home 
in Paterson illustrated the impaet of abs,entee ballots in elections 
in which the margin of victory is of a hairline nature. He had 
been informed that patients at this rest home would support his 
candidacy, he tes,tmed, s'o he personally brought applications for 
such ballots to the home and "helped them fill them out and then 
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they were sent in." Counsel Rhoads asked what happened aft~r 
the applications were processed: 

Q. Now, did there come a time when the patients 
at this nursing home contacted you again? 

A. Y 88, they did. The ballots were mailed to them 
and, when they received them, I received a phone call 
to go over to help them. 

Q. And did you, in fact, go over? 
A. Ye'8, I did. 
Q. By the way, how many patients are we talking 

about at this point.W 

A. ApproJCimately 12. 

Q. And when you went over to help them, what 
exactly is it that ",au did to assist them? 

A. I helped them fill the flaps out a:lld told them 
that they shollid take their ballots and vote and then 
return them to me. 

Q. Now, with regard to the flap, are you referring 
to the certificate which is attached to the inner envel­
ope? 

A. That's correct. 

Q . .Y O~b assisted them in filling that out; tS that 
correct? 

A. Yes, that's correct. 

Q. What was it that yott exactly did with the cer­
tificate? 

A. I filled out some of the information that was 
required. 

Q. What about the signature of the voter? 
A. No, they signed their own. 

Q. And when you say" signed," were the voters 
capable of actually writing out their signattwe or did 
they make a mark? 

A.Some of them were capable of signing their 
name and some made it by mark. 

Q. Approximately how many had to make a mark? 
A. I don't reClalL I believe it was four. I'm not 

sure. 
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Q. When they completed this opemtion of filling 
i" the ballot and you assisted them with the cer­
tificate, what was done with the ballots? 

A. They put them in envelopes and then it was 
retnrned to me. 

Q. What did you do with it? 
A. Then I took them, returned home, and in check­

ing over them, make sure they were properly filled 
out, the flaps, put them in the outer envelopes, and 
the ones that did have an X, didn't have a witness 
and that's when I inserted the name of Sister Rosalie, 
who was bringing the ladies into the room to vote, 
in a separate room. 

Q . . So you inserted her name on the certificate as 
a witness to their 1nar7c; is that correct? ' 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then having once done that, what did you 
do with the,,,? 

A. The envelopes were sealed and they were 
brought to the Election Board. 

Q. With regard to the election itself, did you, in 
fact, win that eleCtion? 

A. Yes, T did. 

Q. What was your margin of victory? 
A. Six vo,tes. 

The Commission,'s Closing Statement 

The Commission's statement closing its two-day public forum 
stressed a need to continue the effort to generate a compelling 
public and legislative demand for reforms that would prevent 
any·····futttte"flagt'ailt·disteg'atd'fotthe·law'·' -a;s'evideu08dby 
the tWD days of hearings. The statement contiilwid: 

, Iil truth, as that testimonial indictment of the 
process has demonstrated here, the Absente,e Voting 
Law has not merely been disregarded. It has, in fact, 
also been twisted, stretched, erased, altered and 
otherwise blatantly disobeyed"--all for the evilinten­
tion of electing favored candidates to office no matter 
whether or not a majority of legal voters wished 
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these particular candidates to be elected. And this 
misconduct has plagned every phase of the statute, 
depending upon the callous political design of the 
manipulators or on their special capability for more 
expertly neg·ating one or another of the statutory 
controls. 

These all too numerons revelations of abuses of 
the Absentee Ballot Law were the result of investi­
gations throughout the state that had various origins. 
While the Commission was conducting its own in­
quiry, the office of Attorney General Degnan and 
several county prosecutors were probing into related 
allegations of wrongdoing. Because of certain diffi­
culties attributable to the often ambiguous provisions 
of the law and the indistinct breadth of provisions 
in the overall Title 19 Election Law relative to orim­
inal violations and sanctions, a consensus developed 
that these various probes be incorporated into the 
Commission's projects for a continued fact-finding 
investigation by our agency lea;ding to a public ex­
posnre of the law's deficiencies and it misapplication 
in looal elections. These mutual efforts led to the 
public forum that has now concluded-and which 
will generate recommendations for safeguarding the 
statnte against fnrther misnse and disregaTd. 

I want to reiterate at this time the Co=ission's 
appreciation for the cooperation and contribution of 
the Attorney General and his staff and of the prose­
cutors directly involved with these problems. At all 
times throughout the Co=ission's inquiry there was 
a sharing of investigatory files and tasks that was 
not only invalnable from the standpoint of the Com­
mission's actions but will undoubtedly be an enorm­
ously vital fador in developing proposals for 
strengthening the statnte and in achieving the sup­
port of the Governor and the Legislature for expedi­
tious enactment of the necessary recommendations. 

Allow me to refer again to that recent survey by 
Secretary of 8tate Donald Lan's office which demon­
strated in part, the close margin of under 100 votes 
by which almost 200 municipal elections alone were 
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decided in 1978. The Commisson's staff made a rough 
check of 30 of those communities where local contests 
were decided by a mere 10 votes or less. With respect 
to the subject of this public hearing, our staff deter­
mined through direct contact with the appropriate 
county boards of election which of these 30 contests 
could have been decided by absentee ballots alone. 
This follow-up study revealed that in all but 10 of 
these 30 municipal contests, absentee ballots-legally 
or illegally-could have been pivotal in determining 
the winning candidates. 

I also noted in a previous statement the sorry spec­
tacle of increasing public refusal to eXHrcise one of 
our most critical responsibilities-that is, our priv­
ilege of voting by going to the polls or casting an 
absentee ballot. I renew the Commission's extremely 
strong concern that, in any light vote situation, each 
vote that is cast becomes more signifi0ant. This 
throws a sha,rper spotlight on the need to guarantee 
by adequate law that every vote is a truly legal ballot 
reflecting only the voter's choice at all elections and 
l1l1der any circumstance. 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Introduction 

As noted in the Commission's statement at the conclusion ,of the 
public hearings, the sharing of information and investigative tasks 
with the Division of Criminal Justice and with prosecutors was 
invaluable to the S.C.1. in the conduct of both its investigation and 
itspublichearings·,·-'I'his· coope:mtiveeffort. continued-duriugthe 
post-hearing period of drafting statutory and regulatory pro­
posals to proscribe, iu the future, the abuses and misuses of the 
absentee ballot process that the Commission's probe and hearings 
had exposed. 

The Commission's closing statement, in addition to summarizing 
the two days of public hearing testimony by 22, witnesses, also 
outlined briefly the most critical problems that the testimony con­
firmed. These problems were primarily triggered by the loopholes 
and ambiguities of the absentee ballot law. The Oommission pin-
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pointed statutory areas of most flagrant misbehavior in obtaining 
and processing absentee ballots and suggested corrective steps 
for developing legislative proscriptions against future misconduct. 
The closing statement said with respect to t.hese concerns: 

There was considerable testimony, for instance, 
indicating that portion of the statute-NJSA 19 :57-11 
-having to do with the delivery of absentee ballots 
by mail or person-is so unclear as to invite fraud, 
Presumably this provision delegates t.his assign­
meut to the county clerk but it does not stipulate 
by whom hand delivery must be made. This sub­
section should be more specific as to a requirement 
for. hand delivery by the county clerk or his legal 
desigl1ee to either the voter or to t.he voter's legally 
authorized messenger. 

Another example of an open invitation to mis­
conduct is NJSA 19 :57-23, which has to do, with 
marking and handling of absentee ballots by the 
voter. Under this subsection, if a completed ballot 
is not mailed to the county Board of Election, it 
maybe delivered to the board-but it also fails to 
specify by whom such delivery must be made. In 
addition, it indicates requirements for assisting a 
blind voter but is ambiguous on this activity. This 
subsection should specifically require that anyone 
assisting a voter who is blind, crippled or otherwise· 
incapacitated must affix his name to the certificate. 
And if a ballot is received by the Board of Elections 
by any means other than mail, the person delivering 
that ballo,t must be required by the board to record 
his name with the official accepting the ballot. 

Under Subtitle 17 there is a subsection that re­
stricts a candidate Or a campaigl1. worker from visit­
ing the absentee voter when he fills out the ballot, 
similar to other areas of Title 19 which prohihit poli­
ticking within a certain distance of a polling place. 
But nowhere in Subtitle 17 is there any prescrihed 
penalty against anyone who violates the secrecy of an 
ah,sentee voter, the only safeguard being a require­
mentthat the voter himself must certify that he voted 
in secret. There is absolutely nothing in the portion 
of the law that makes it a crime if some one should 
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later open that baHo·t, inspect its contents and reseal 
it. 

On the subject of sanctions, the question of whether 
penalties prO'vided for in other parts of Title 19 also 
apply to absentee ballot infractions could be settled 
by housing in a separate subtitle of Title 19 all pen­
alties applicable to' the entire Title, absentee ballot 
provisions incLuded. This revision should, of course, 
impose stringent penalties against tampering with 
absentee ballots and agmnst any violation of the se­
crecy of the ballot with the obvious exception of any­
one legally assisting an absentee voter under stric­
tures regulating that often necessary activity. 

Again, in connection with a confined or disabled 
absentee voter, the restrictions against outside politi­
cal influence on his choice of candidate should be speci­
fied. Perhaps certain nonpartisan agents of the Board 
of Elections should be delegated to aid thO'se in need 
of assistance in marking the ballot or related forms, 
particularly in institutions. 

There is need, from the standpoint of evidence pro­
duced here, for strengthening the newly enacted 
NJSA 19 :57-4.1, a subsection requiring the Secretary 
of State to issue a standard absentee bal10t applica­
tion form. This provision is unclear as to who should 
signify on the prescribed line at the bottom of the 
appliclLtion the name of an "authorized messenger" 
-that is, whether the voter should write in the name 
·of such a messenger or the mes'Senger himself. There 
certainly slrould be some provision for the voter to 
sign and specify who that messenger is as wen as for 
the messenger himsf>lf to sign it. This not only would 

'ifLsnfifthatthevoterhll;sproperly"designated a duly 
authorized messenger but also would pl'ovide a means 
of identification for the county clerk when a messen­
ger appears to pick up the voter's ballot. 

In addition, relative to the certificate attached to 
the ballot, there should be clearly provided a space 
for the signature and addrC'ss of a person witnessing 
a voter who marks the certificate with an "X;, or 
some other -sub.stitution for a written signature. This 

205 ' 



again would enable the Board of Elections to double 
check the actual circumstances of the marking of such 
an absentee bwllot. 

As has been indicated by testimony, there is need 
for a stronger provision covering a ballot marked 
by a voter who inadvertently makes a mistake in his 
candidate choice. There is nothing that clearly pro­
tects the sanctity of the ballot while also permitting 
the correction by the vo,ter of his marking error. 

Further, a change in the immunity provision under 
NJSA 19 :34-60 appears essential-that is that the 
granting of transactional immunity upon any witness 
should be discretionary and contingent upon advance 
notice to the appropriate law enforcement agency­
for example, the Attorney General, the United States 
Attorney or the concerned county prosecutor. 

The Joint Discussions 
A series of discussions began after the conclusion of the public 

hearings relative to absentee ballot law re:Dorms. The Commission 
submitted a number of proposed law revisions to the office of the 
Attorney General. In line with the liaison tha,t had been so effec­
tive during the Commission's investigation, counter proposals as 
well as modifications of the S.C.I. 's recommendations' draft were 
offered by the Attorney General's staff. A number of joint reviews 
of various prospective statutory reforms ensued. These reforms, 
presently being put into legislative form by the contributing par­
ties, are summarized as follows: 

1. Title 19, Chapter 57 (Absentee Voting Law). 
A. Amend paragraph four of Section 4 as follows 

(matter enclosed in brackets [thus] is intended to be 
omitted from the law and matter that is underlined 
is intended to be added) : 

In the event of sickness or confinement, the 
qualified voter may apply in writing for and 
obtain an absentee ballot by authorized messen­
ger [s,o designated] whose printed name and 
address shall appear' on the application in the' 
space pl"O'vided over the signature of the voter. 
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The authorized messenger shall be a registered 
voter of the county in which the application is 
made and shall place his signature on the appli­
cation in the space so provided in the presence 
of the oounty clerk or his designee. The county 
clerk or his designee shall authenticate thesig­
nature of the authorized messenger by comparing 
it with the signature of said person appearing on 
the permanent and registration form. [The] 
After soo doing, the county clerk 001' his designee 
is authorized to deliver to such authorized mes­
senger a ballot to be delivered to the qualified 
voter. 

Comment 

Although the Commission's public hearings disclosed nU11terous 
abuses of the "authorized messenger" function, that function 
would be retained in the joint proposal but with the addition of 
statutory safeguards against misuse of the procedure. These 
safeguards would include specific identification of an authorized 
messenger, whose signature on the application must be witnessed 
by the county clerk and then compared with the signature of such 
messenger on the permanent reg'istration card. Only after ful­
filling these new requirements would a ballot be delivered to the 
voter by an authorized m,essenger. It is believed that these re­
quirements woUld proscribe the abuses that resulted from the use 
of unauthorized messengers as depicted by the public hearing 
testimony. 

-00-

B. Amend Section 11 to change the way in which 
a qualified voter receives his absentee ballot from 

, the county clerkwb:ensucnaballotis not sent by 
first-class mail, as :Dollows (matter in brackets [thus] 
is intended to be omitted and matter that is underlined 
is intended to be added) : 

Each county clerk shall forward a military 
service ballot or a civilian absentee ballot, ,as the 
case may be, for use under this act by ·first-class 
mail or hand [delivered] delivery to each mili­
tary service voter who applies therefor, and 
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whose application is approved in any case where 
approval is required under section 10 of this. act, 
and to each civilian absentee voter whose request 
therefor has been approved. Hand delivery shall 
be made by the county clerk or his designee in 
person to the voter or his authorized messenger 
or, in the case of a military service voter, to such 
relative or friend of the military service voter 
who submit the application in his behalf. Ballots 
that have not been hand delivered [to the voter] 
shall be addressed to the voter at the forwarding 
address given in the application. All baUots to 
be forwarded to persons at an address located 
within the limits of the states of Alaska and 
Hawaii or without the limits of the other 48 
states and the District of Columbia shall be fore 
warded by air maiL 

Comment 

These amendments would clarify and strengthen statutory con­
trol over the hand delivery of an absentee ballot to a voter or his 
authorized messenger by having the county clerk or an employee 
of the county clerk deliver the ballot rather than, as the Commis­
sian's hearings illust1"ated, a partisan individual who might affect 
the independence of the voter. 

-0-

C. Amend paragraphs two and three of Section 23, 
the section which pertains to the marking ,of an ab­
sentee ballot, the sealing of the marked ballot in an 
"inner" envelope, the completion of the certificatlon 
attached to the inner envelope, the sealing of the inner 
envelope with attached certificate in an outer envelope 
and the transmission ·of the sealed outer envelope· to 
the county clerk, as follows: 

A blind absentee voter shall be· entitled to 
assistance in the marking of his ballot and in 
completing and signing of the certificate. In such 
case the person providing such assistance· shall 
add on the face of the certificate "V'oter Assisted 

208 



by .... " signing and 
printing his name thereto. In no event maya 
candidate for election provide such assistance, 
nor may any person, at the time of providing such 
assistance, campaign or electioneer on behalf of 
any candidate. 

Said sealed outer envelope with the inner en­
velope and the balLot enclosed therein shall then 
either be mailed with sufficient postage to the 
county board of elections to which it is addressed 
or personally delivered by the voter to such 
board[.] or its designee. Such ballot must be 
received by such board or its designee before 8 
p.m. ,on the day of the election. 

Comment 

These amendments seek to (1) prohibit anyone from campaign­
ing or electioneering on behalf of a candidate while assisting a 
blind or disabled absentee voter in marking his ballot and to 
specifically bar any candidate for elective office from providing 
such assistance, and (2) restrict the manner of rett,rning a marked 
and sealed absentee ballot to the county board of elections to the 

. mails or by personal delivery by the voter himself. These pro­
posed changes ,-efiect abuses aired at the S.C.I.'s p"blic hearings­
specific"ally electioneering by candidates and campaign workers 
tvhile assisting voters in marking ballots and in the wholesale 
processing of marked ballots to the county board of elections. 
Under the present statute, completed absentee ballots may be 
hand-delivered to the county board of elections by anyone. 

NOTE: Relative to the restrictions on assisting a blind absentee 
. voler ,·wnicn"tneS.C.I:·oy·coursestTpjHjrts;··tlieCOmrJiiSsion·wauld 
also urge that similar safeguards be enacted for" otherwise dis­
abled" absentee voters whose disabilities prevent the", from 
marking their ballots. The S.C.!. wOt,ld achieve this additional 
protection by adding to the definitions listed in Section 2 of Title 
19, Chapter 57, the following: 

"Disa;bled Voter" means a person who, due 
. to his disability, is Ullable to mark his ballot. " 

In line with this, the Commission would ,"wther amend Sectio# 
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23 to incl~tde an otherwise disabled voter in the section's provi­
sions for assisting a blind absentee voter in marking his ballot 
and in completing and signing the attached certificate. 

-0-

D. Amend Sect>on 37, which provides for criminal 
sanctions against violators of the law, as follows: 

a. Any person who, knowingly, violates any of 
the provisions of this act, or who, not being en­
titled to vote thereunder, fraudulently votes or 
attempts to vote thereunder or enables or at­
tempts to enable another person, not entitled to 
vote thereunder, to vote fraudulently thereunder 
or who prevents or attempts to prevent by fraud 
the voting 'of any person legally entitled to vote 
under this act, or who shall knowingly certify 
falsely in any paper required under this act, shall 
be guilty of a [misdemeanor] crime of the fourth 
degree, and upon conviction thereof shall be sub­
ject, in addition to such other penalties as are 
authorized by law, to disenfranchisement unless 
and until pardoned or restored by law to right of 
suffrage. 

b. Any person who, before, during or after an 
election, knowingly tampers with an absentee bal­
lot or an absentee ballot application or any other 
official document used in an election, or interferes 
or attempts to interfere with the secrecy of voting 
or the casting of an absentee ballot shall be guilty 
of a crime of the third degree,and upon convic­
tion thereof shall be subject, in addition to such 
other penalties as are authorized by law, to dis­
enfranchisement unless and until pardoned or 
restored by law to the right of suffrage. 

Comment 

The underlined matter in paragraph (b) above provides for a 
specific criminal penalty f01" tampering with an absentee ballot, 
for interfering with the secrecy of voting or casting of an absentee 

210 



ballot, for interfering with the submission of am absentee ballot 
application, and for unlawfully possessing an absentee ballot. The 
need for such a specific criminal penalty was emphasized by Di­
rector Edwin H. Stier of the Division of Criminal Justice at the 
outset of the public hearings and by the S.C.I. in its statement 
formally concluding the hearings. In addition, crimes once classi­
fied as misdemeanors or high misdemeanors have been reclassified 
to conform with the new Penal Code. 

-0-

II. Title 19, Chapter 34. 

A. Repeal Section 58 through 61 of Title 19 '8 

Chapter 34, the chapter that is entitled" Crimes and 
Penalties-Enforcement," as follows: 

R. S. 19 :34--58 through R. S. 19 :34--61, both 
indusive, are repealed. 

Comment 
The above would repeal Title 19's 50-year-old immunity pro­

visions, which cam,e under particularly severe criticism by the 
Attorney General's Criminal Justice Director Stier at the outset 
of the p2tblic hearings and by the Commission itself in its closing 
statement. These strongly condemned provisions automatically 
immunize all witnesses called to testify in any Title 19 proceed­
ings, thereby frustrating effective investigation of violations of 
this chapter. 
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THE NATIONAL ORGANIZATION OF 
INVESTIGATORY COMMISSIONS 

As in previous years, the Commission continued throughout 1978 
to respond by letters, statements and personal representation to 
requests from out-of-state for 00unsel in resolving organized crime 
problems. The continuing interest in sharing the Commission's 
experiences and in exchanging vie'ws prompted the S.C.I. in late 
1977 to propose the formation of a National Organization of 
Investigatory Commissions. Such an organization became a reality 
in 19'78 and subsequently elected its first officers, adopted by-laws 
and authorized a special education program designed to encourage 
the formation of similar investigating agencies in other states. 

The National Organization of Investig'atory Commissions elected 
as its first president Michae.1 R. Siavage, the Executive Director 
of the New Jersey Commission, which had initiated the call for the 
formatioilof a nationwide group of similar agencie's. Other officers 
elected were: Vice president, Ms. Joan Weiner, Executive Directdr 
of the Pennsylvania Crime Commission;Seeretary, Harr~s, Hartz, 
Ex~utive Director of the Organized Crime Prevention Commissi()n 
of New Mexico, and Treasurer, Henry F. Bernhards, Chief' 
Administrator of the Purchase and Procedures (Investigating) 
Commission of West Virginia. Other members of the national 
group are the New York State Commis'sion of Inve,stigation, the 
Illinois Investigating Commission and the Hawaii Oommission on 
Crime. 

The stated purposes of NOlC, according to its Constitution, are: 

A. To exchange information and ideas concerning the 
administration and operation of the member 
organizations and to assist the member organiza­
tions in matters of professional concern. 

B. To establi.sh standards for the proced",res attend­
ing investigations, hearings, reports and other 
operational matters of the member organizations. 

C. To encourage the establishment, continuation, and 
i'mprovement of independent professional investi­
gatory commissions and like organizations. 
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Since its creation NOlC has met on several occasions around the 
nation and has undertaken various projects in line with its con­
stitutional purposes. For instance, the Report of the Task Force 
on Organized Crime of the National Advisory Oonnnittee on 
Criminal Justice Standards and Goals in 1976 stated: 

Every Stale should establish by executive order, con­
stitutional amendment, or legislative act a statewide 
Organized Crime Investigating Commission with in­
dependent, pennanent status and the specific mandate 
to expose the role that organized crime plays in illegal 
activities, cormption and improper practices in 
government. 

NOlC has undertaken the task of connnunicating with states that 
do not have investigatory commissions concerning the possible 
estrublishment of such commissions. Additional projects include 
the formulation ,of a model code of investigative procedure and a 
heightened liasion with various federal investigating agencies. 
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ApPENDIX I 

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 

The Cammissian's activities have peen under the leadership 'Of 
Arthur S. Lane since February, 1979, when he was designated as 
Chairman by Governar Brendan T. Byrne after his appaintment 
ta a secand term as Cammissianer. The other Commissianers are 
Jahn J. Francis, Jr., Lewis B. Kaden and Henry S. Pattersan, II. 

Mr. Lane, of Harbourtan, was initially appainted ta the Com­
missianin May, 1977, by the Speaker of the General Ass'embly, a 
post then held by Senatar William J. Hamiltan of Middlesex. He 
was reappointed to the Cammissian by Senate President J aseph 
P. Merlina 'Of Mercer in January, 1979. As Chairman, he succeeded 
J aseph H. Radriguez of Cherry Hill, wha had 'been Chairman since 
1973. A farmer state and federal judge, Mr. Lane has been a 
mem:beraf the Princetan law firm 'Of Smith, Stratton, Wise and 
Heher ,since his retirement in 1976 as vice president and general 
caunsel far Johnson and Jahnsan 'Of New Brunswick. A graduate 
'Of Princeton University, he was admitted ta the New .Te,rsey Bar in 
1939 after gaining his law degree at Harvard Law Schaol. He 
served in the Navy during Warld War II. He became assistant 
Mercer Oaunty prasecutar in 1947, Merce,r Caunty judge in 1956 
and U.S. District Caurt judge in 1960 by appointment of the late 
President Eisenhawer. Mr. Lane is chairman of the Natianal 
Cauncil an Crime and Delinquency. 

Mr. Francis, 'Of South Orange, is a partner in the Newark law 
firm 'Of Shanley and Fisher. From 1961 ta 1963 he was an assistant 
U.S. attarney and fram 1963 to 1965 he was an assistant E'ssex 
Caunty Prosecutor. A graduate of Williams Callege and the 
University 'Of Pennsylvania Law Schaal, he was admitted to the 
New Jersey State Bar in 1960. Mr. Francis, 44, is the san 'Of 

former Assaciate Justice Jahn J. Francis 'Of the New Jersey 
Supreme Caurt. He was appainted ta the Cammission in February, 
1979, byChristapher J. Jackman, Speaker of the General Assembly 
'Of New Jersey. 

Mr. Kaden, 'Of Perth Ambay, was first appointed as a Cammis­
sioner in July, 1976, by Governar Byrne and reappointed by the 

214 



Governor in December, 1978. A graduate of Harvard College and 
Harvard Law School, he was the John Howard Scholar at Cam­
bridge University, England. Until January, 1974, he was a partner 
in the law firm of Battle, Fowler, Stokes and Kheel in New York 
City. From 1974 to July, 1976, he was Chief Counsel to Governor 
Byrne. Mr. Kaden is Professor of Law at Columbia University and 
he is active as a labor arbitrator and mediator. 

Mr. Patterson, of Princeton, is pre'Sident and a director of the 
Elizwbethtown Water Co., chairman of the board of the First 
National Bank of Princeton and a director of the Mount Holly 
Water Co. and of United Jersey Banks. He is first vice president, 
director and executive committee member of the National Associa­
tion of Water Companies, an honorary director of the American 
Water Works Association and past president of the New Jersey 
Utilities Association. He is also president of the Middlesex­
Somerset-Mercer Regional Study Council. .He WIlJS graduated from 
Princeton University and served· during World War II in the 
U.S. Army. He received his discharge as a first lieutenant in 1946. 
He was appointed to the Commission in February, 1979, by 
Governor Byrne. 
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ApPENDIX II 

STATE COMMISSION OF INVESTIGATION LAW 
New Jersey Statutes Annotated 52 :9M-1, Et Seq. 

L. 1968, O. 266, as amended by L. 1969, O. 67, L. 1970, O. 263, and 
L.1973, O. 238. 

52:9M-l. Creation; members; appointment; chairman; terms; 
salaries; vacancies. There is hereby created a temporary state 
commission of investigation. The commission shall consist of 4 
members, to be known as commissioners. 

Two members of the commission .sh31l be appointed by the 
governor, one by the president of the senate and one by the speaker 
of the general assembly, each for 5 years. The govern(}rshall des­
ignate one of the members to serve as chairman of the commission. 

The members of the commission appointed by the president of 
the senate and the speaker of the general assembly and at least one 
of the members appointed by the governor shall be attorneys ad­
mitted to the bar of this state. No member or employee of the com­
mission shall hold any other public office or public employment. Not 
more than 2 of the members shall belong to the same political party. 

Each member of the commission shall receive an annual salary 
of $15,000.00 and shall also be entitled to reimbursement for his 
expenses actually and necessarily incurred in the performance of 
his duties, including expenses of travel outside of the state. 

Vacancies in the commission shall be filled for the unexpired 
term in the same manner as original appointments. A vacancy in 
the commission shall not impair the right of the remaining mem­
bers to exercise all the powers of the commission. 

52:9M-2. Duties and powers. The commission shall have the 
duty and power to conduct investigations in connection with: 

a. The faithful execution and effective enforcement of the laws 
of the state, with particular reference but not limited to organized 
crime and racketeering. 

b. The conduct of public officers and public employees, and of 
officers and employees of public corporations and authorities; 
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c. Any matter concerning the public peace, public safety and 
public justice. 

52:9M-3. Additional duties. At the direction of the governor 
or hy concurrent resolution of the legislature the commission shall 
conduct investigations and otherwise assist in connection with: 

a. The removal of public officers by the governor; 

h. The making of recommendations by the governor to any other 
person or body, with respect to the removal of public officers; 

c .. The making of recommendations by the governor to the legis­
lature with respect to changes in or additiops to existing provisions 
of law required for the more effective enforcement of the law . 

. 52:9M--4. Investigation of management or affairs of state de­
partment or agency. At the direction or request of the legislature 
hy concurrent resolution or of the governor or of the head of any 
department, board, bureau, commission, authority or other agency 
created hy the state, or to which the state is a party, the commis­
sion shall investigate the management or affairs of any such 
department, board, bureau, commission, authority or other agency. 

52:9M-5. Cooperation with law enforcement officials. Upon 
request of the attorney general, a county prosecutor or any other 
law enforcement official, the commission shall cooperate with, 
advise. and assist them in the performance of their official powers 
and duties. 

52:9M-6. Cooperation with federal government. The commis­
sion shall cooperate with departments and officers of the United 
States govermnent in the investigation of violations of the federal 
laws within this state. 

52:9M-7. Examination into law enforcentent affecting other 
states. The commission shall examine into matters relating to law 

... enforcementextending.across-the_boundaries_oLthe_state.into_other_ 
states; and may consult and exchange information with officers and 
agencies of other states with respect to law enforcement problems 
of mutual concern to this and other states. 

52 :9M-8. Reference of evidence to other officia·ls. Whenever it 
shall appear to the commission that there is cause for the prosecu: 
tion for a crime, or for the removal of a public officer for miscon­
duct, the commission shall refer the evidence of such crime or mis­
conduct to the officials authorized to conduct the prosecution or to 
remove the public officer. 
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52:9M-9. Executive director; co!!nsel; employees. The com­
mission shall be authorized to appoint and employ and at pleasure 
remove an executive director, counsel, investigators, accountants, 
and such other persons as it may deem necessary, without regard 
to civil service; and to determine their duties and fix their salaries 
or compensation within the amounts appropriated therefor. In­
vestigators and accountants appointed by the commission shall be 
and have all the powers of peace officers. 

52:9M-10. Annual report; recommenda·tions; other reports. 
The co=ission shall make an annual report to the governor and 
legislature which shall include its recommendations. The commis­
sion shall make such further interim reports to the governor and 
legislature, or either thereof, as it shall deem advisable, or as shall 
be required by the governor or by concurrent resolution of the 
legislature. 

52:9M-11. Information to public. By such means and to sU0h 
extent as it shall deem appropriate, the commission shall keep the 
public informed as to the operations of organized crime, problems 
of criminal law enforcement in the state and other activities of the 
co=ission. 

52:9M-12. Additional powers; warrant for arrest; contempt of 
court. With respect to the performance of its functions, duties and 
powers and subject to the limitation contained in paragraph d. of 
this. section, the co=ission shall be authorized as follows: 

a. To conduct any investigation authorized by this act at any 
place within the state; and to maintain offices, hold meetings and 
function at any place within the state as it may deem necessary; 

b. To conduct private and public hearings, and to designate a 
member of the commission to preside over any such hearing; 

c. To administer oaths or affirmations, subpcena witnesses, 
compel their attendance, examine them under oath or affirmation, 
and require the production of any books, records, documents or 
other evidence it may deem relevant or material to an investiga­
tion; and the commission may designate any of its members or 
any member of its staff to exercise any such powers; 

. d. Unless otherwise instructed by a resolution adopted by a 
majority of the members of the commission, every witness attend­
ing before the commission shall be examined privately and the 
co=ission shall not make public the particulars of such examina­
tion. The commission shall not have the power to take testimony 
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at a private hearing or at a public hearing unless at least 2 of 
its members are present at such hearing. 

e. "Witnesses summoned to appear before the commission shall be 
entitled to receive the same fees and mileage as persons summoned 
to testify in the courts of the state. 

If any person subpmnaed pursuant to this section shall neglect 
or refuse to obey the co=and of the subpmna, any judge of the 
superior court or of a county court or any municipal magistrate 
may, on proof by affidavit of service of the subpmna, payment or 
tender of the fees required and of refusal or neglect by the person 
to obey the co=and of the subpmna, issue a warrant for the arrest 
of said person to bring him before the judge or magistrate, who is 
authorized to proceed against such person as for a contempt of 
court. 

52:9M-13. Powers and duties unaffected. Nothing contained 
in sections 2 through 12 of this act [chapter 1 snall be construed to 
supersede, repeal or limit any power, duty or function of the 
governor or any department or agency of the state, or any political 
subdivision thereof, as prescribed or defined by law. 

52:9M-14. Request and receipt of assistance. The commission 
may request and shall receive from every department, division, 
board, bureau, commission, authority or other agency created by 
the state, or to which the state is a party, or of any political sub­
division thereof, cooperation and assistance in the performance of 
its duties. 

52:9M-15. Disclosure forbidden; statements absolutely priv­
ileged. Any person conducting or participating in any examina­
tion ·or investigation who shall disclose to any person other than 
the commission or an officer having the power to appoint one or 
more of the commissioners the name of any witness examined, or 

.... anYimormationoblained6f given upon sucn examination or inc 
vestigation, except as directed by the governor or commission, shall 
be adjudged a disorderly person. 

Any statement made by a member of the co=ission or an em­
ployee thereof relevant to any proceedings before or investigative 
activities of the commission shall be absolutely privileged and such 
privilege shall be a complete defense to any action for libel or 
slander. 
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52:9M-16. Impounding exhibits; action by superiM court. 
Upon the application of the commission, or a duly authorized mem­
ber of its staff, the superior court or a judge thereof may impound 
any exhibit marked in evidence in any public or private hearing 
held in connection with an investigation conducted by the co=is­
sion, and may order such exhibit to be retained by, or delivered to 
and placed in the custody of, the commission. When so impounded 
such exhibits shall not be taken from the custody of the commission, 
except upon further order of the court made upon 5 days' notice to 
the commission or upon its application or with its consent. 

52:9M-17. Immunity; order; notice; effect of immunity. a. If, 
in the course of any investigation or hearing conducted by the com­
mission pursuant to this act [chapter], a person refuses to answer 
a quest.ion or questions or produce evidence of any kind qn the 
ground that he will be exposed to criminal prosecution or penalty 
or to a forfeiture of his estate thereby, the co=ission may order 
the person to answer the question or questions or produce the 
requested evidence and confer inununity as in this section provided. 
No order to answer or produce evidence with immunity shall be 
made except by resolution of a majority of all the members of the 
commission and after the attorney general and the appropriate 
county prosecutor shall have been given at least 24 hours written 
notice of the commission's intention to issue such order and 
afforded an opportunity to be heard in respect to any objections 
they or either of them may have to the granting of immunity. 

b. If upon issuance of such an order, the person complies there­
with, he shall be immune from having such responsive answer given 
by him or such responsive evidence produced by him,'or evidence 
derived therefrom used to expose him to criminal prosecution or 
penalty or to a forfeiture of his estate, except that such person 
may nevertheless be prosecuted for any perjury committed in such 
answer or, in producing such evidence, or for contempt for failing 
to give an answer or produce in accordance with the order of the 
commission ; and any such answer given Or evidence produced shall 
be admissible against him upon any' criminal investigation, pro­
ceeding or trial against him for such perjury, or upon any investi­
gation, proceeding or trilll against him for such contempt. 

52:9M-18. Severability; effect of partial invalidity. If any 
section, clause or portion' of this act [chapter] shall be unco~stitu­
tional or be ineffective in whole or in part, to the extent that i( is 
not unconstitutional or ineffective it shall be vlllid and effective and 
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no other section, clause or provision shall on account thereof be 
deemed invalid or ineffective. 

52:9M-19. There is hereby appropriated to the Commission the 
sum of $400,000. 

52:9M-20. This act shall take effect innnediately and remain 
ill effect until December 31, 1979. 
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ApPENDIX III 

CODE OF FAIR PROCEDURE 

Chapter 376, Laws of New Jersey, 1968, N. J. S. 52 :13E-1 
to 52 :13E-10. 

An Act establishing a code of fair procedure to govern state 
investigating agencies and providing a penalty for certain viola­
tions thereof. 

Be it enacted by the Senate and General Assembly of the State 
of New Jersey: 

1. As used in this act: 

(a) "Agency" means any of ,the following while engaged in an 
investigation or inquiry: (1) the Governor or any person or per­
sons appointed by him acting pursuant to P. L. 1941, c. 16, s. 1 
(C. 52 :15-7), (2) any temporary State commission or duly autho­
rized committee thereof having the power to require testimony or 
the production of evidence by subpoena, or (3) any legislative 
committee or commission having the powers set forth in Revised 
Statutes 52:13-1. 

(b) "Hearing" means any hearing in the course of an investi­
,gatory proceeding (other than a preliminary conference or inter­
view at which no testimony is taken under oath) conducted before 
an agency at which testimony or the production of other evidence 
may be compelled by subpoona Or other compulsory process. 

( c) "Public hearing" means any hearing open to the public, or 
any hearing, or such part thereof, as to which testimony or other 
evidence is made available or disseminated to the public by the 
agency. 

(d) "Private' hearing" means any hearing other than a public 
hearing. 

2. No person may be required to appear at a hearing or to 
testify at a hearing unless there has been personally served upon 
him prior to the time when he is required'to appear, a copy of this 
aet, and a general statement of the subject of the investigation. A 
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copy of the resolution, statute, order or other prOVlSlOn of law 
authorizing the investigation shall be furnished by the agency upon 
request therefor by the person summoned. 

3. A witness summoned to a hearing shall have the right to be 
accompanied by counsel, who shall be permitted to advise the 
witness of his rights, subject to reasonable limitations to prevent 
obstruction of or interference with the orderly conduct of the 
hearing. Counsel for any witness who testifies at a public hearing 
may submit proposed questions to be asked of the witness relevant 
to the matters upon which the witness has been questioned and the 
agency shall ask the witness such of the questions as it may deem 
appropriate to its inquiry. 

4. A complete and accurate record shall be kept of each public 
hearing and a witness shall be entitled to receive a copy of his 
testimony at such hearing at his own expense. Where testimony 
which a witness has given at a private hearing becomes relevant in 
a criminal proceeding in which the witness is a defendant, or in any 
subsequent hearing in which the witness is su=oned to testify, 
the witness shall be entitled to a copy of such testimony, at his own 
expense, provided the same is available, and provided further that 
the furnishing of such (lOPY will not prejudice the public safety or 
security. 

5. A witness who testifies at any hearing shall have the right at 
the conclusion of his examination to file a brief sworn statement 
relevant to his testimony for incorporation in the record of the 
investigatory proceeding. 

6. Any person whose name is mentioned or who is specifically 
identified and who believes that testimony or other evidence given 
at a public hearing or co=ent made by any member of the agency 
or its counsel at such hearing tends to defame him or otherwise 
liQYeTselYa-ffecilLisreputationshal1havethe right,eitherto 
appear personally before the agency :mClfesf!J'yin his own behalf 
as to matters relevant to the testimony or other evidence com­
plained of, or in the alternative at the option of the agency, to file 
a statement of facts under oath relating solely to matters relevant 
to the testimony or other evidence complained of, which statement 
shall be incorporated in the record of the investigatory pro­
ceeding. 

7. Nothing in this act shall be construed to prevent an agency 
from granting to witnesses appearing before it, or to persons who 
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claim to be adversely affected by tes,timony or other evidence 
adduced before it, such further rights and privileges as· it may 
determine . 

. 8. Except in the course of subsequent hearing which is open to 
the public, no testimony or other evidence adduced at a private 
hearing or preliminary conference or interview conducted before a 
single-member agency in the course of its investigation shall be 
disseminated or made available to the public by said agency, its 
counselor employees without the approval of the head of the 
agency. Except in the course of a subsequent hearing open to the 
public, no testimony or other evidence adduced at a private hearing 
or preliminary conference or interview before a committee or other 
multi-member investigating agency shall be disseminated or made 
available to the public by any member of the agency, its counselor 
employees, except with the approval of a majority of the members 
of such agency. Any person who violates the provisions of this 
subdivision shall be adjudged a disorderly person. 

9. No temporary State commission having more than 2 members 
shall have the power to take testimony at a public or private hear­
ing unless at least 2 of its members are present at such hearing. 

10. Nothing in this act shall be construed to affect, diminish or 
impair the right, under any other provision of law, rule or custom, 
of any member or group of members of a committee or other multi­
member investigating agency to file a statement or statements of 
minority views to accompany and be released with or subsequent 
to the report of the committee or agency. 
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